SOCIOLOGY REFERENCE GUIDE

ANALYZING CRIME & SOCIAL CONTROL

THE EDITORS OF SALEM PRESS

Contents

Introduction	1
The Court System	4
Contemporary Police Forces	17
Informal & Formal Social Control	27
Social Exclusion & Crime	40
Social Disorganization Theory	49
Victimless Crime	61
White Collar Crime	70
Crime Theory: Organized Crime	82
Overview of Hate Crimes	93
Sexual Assault & Rape	106
Violent Crime in the U.S.	118
Race, Ethnicity & Law Enforcement	129
Juvenile Crimes in the U.S.	138
Gang Membership	150
The Prison System	163
Criminal Recidivism	178
Re-Entering Society From Prison	192
Terms & Concepts	202
Contributors	213
Index	216

SOCIOLOGY REFERENCE GUIDE

ANALYZING CRIME & SOCIAL CONTROL

The Editors of Salem Press

SALEM PRESS

Pasadena, California • Hackensack, New Jersey

Published by Salem Press

Copyright © 2011 by Salem Press

All rights in this book are reserved. No part of this work may be used or reproduced in any manner whatsoever or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, recording, or any information storage and retrieval system, without written permission from the copyright owner except in the case of brief quotations embodied in critical articles and reviews or in the copying of images deemed to be freely licensed or in the public domain.

ISBN: 978-1-42983-459-9

Includes bibliographical references and index.

Indexing Subjects

1. Sociology 2. Criminology

First Edition

Introduction

The study of the criminal and legal systems through a sociological lens requires an examination of the mechanisms that determine the social order and construction of criminal behavior and deviance.

The Sociology Reference Guide series is designed to provide a solid foundation for the research of various sociological topics. This volume offers an introduction to major concepts in law and social order, criminal deviance, and criminal detention. Readers will especially gain a broad overview of criminal behavior in essays that explore crime in different demographic groups in America. The collection begins with essays on law and order as constituted through the police and court systems and it follows with general accounts of how criminal acts are defined and socially constructed. An analysis of specific criminal behaviors is then provided, and the organization and effect of crime groups are explored alongside gang and juvenile criminal behavior. The remaining two essays explore issues within and outside of the penal system.

In the first group of essays, readers receive an introduction to structural frameworks that determine policies in law and order. Jeremy Baker, in his two essays, examines the foundations to the court system and police force. In each study, Baker frames his discussion around the question of what constitutes a "sociological perspective." Cynthia Vejar then explores "the existence of social control, or the various methods that society employs in

order to ensure faithful adherence toward order and restraint." In a subject taken up in later essays, Vejar identifies the social divisions between legal policies of control and their effects on minority populations. Jennifer Christian and Alexandra Howson develop this subject by exploring the "correlation between social exclusion and crime." The following essays in this group cover a broad spectrum of crimes and therefore offer researchers a helpful overview of how criminal acts are defined and socially constructed. Christian, in her essay on "victimless crime," explains that "what is and is not a criminal offence is often subject to interpretation, cultural norms, and values, as well as the historical context in which actions occur." Each of the essays in this group, which range between hate crime and white collar crime, address Christian's contention by highlighting the relationship between criminal acts and the populations and conditions in which they emerge.

The next group of essays turns more directly to what many researchers identify as a particularly controversial issue in the sociology of crime: the predominance of ethnic minorities in the legal and penal system. Jeremy Baker presents a compelling argument on this subject in his essay, "Race, Ethnicity, and Law Enforcement," by positing the existence of a "power hierarchy" in America that is most clearly evident in "criminality and law enforcement." The relationship between social and economic conditions and race and ethnicity ground each of the following essays on juvenile crime and gang membership, as well as outline the problem of criminal recidivism. Karen M. Harbeck and Maureen McMahon study the causes of the "tragic trend" of youth and criminality. Each analyzes the legal and social policies that are intended to combat the growing number of juvenile crimes and deaths in many inner-city communities. In a line of inquiry that intersects with earlier essays, Harbeck notes that as violent juvenile crime rises, so too will the frequency of debate regarding appropriate punishments and criminal definitions. The concluding essays introduce readers to issues surrounding the burgeoning penal system and the possibilities for reform. Sinclair Nicholas provides a broad perspective that observes how the problems in the prison system intersect with national politics and public discourse. The authors of the final two essays examine the life of exprisoners and the factors that influence their successful assimilation into society.

Together, these essays introduce readers to major concepts and areas of inquiry in the study of crime and sociology. Complete bibliographic entries follow each essay and a list of suggested readings will locate sources for advanced research in the area of study. A selection of relevant terms and concepts and an index of common sociological themes and ideas conclude the volume.

The Court System

Jeremy Baker

Overview

While the overwhelming majority of legal cases cycle through the judicial system by settling out of court, courts remain crucial to the orderly operation of American society (Friedman, 1984). The court system as we know it is not unique to the United States. The American legal system is the result of the synthesis of other legal traditions brought on by early immigration, with elements of Dutch, Spanish, English, French, and even Native American law within the system. Perhaps most definitively, due to English colonial supremacy, the American system to most closely resembles the English legal system (Friedman, 1984).

English Example

From the English legal system, the American court system has inherited several critical concepts.

First, the principle of due process states that all accused persons must be granted the same fair and accepted procedures and that special treatment (or mistreatment) should not be granted to any individual.

The second major principle is that of precedent. According to this principle, the law must be based on legal decisions made by previous judiciaries. This shows fairness with how others in the past were treated. In this way,

our system of common law arose from actual legal controversies in which precedent was established. In this way, common law is dynamic; allowing change as society changes.

Finally, the English system gave us the tradition of basing our courts around an adversarial system in which each party has an opportunity to argue for his side (this is explained in further detail below).

Within our judicial system, there are certain expectations of the way the interested parties behave. The accused are entitled to a trial by their peers for even the most trivial of cases. The judge is to act as a passive and impartial arbiter. His sole purpose is to maintain the order of proceedings and the behavior of individuals in the court. Attorneys representing either side are to guide clients through the legal process to the best of their capabilities. If all parties perform their jobs properly, the truth should be clear and justice will be served.

Inquisitorial vs. Adversarial

While we are most familiar with an adversarial system in which the involved parties (with the help of their lawyers) control the case and the judge acts as an arbiter, this is not the only way a judiciary may operate. In contrast to the adversarial system is the inquisitorial system. In this system, the judge builds the case, investigates facts, and tries to get to the bottom of the matter. This system trusts the judge to be fair (Friedman, 1984). To accompany our adversarial system, there is an appellate court system which remains obscure to most lay people, but is critical to the pursuit of justice. As set up in our adversarial system, there are two parties (each of which is typically represented by a lawyer). There is the defendant, who is the individual (or individuals) accused of committing some crime (Mullally, 2000). Opposed to the defendant is the plaintiff who is the party who supposedly suffered at the hands of the defendant (Mullally, 2000) Collective bodies, such as nonprofit organizations, corporations, or even state or federal governments, may play either of these roles.

The Power of American States vs. Federal Jurisdiction

The American court system most drastically varies from the English system based on regional differences between States in the Union. Each state has varying laws based on the history of that state and the culture of its initial inhabitants (Friedman, 1984). Historically, the most dramatic difference between states have centered around issues of race. Until the mid 1800s, these variances were most pronounced in issues surrounding slave ownership between states in the Northeast and Southeast (Friedman, 1984). Until the second half of the 1900s, this north/south divide centered around issues of segregation and voting statutes. Other differences between regions, such as differences in statutes regarding same sex marriage continue to this day. In other, more subtle ways, the federal legal system makes our legal system quite complex. The degree of sovereignty granted to individual states allow those states to run their state court systems so as to reflect the culture of that state. For this reason, people may be under the jurisdiction of multiple courts at the same time, which can lead to complicated trials and difficulty between law enforcement agencies (Friedman, 1984).

Local County Courts

The vast majority of legal cases that go to trial are handled locally. Lower local and county courts typically handle the least serious offenses such as traffic violations and vandalism. At these lower levels, courts may be highly specialized, dealing in traffic offenses, small claims suits, or drug and alcohol offenses. Proceedings tend to be informal and to the point in order to cope with massive case loads. There has been some discussion among legal scholars over the degree to which justice is hindered by this informality, but this debate has little impact on the actual proceedings of the court (Friedman, 1984). Courts of General Jurisdiction are the basic trial courts of communities that are put aside to deal with more serious criminal offenses or monetary grievances. Even among these cases, only a small percentage of cases go on to full trial.

Appeals Court

In the situation that the accused can make an argument that the verdict was unfair, on the grounds that the trial was tainted in some way, in light of new evidence, or a variety of other reasons, his lawyer may file for an appeal. An appeal is an application to continue the legal struggle to the next highest level of the legal hierarchy. If found worthy by legal officials, the defendant is granted a new trial at a higher court. These appeal courts are higher courts that only see cases after they have been initially tried. In most cases, several appeals are possible before all legal possibilities are ex-

hausted. The far more common reason for a case to cease seeking appeals is that the defendant simply exhausts his financial resources and is forced to give up.

Federal Court System

After the defendant exhausts his appeals on the state level, it is possible that the case may move onto the federal level. Cases that are of special interest to federal law enforcement, such as interstate smuggling, terrorism, and certain types of murder, are also tried in these federal courts. Each state has at least one standing federal court. Unlike state courts, there are no small claims or federal justices of the peace in federal courts. The basic federal court is called the District Court. This court is the first step in the federal system. These courts handle primarily cases that are federal offenses. The next highest court in the federal system is the circuit court. This court is confined primarily to appeals from the various regional federal courts. Only after the appeals to these elite circuit courts have been exhausted may the case move on to the United States Supreme Court. The Supreme Court is confined solely to appeals. The judges have a high degree of control over its own docket. The reasoning for this is that the judges are only to take cases that are of the highest importance to constitutional law. On a more micro level, there are several people that play roles in every court that are critical to the day to day function of the court.

Courtroom Staff

There are numerous critical staff involved in the courtroom to assure that the trial proceeds in an orderly manner; the most important among these people is the judge. The overwhelming majority of judges are individuals who have completed law school and have specifically chosen to start a career as a judge. Thus, most judges have vast knowledge of the legal system, but they rarely actually have first hand experience on the other side of the bench (Friedman, 1984). Most judges have been elected by state law. This not only serves to eliminate bad judges via democratic means, but it also underscores the political nature of this position (Friedman, 1984). It is generally seen that judges should be held accountable to the public. The fact that many judges have been political activists as some point in their lives further stresses the political nature of this profession (Friedman, 1984).

Besides the judge, there are a number of other critical courtroom personnel that serve to maintain the judicial process. The bailiff is responsible for courtroom security and enforcing etiquette and order within the court. This individual usually has law enforcement experience, usually as a police officer with police training (Mullally, 2000).

The Clerk of court is responsible for administrative functions of the court; coordinating and processing cases for the region the court resides over (Mullally, 2000). The clerk of court, however, is usually not present in the courtroom due to the sheer volume of cases that must be processed. The courtroom clerk serves as a representative of the Clerk of Court in the courtroom and is responsible for organizing the cases, and the information associated with those cases, that are assigned to the judge so as to avoid any unneeded confusion. As part of the job, a clerk may keep track of courtroom information such as courtroom minutes, names of parties, procedures, and each party's exhibits (Mullally, 2000). The filing clerk serves the court by performing functions such as stamping documents, basic filing, collecting fees, issuing docket numbers, and routing of property in the court's possession (Mullally, 2000). The court reporter is responsible for making a record of court proceedings by taking extensive notes on the proceedings (Mullally, 2000).

Contrary to public perception, most cases do not involve juries, and not all juries perform the same tasks. While every individual is entitled to a trial by jury by his peers, the system as it stands tends to discourage jury trials in minor matters that can be resolved via plea bargaining. If a jury is needed for a case, the Jury Commissioner is responsible for overseeing the compilation of jury lists, monitoring policies, and other functions surrounding jury selection (Mullally, 2000). Juries are broken into two types: Grand juries and trial juries.

A grand jury is generally bigger and is responsible for determining if there is enough evidence for a trial. It is important to note that grand juries are only used in those situations in which it is questionable as to whether there is enough evidence; they are not required and in most cases they are not even necessary.

Trial juries are comprised of people from the community and are the type typically thought of when juries are mentioned (Mullally, 2000).

To accompany the courtroom's critical staff, there are also a number of secondary staff that serve important functions as needed, but the court may continue business without them on a day-to-day basis. Court interpreters are used in those situations in which parties or individuals involved in the case do not speak English; they may be hired on an as needed basis. Research attorneys are available upon the request of the judge. The job of these fully licensed attorneys is to provide legal research that may be relevant to the case. Law clerks perform legal research, prepare legal memoranda for the court, and draft proposals of legal decisions; these appointments are typically about a year long and held by individuals freshly out of law school. Law librarians are simply librarians who reside over a library that is dedicated to legal research; they rarely have any legal training to speak of. Probation officers and expert witnesses are commonly called upon by the court to provide their professional opinions of the case. Probation officers are typically responsible for overseeing either newly released felons or those who have avoided jail-time but are in need of state supervision. Expert witnesses are individuals with specialized knowledge of some aspect of the case and may include professionals as varied as neurologists, criminologists, ichthyologists, or shoe salesmen. In other words, almost anyone who could be considered an expert could be an expert witness.

Trial Procedure

In order to understand the players discussed above, we must examine the way they interact during a trial. During opening statements for the trial, each side introduces their arguments to the judge and jury. During this phase, each side attempts to set the stage for their arguments. After opening statements, the prosecution begins its direct examination. During this time, the prosecution presents its evidence and witnesses in a logical way so as to build its case. The defense is permitted to cross examine each witness after the prosecution has presented them to the jury. Once the prosecution has rested its case, the defense is allowed to present its argument during the cross examination phase. In this phase, the defense presents its evidence and witnesses so as to present the innocence of the defendant. Much like what happened during direct examination, the prosecutor is allowed to cross examine each witness called by the defense. After the defense has rested its case, each side makes a closing statement during

closing arguments. Before the jury is dismissed to render its decision, the judge instructs them on the grounds in which they are to render their decision. Once the jury comes to a decision, the judge decides the severity of punishment. Despite the apparent finality of the process, nearly every case has a chance to appeal the ruling for the purpose of overturning a conviction. After the trial has ended, in the event of an unfavorable verdict, the defense is able to apply to appeal the verdict.

Types of Trials

While the general structure of how trials work are nearly identical based on whether it is criminal or civil, there are many variations that the trial's outcomes and causes may take that make them worth individualized discussion. Civil trials are those in which jail time is not a potential punishment; these crimes tend to be deemed by society as not as serious in nature as criminal offenses would be. We will now discuss a few of the types of trials that involve the average individual. Many civil trials fall into the category of tort law. Tort law generally states that individuals must maintain their property in a way that is not harmful to others. Tort law allows for the prosecution of cases in which personal injury or property damage occurs due to the improper maintenance of property. An example of this type of crime could involve the possession of a dangerous dog or a company's violation of environmental regulations. These cases may involve a dog attacking a mail carrier or gasoline leaking out of a tank of a gas station and contaminating an aquifer. Intentional misconduct involves those acts in which and individual commits an act that a rational individual would recognize as creating the risk of harm form others. These types of acts include assault, false imprisonment, libel, invasion of privacy, trespassing, or fraud. Cases of negligence involve the failure to do what a reasonable person would have done under similar circumstances. These instances include medical malpractice, poor care of children, or not intervening in a situation where someone is a great risk of being harmed. Strict liability cases involve individuals who engage in dangerous activities that pose a great likelihood of harm to others and another individual winds up being injured as a result. These are but a few types of civil suits. Others include contract suits, business suits, intellectual property suits, labor law violation suits, antitrust suits, and various types of property suits.

Applications

The Law in Action

Due to the variety of societal ills that often become apparent within the judicial system, the court system is of great interest to sociologists. Areas in which social ills are highlighted include plea bargaining, trial outcomes, the apparent fairness of a trial, which cases go to trial, jury selection, and how long an individual is held before he even comes to trial. This section will examine a few of the reasons sociologists study the court system.

As hinted to above, the vast majority of crimes involve a guilty plea on behalf of the defendant. The defendant may do this for a variety of reasons. He may simply want to own up to doing what he did, he may want to simply pay his punishment and get on with his life, or he may engage in plea bargaining. Plea bargaining is the process through which a deal is struck between the defendant and plaintiff in which the defendant usually receives lesser charges against him in exchange for the guilty plea.

There are both stated and unstated reasons that most cases do not go to full trial. Due to the overwhelming number of cases that plead guilty, most cases stop before a trial is even necessary. At arraignment, the accused individual is formally informed of the charges against him. At this point, the defendant is asked for a formal plea. If the plea is innocent, the trial date is set; if the plea is guilty, the process ends here. After arraignment, a preliminary hearing is held in which the prosecution presents its witnesses and evidence of the crime. At this point, the defending attorney is allowed to cross examine the witnesses and question the merit of specific pieces of evidence. At the end of the preliminary hearing, the judge decides if evidence is sufficient to warrant further proceedings. While the defense and prosecution may engage in plea bargaining at any time, it most typically occurs after evidence has been presented at the preliminary hearing. At a pretrial conference between the two sides and the judge, pleas are formally presented. If the plea is not accepted by the defense at this time, legal proceedings continue.

Trial Fairness

Plea Bargaining

A more nefarious factor surrounding a trial is the social status of the accused. Going to trial is very expensive and requires the expenditure of considerable resources on behalf of the defendant. At a minimum, the defendant is required to travel to the courthouse and usually miss work. The wise defendant will hire a lawyer; the services of whom do not usually come cheap. In this way, a plea bargain acts as the cheaper (but not always just) alternative. Thus, for the simple reason of money, the rich often are treated much better by the legal system than the poor.

Jury Selection

Another factor that brings into question the fairness of trials is jury selection. During this process, each side selects jurors and attempts to create the "ideal jury" for their case. Obviously there is usually contention between the prosecution and defense as to what constitutes an ideal juror. For example, a poor individual accused of stealing a stereo so that he can pay his rent is more likely to seem sympathetic to other poor people. For this reason, his lawyer may attempt to select poor people for the jury while the prosecutor will attempt to select richer people who would never be in such a situation.

Racial & Ethnic Identity

Multiple aspects of both the accused and alleged victim may also impact the outcome of the trial. If the accused actually does go through with his right to a trial, there are several issues surrounding fairness with regard to identity. Most familiar in contemporary American culture are the issues surrounding racial and ethnic identity in the court system. Sociologists, journalists, and individual accounts more than document the realness of racial profiling in determining who is picked up and how he is subsequently treated by the police. Furthermore, certain racist assumptions held by the judge or jury could be influential in determining the course of the trial.

Class Status

Less familiar to us in American culture are the ways that class can impact the court system. Crimes typically committed by upper class individuals are not seen as nearly as grievous as those committed by the lower classes despite the great damage these crimes do to society. The rich are more likely to commit crimes such as embezzling due to their social position, while the poor are more likely to commit crimes such as purse-snatching. Since purse snatching is seen as more violent and harmful to society than embezzling, we are more likely to punish this crime harshly. However, the purse-snatcher is unlikely to get away with more than fifty dollars while the embezzler is capable of stealing millions of dollars from hundreds of people.

Age

Another aspect of identity that has major implications to the trial is the age of the accused. In fact, an entirely separate system exists for those under 18 years of age. This is because our society generally sees minors, those under the age of 18, as not as accountable for their actions as those who are over 18. For this reason, all but the most heinous of crimes committed by minors are tried in juvenile court as opposed to adult court. Juvenile law varies from adult law in two major aspects.

First, because the minor is not seen as fully responsible for their actions, parents may be found guilty or responsible for the actions of their child.

Second, because those under 18 are seen as being more capable of reform than adults, they are given less severe punishments and put into rehabilitative programs so that they may reform (Lundman, 2001).

Emotional issues surrounding a crime can also be greatly detrimental to the ability of a defendant to receive a fair trial. Socially taboo or highly emotional crimes such as the rape of a child, serial murder, or torture are often very difficult for those involved with the trial to deal with in a completely objective, unemotional way. Additionally, if either the defendant or the plaintiff is especially likeable or unlikable, this may also impact the ability of those involved in the trial to act objectively and unemotionally.

Viewpoints

Law & Social Change

Researchers have consistently shown that there is a significant relationship between law and social change (Friedman, 1984). This may be surprising to some due to the fact that law is resistant to social change. Legal revolutions generally follow social revolutions. While law's reluctance to adopt social change causes it to lag behind the rest of society, once it does accept social change, that change becomes more concrete and less likely to become undone. In this way, the courts channel social change and determine the role change will play in social life (Friedman, 1984). An excellent example of such change can be found in the transitions of African American status during the 20th century.

In the 20th century, African Americans began to take legal action to better their lives; National Association of Colored People (NAACP) was responsible for the bulk of these actions. In 1896, a judge ruled in the case of Plessy v Fergison that racial segregation was constitutional as long as the separated facilities were equal in all aspects. Under this interpretation of the law, there was nothing wrong with separating black students from white students in public schools as long as students in both white and black schools received educations of equal quality. Unfortunately, due to the power and prestige enjoyed by white people during the period, separate facilities were very rarely equal. White schools were consistently better equipped than black schools, and black schools were often in disrepair. The Separate but Equal doctrine was overturned in 1954 in the case of Brown v Board of Education. This case ruled that despite the efforts of elected officials, the educations of black and white students in segregated areas remained grossly unequal. Therefore, segregated schools would have to be shut down and students would have to be integrated. This was highly controversial among whites who feared how this action would impact the quality of education their children would receive, as well as other concerns that were more based in racist assumptions than reality.

Similar struggles for equal rights continue in contemporary American society surrounding the prosecution of homosexual behavior, and, therefore, homosexual and bisexual individuals. Very much in the way major judicial cases were overturned in the case of racial segregation, major cases surrounding the legality of homosexual behavior have been altered. Prior to 2003, several states held laws, known as sodomy laws, that made certain sexual acts illegal. While the lurid details of these laws varied greatly from state to state, they all intended to dictate the private sexual behavior of individuals. While it is true that some of the sexual acts dictated by these laws

are common among heterosexuals as well as homosexuals and bisexuals, heterosexuals were very rarely prosecuted for these crimes. In fact, individuals were very rarely solely accused of crimes associated with sodomy laws, but rather they were nearly always added to additional charges.

Much like laws surrounding segregation, sodomy laws were first upheld before they were struck down. The first challenge to these laws came in the 1980s in the case of Bowers v Hardwick in Georgia. In this case, the laws were upheld. It was not until 2003 that sodomy laws were once again brought into question in the case of Lawrence v Texas. In this case, the United States Supreme Court found state sodomy laws unconstitutional and subsequently overturned these laws in all states in which they existed.

The controversy exhibited by sodomy laws is, and still remains to a large degree in our society, that of the individual's right to privacy. Specifically, the cases mentioned above focused on the right of individuals to engage in certain types of sexual behavior in the privacy of their own homes. Beyond issues of sexuality, this remains a major issue of our time. The debate over whether we, as American citizens, have a right to privacy is a major controversy of our time. This same controversy is brought up surrounding the War on Terror and the ability of government to know what citizens read, access on computers and other activities that go on in their homes. The connection between these two seemingly disjointed issues shows not only the implications of this controversy, but the sweeping power of the court system to institute change.

Bibliography

Weber, M. (1954). Law in economy and society. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

Lundman, R (2001). Prevention and control of juvenile delinquency (3rd Ed). New York: Oxford University Press.

Mullally, D. (2000). Order in the court: A writer's guide to the legal system. Cincinnati: Writer's Digest.

Friedman, L. (1984). American law. New York: W.W. Norton and Company.

Suggested Reading

Brooks, T. (1992). The Supreme Court and legal change: Abortion and the death penalty. University of North Carolina Press: Chapel Hill.

- Cohen, T.H. (2008). General civil jury trial litigation in State and Federal Courts: A statistical portrait. Journal of Empirical Legal Studies, 5(3), 593-617. Retrieved January 29, 2009, from EBSCO Online Database SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=34168801&site=ehost-live
- Mirchandani, R. (2008). Beyond therapy: Problem-solving courts and the deliberative democratic state. Law & Social Inquiry, 33(4), 853-893. Retrieved January 29, 2009, from EBSCO Online Database SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=35347853&site=ehost-live
- Mullally, D. (2000). Order in the court: A writer's guide to the legal system. Cincinnati: Writer's Digest.
- Roach-Anleau, S. (2000). Law and social change. London: Sage.
- Rose, M.R. & Diamond, S.S. (2008). Judging bias: Juror confidence and judicial rulings on challenges for cause. Law & Society Review, 42(3), 513-549. Retrieved January 29, 2009, from EBSCO Online Database SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=34137183&site=ehost-live

Contemporary Police Forces

Jeremy Baker

Overview

The Role of the Police in Society

Early in the history of every society, its members develop sets of rules of varying degrees of severity that are based on the values held in that society. These rules, or norms, can be classified into two types: folkways and mores. Folkways are those common rules of etiquette. Violating these rules does not result in strong reprisal, but rather in a minor loss of status. Mores are stronger rules that are usually enforced by more severe sanctions. Once an elite, such as a priest class, aristocracy, or group of elected officials, comes to power in society, it will seek to enforce mores in order to ensure social order and the maintenance of the status quo. An elite does this by recording mores as official rules and setting specific punishments for these rules. These set rules with set punishments that are based on mores are known as laws.

Once laws are put into place, law enforcement officers must be recruited. The exact roles of these individuals and their status in society have varied greatly over the ages. One could easily exhaust herself with the study of law enforcement officers over the ages. For this reason, we will focus our energies on the development of and the role played by the police in American society.

As mentioned above, the concept of law enforcement officers is ancient and can be found in the records of the ancient Romans, Egyptians, and Mesopotamians (Barkan, 2001). In pre-modern times, however, the stated purposes of police forces is quite different from those of ancient times. The job of pre-modern law enforcers was to guard influential nobles, protect property, and generally serve society's elites. In the grand scheme of history, the concept of a police force that serves the average citizen is still very new.

The modern model of law enforcement developed in Great Britain in the early 1800s (Barkan, 2001). Early British police, known as watchmen, were charged with security and the enforcement of religiously based morality codes. These watchmen were assigned to specific posts, and the bulk of their function was to keep order in their small farming villages. As the population of Britain became more urbanized, so did police forces (Rubinstein, 1973). During the early Industrial Revolution, England was at the fore front of industrial development and experienced an explosion in the urban population rate. This rapid increase in urban population led to what amounted to urban chaos, and police forces were formed to quell the frequent urban riots (Barkan, 2001).

Just as industrialization spread across the globe, so did urban police forces. Boston and New York were the first cities in the United States to form urban police forces. These early American police forces were notoriously corrupt and ineffective (Barkan, 2001). The departments did not hide the fact that they primarily existed to serve the upper and middle classes; their primary job was to keep poor immigrants and drunkards in check (Adler, 1994). Starting in the early 1900s, police departments across the country experienced a great influx in their numbers. This increase was caused by the use of police to protect the private property rights of wealthy factory owners. Workers of this era frequently went on strike to protest horrible wages and working conditions (Barkan, 2001). The sheer number of strikers forced police departments to greatly expand their departments.

Since the late 1960s, policing has gone through a period of significant innovation. This period was spurred on by the needs of a changing society and social strife. The populations of many cities in the United States were undergoing a crisis in confidence in the ability of the

police to do their job, and crime was perceived to be increasing. In response to this crisis of confidence, police forces were compelled to reconsider the fundamental ways in which they served their communities. The traditional model of law enforcement held that police were the sole guardians of law and order; seeking civilian assistance was seen as unprofessional and a waste of time. During this period of crisis, several new models of policing were developed. These models are not so much instruction books for police on how to do their jobs as they are philosophical backdrops upon which policing occurs.

The first innovative model available to police today is the community policing model. This model states that the community should play a central role in defining the problems that police commonly address and that these problems should extend beyond conventional law enforcement (Weisburd & Braga, 2006). The broken windows policing model states that there is a link between social disorder and crime. Since unintended behavior tends to break down into the loss of mores and other social controls, under this model behavior such as loitering, drunkenness, and loud parties become a concern of police. The problem oriented policing model requires police to deal with a wide range of behavioral problems in the community, such as a high dropout rate. The pulling levers policing model calls for a comprehensive combination of multiple community problem solving strategies. Through this model, criminal justice intervention, social services, and community resources might all be utilized to resolve a single case. Through the third party policing model resources are expanded to third parties that are believed to offer significant new resources for preventing or controlling crime and disorder.

By using third parties such as civil courts, community organizations, and civil organizations, the police recognize that social control requires and can benefit from institutions other than themselves. Under the hot spots policing model, police are clustered in discrete areas that need the greatest amount of attention. The logic behind this model is that crime clusters itself is certain areas. Therefore, in order for patrols to be effective, they must be more tightly focused on the hot spots. The CompStat policing model, which was developed by the New York City Police Department in direct response to its interdepartmental challenges, states that failures stem from the fact that forces are poorly organized. This system seeks to strengthen the police

command structure. Under this model, each level of the command structure, starting with the very top, takes an interest in whether its subordinates are motivated, assessed, and successful. In this way, discipline and hierarchical relationships are maintained. Finally, the evidence-based policing model states that crime control practices should be rooted in the collection of evidence and scientific analysis of that evidence. This model makes the assumption that police cannot be more effective than they already are. Rather, it argues that the reliance on evidence will lead to more effective criminal apprehension and crime prevention (Weisburd & Braga, 2006).

Applications

The Day to Day Work of a Police Officer

Cops are endowed with extraordinary power when compared to the average citizen. They wield powerful physical weapons such as guns, batons, and Tasers, as well as social weapons like the ability to arrest individuals, the state sanctioned ability to use violence, and the power to create an official record of an event (Rubinstein, 1980). However, the modern police officer uses this power sparingly. According to Ericson, police spend relatively little time directly protecting persons and property against criminal threats (1994). In fact, they spend most of their time as knowledge brokers and expert advisors. They give directions, instruct the public on how to prevent bicycle theft, or host antidrug programs such as Drug Abuse Resistance Education (DARE) (Ericson, 1994). Of course, they also do the "real police work" of apprehending suspects, but a single criminal event can result in hours of paperwork. In this way, police spend far more time recording an official version of an event for the public record than they do actually fighting crime (Ericson, 1994). Obviously, different activities are associated with varying amounts of rewards and prestige. Catching a crazed serial killer will merit a plaque, but most other tasks are viewed as simply part of the job (Rubinstein, 1973).

In much the same way that different policing activities are seen as more prestigious than others, so is the pursuit of different crimes. While ideally all crimes would be pursued with equal levels of vigor, in the real world this is not the case. Police departments simply do not have the resources to treat all crimes equally. Because any given force only has so much personnel time per week, low priority crimes will be pursued less vigorously to

allow high priority crimes to be pursued more vigorously. More resources may be put into a case if the crime is against a police officer, especially repugnant, or one of high publicity (Rubinstein, 1973).

A large part of crime fighting is the work of rooting out liars. For this reason, officers must often work with little more than suspicions. They may be verbally and physically assaulted by individuals who were cooperative but a minute before. As a result, the average officer comes to deal with this high degree of uncertainly by holding a sense of constant suspicion (Barkan, 2001). For this reason, police officers are forced to view every individual they encounter as potentially dangerous. They are constantly sizing up civilians so that they may be prepared for physical confrontation. According to Rubinstein, becoming a police officer is to accept the risk of assault and injury (1980). For this reason, police must not only learn to accept the fact that they could be seriously injured as part of their job, but they must learn to control this fear so that it does not cause them to act unprofessionally (Rubeinstein, 1980). Skolnick called the set of coping mechanisms developed by police their working personality (1994). He stated that police behave in the ways that they do because of the nature of their work. Kirkham found that due to police officers' tendency to perceive that the general public hates them, they are inclined to believe that all citizens are either out to get them or in some way being covertly uncooperative (1984). When this perception is combined with dangerous situations that require police to think and act quickly, the results can be tragic.

Community Perceptions of the Police

The popularity of police in a community can serve as a gauge of how willing the populace is to accept the state's monopoly on force. If the police are unpopular, then the populace can be interpreted as not being accepting of their monopoly. If they are popular, on the other hand, citizens will accept their power and willingly cooperate with them (Ericson, 1989). In order to maintain control over this monopoly of state sanctioned force, police must actively maintain the persona of the police officer in the public eye. This persona may vary according to the local situation and community needs. Police may encourage the public to view them as people to be feared and respected, people that the public can turn to, or as other personas that may be useful for fighting crime in a particular area (Ericson, 1989).

Another way police manage their identity is through the ways they speak and behave in different settings. Ericson dissected the areas in which police work into three types: secrecy, censorship and publicity (1989). Areas of secrecy are those to which the police do not give the general public access. They include precinct locker rooms, offices behind closed doors, break rooms, and other areas in which police can converse with each other without worrying about the general public overhearing them. Areas of publicity include public places such as the precinct's front office, the streets, the courtroom, and the media. In this area the police maintain their public image and work with the public. Areas of censorship act as middle grounds between the two. This region allows police to acknowledge the existence of secret information and take control of otherwise public spaces for the purposes of an investigation (Ericson, 1989).

Police departments use a variety of methods to maintain their persona in the public eye. Not only can media be used to convey vital information to the public, such as the image of a wanted suspect or other information of concern to public safety, but it is also used as an outlet for the maintenance of the public police persona (Ericson, 1989). The relationship between media and police is complex, and at times there are serious disputes between them. However, despite their disagreements, both sides are vested in maintaining the relationship in the long term. In this way, the relationship between law enforcement and media outlets is maintained (Ericson, 1989). Apart from utilizing media outlets, this public persona can be maintained in various ways such as making examples of certain suspects, the way officers conduct themselves in public and highly ceremonial events like funerals (Ericson, 1989).

Viewpoints

As pointed out by Rubinstein, police wield extraordinary power as compared to the average citizen. However, as is often forgotten, police officers are also human beings with virtues and flaws, and these flaws may be accentuated by the power given to them. As a guardian of the law, an unscrupulous officer is in a unique position to break it. Among the worst problems that have occurred in regard to police in the past century are those relating to corruption and racism.

Racial Profiling

One of the hot button issues in debates over proper law enforcement centers around the legitimacy and effectiveness of racial profiling. Organizations such as the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) and National Association for Colored People (NAACP) strongly oppose racial profiling as a racist practice that does little more than encourage police to harass minorities. However, there remains a core of police administrators and officers who support racial profiling on the basis that racial minorities, particularly young, Black males, are statistically more likely to commit crimes. From this point of view, it is not the fault of the police that more minority males are arrested, and ultimately imprisoned; it is the fault of the minority males for committing more crime in the first place. To counter this belief, groups such as the NAACP and ACLU argue that minority males are not more likely to commit crimes. Instead, they say, all young males are equally likely to commit crimes, but since police target Black males and patrol predominantly Black neighborhoods more frequently, Black males are caught in their deviant acts more often and, therefore, labeled with the title of criminal more often (Lundman, 2004).

Lundman's research has yielded results that may be surprising to both sides of this controversy. In order to understand the phenomenon of racial profiling, Lundman observed traffic cops in a large mid-western city. His reasoning was that traffic offences are the most common types of legal infractions in our society, and that if there is a difference in how people are treated based on race, it will come through in traffic stops. Findings showed that the primary difference in treatment between racial groups was not in whether the car was pulled over, but the treatment of the suspect after the car was pulled over. Not only were White violators treated qualitatively differently from those of other racial groups, White traffic violators were less likely to have their cars searched than Black or Hispanic offenders. Since police cannot find illegal items such as open alcohol containers, drugs, or paraphernalia if they do not search a car, they are less likely to find these contraband items in the cars of Whites than the cars of Blacks or Hispanics. Women of all races experienced fewer vehicle searches than their male counterparts (Lundman, 2004). Such differential treatment could account for reports of police brutality toward Black males.

Does racial discrimination in law enforcement go beyond official profiling? Could it be that not only police officers, but our entire society is guilty of profiling, and this is the reason for increased police harassment of young, minority males? Lundman argued that the reason for differential treatment by police may reside in the attitudes of lay people (2004). He pointed out that up to three quarters of all encounters police have with citizens are initiated by other citizens who telephoned the police; however, half the time, lay persons do not elect to alert the police to crimes to which they have fallen victim. This is due to the fact that lay persons are generally reluctant to use formal mechanisms of social control, such as the police. The victim's perception of the severity of the crime plays a major role in whether a crime is reported. Thus, the lay person's perception of the perpetrator, and the perpetrator's race, may play an important part in how the situation will play out. (Lundman, 1978)

Corruption

When it comes to police corruption, the bulk of crime committed by police is in relation to money or gifts. This can take the form of both subtle and overt bribes. An overt example would be a police officer accepting a \$100 bribe to ignore an obvious case of drunk driving; a subtle case would be a police officer accepting a special "police discount" at a nice restaurant. The Knapp Commission was formed in the 1970s to investigate police corruption in New York City. As part of its investigations, the commission made a number of findings on the nature of police corruption. It found that extreme loyalty within the department was responsible for covering up the majority of corruption. This loyalty was traced to the danger faced by all police officers and their perception that society was hostile to them. Another factor that encouraged cover ups was the desire of the department to maintain its public image. The admission of large scale corruption would not be beneficial to an institution that is supposed to exemplify law and order.

Conclusion

When considering the police as an institution in our society, it is critical to remember that they are human. Like others, they are capable of being corrupted, of acting on prejudices, and of acting rashly when faced with danger. On the other hand, instances of police misconduct have at times

become so prevalent that the role of the police in our society has come into question. Considering the prevalence of law enforcement officers in nations around the world, it is unlikely that their presence will be eliminated any time soon. The question then becomes, "How can we improve our current police forces just their predecessors have been improved?"

Bibliography

- Anderson, E. (2000). The police and the Black male. In P. A. Adler & P. Adler (Eds.), Constructions of deviance: Social power, context, and interaction (3rd ed.). Belmont: Wadsworth.
- Barkan, S. E. (2001). Criminology: A sociological understanding (2nd ed.). New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Becker, H. S. (2000). Labeling theory. In P. A. Adler & P. Adler (Eds.), Constructions of deviance: Social power, context, and interaction (3rd ed.). Belmont: Wadsworth.
- Bittner, E. (1980). The police charge. In R. J. Lundman (Ed.), Police behavior: A sociological perspective. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Chambliss, W. J. (2000). The saints and the roughnecks. In P. A. Adler & P. Adler (Eds.), Constructions of deviance: Social power, context, and interaction (3rd ed.). Belmont: Wadsworth.
- Davis, M. G., Lundman, R. J. & Martinez, R. (1991). Private corporate justice: Store police, shoplifters, and civil recovery. Social Problems, 38(3), 395-411. Retrieved August 14, 2008 from EBSCO online database SocINDEX with Full Text: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=9110213876&site=ehost-live
- Ericson, R. V. (1975). Responsibility, moral relativity, and response ability: Some implications of deviance theory for criminal justice. The University of Toronto Law Journal, 25(1), 23-41.
- Ericson, R. V. (1989). Patrolling the facts: Secrecy and publicity in police work. The British Journal of Sociology, 40(2), 205-226. Retrieved August 14, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=6781531&site=ehost-live
- Ericson, R. V. (1994). The division of expert knowledge in policing and security. The British Journal of Sociology, 45(2), 149-175. Retrieved August 14, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=9408050743&site=ehost-live
- Haggerty, K. & Gazso, A. (2005). Seeing beyond the ruins: Surveillance as a response to terrorist threats. Canadian Journal of Sociology, 30(2), 169-187. Retrieved August 14, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=17134107&site=ehost-live

- Hirschi, T. (2000). Control theory of delinquency. In P. A. Adler & P. Adler (Eds.), Constructions of deviance: Social power, context, and interaction (3rd ed.). Belmont: Wadsworth.
- Knapp Commission. (1980). Police corruption in New York. In R. J. Lundman (Ed.), Police behavior: A sociological perspective. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Lundman, R. J. (1974). Routine police arrest practices: A commonwealth perspective. Social Problems, 22(1), 127-141.
- Lundman, R. J. (1978). Shoplifting and police referral: A reexamination. The Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 69(3), 395-401. Retrieved August 14, 2008 from EBSCO online database SocINDEX with Full Text: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?dir ect=true&db=sih&AN=17515519&site=ehost-live
- Lundman, R. J. (2004). Driver race, ethnicity, and gender and citizen reports of vehicle searches by police and vehicle search hits: Toward a triangulated scholarly understanding. The Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 94(2), 309-350. Retrieved August 14, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=12788277&site=ehost-live
- Reiss, A. J. (1980). Officer violations of the law. In R. J. Lundman (Ed.), Police behavior: A sociological perspective. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Reiss, A. J. (1980). Police brutality. In R. J. Lundman (Ed.), Police behavior: A sociological perspective. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Rubinstein, J. (1973). City police. New York: The Noonday Press.
- Rubinstein, J. (1980). Cop's rules. In R. J. Lundman (Ed.), Police behavior: A sociological perspective. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Skolnick, J. (1994). Justice without trial (3rd Ed.). New York: Wiley
- Weisburd, D. & Braga A. A. (2006). Police innovation: Contrasting perspectives. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Suggested Reading

- Conlon, E. (2004). Blue blood. New York: Riverhead Books.
- Lundman, R.J. (1980). Police behavior: A sociological perspective. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Rubinstein, J. (1973). City police. New York: The Noonday Press.

Informal & Formal Social Control

Cynthia Vejar

Overview

Labeling Theory

Labeling theory is a framework that most frequently functions as a mechanism for conceptualizing the derivation of deviance and amoral behavior, and was spearheaded by a sociologist named Frank Tannenbaum (Maier, 1974; Davis, 1972; Goode, 1994; Meade, 1974). Understanding Tannenbaum's life story is pertinent to the comprehension of his subsequent theory; his formative years were tumultuous and relationships with parental figures were strained due to his willful opposition toward authority. Also, early in his development, Tannenbaum demonstrated a desire to fight on behalf of the "underdog," and in 1912 at age 19, he organized a rally that encouraged the homeless men of New York City to rally together in contempt of their lifelong plights that had disabled them from meeting basic financial, nutritional, and residential needs. His insurgent methods were highly disproved and unsolicited, which landed him a one-year prison sentence. During his detention, he surprisingly befriended a prison warden who believed in his intellectual abilities and recommended his eventual admission into college, thus spurring his eventual academic route (Maier, 1974).

The basic principles of Labeling theory, as outlined by Tannenbaum, can be captured in the following scenario: Bob and Jon are 15 years of age and neighborhood companions who, as an expression of boredom and adolescent angst, often engage in minor infractions such as throwing bricks through the windows of vacant buildings on forsaken lots, or spray-painting profane extractions against the side of bridges and other communal property. Bob has been able to "fly under the radar," and executes such acts of desecration anonymously. Jon, on the other hand, is significantly less circumspect in his exploits and consistently receives verbal reproach from police officials for his unlawful behavior.

Over the course of a year, Bob and Jon continue their illegitimate activities, for which only Jon gets caught, and at the compilation of several warnings he is labeled a criminal and hauled off to jail and sentenced a severe penalty. The future outlook for Jon, according to Labeling Theory, is that he will endure a tattered self-image and will identify with the criminal label with which he had been bequeathed, thus leading him toward lifelong pursuits that are unsavory and illegal in nature. Bob never received any reprimand for his actions, and thus never received a criminal label. Hence, he was able to effortlessly forfeit his immature deeds for that which was more responsible and socially revered, and forged a successful and productive existence. As such, Labeling Theory does not focus on the preemptive, adverse behavior that eventually transpires into hardened criminality, for both Bob and Jon participated in identical mishaps. Nor does Labeling Theory discount the fact that criminals are, in many cases, guilty and should be punished accordingly. While such theorists do not disregard faulty actions, they do pinpoint a maladaptive screening process. Goode (1994) describes such shortcomings metaphorically by using the familiar movie line, "round up the usual suspects:"

Individuals, or categories of individuals, were being "rounded up" not because they did anything wrong or caused any harm, but simply because they were convenient or acceptable targets of social control. The individuals who were "rounded up": didn't do it; or did it, but so did other individuals; or they did it a little—while others got away—but having gotten caught, they end up doing a lot more; or didn't cause any harm; or they caused some harm, but others caused more. In short, targets of social control didn't deserve to become so targeted (p. 92).

The Self-Fulfilling Prophecy

Most importantly, Labeling Theory professes that it is the system that creates criminals. In the process of vilifying individuals for their transgressions, immoral traits akin to the "criminal" classification become enmeshed with one's sense of self, and the reinforcement of stereotypes surrounding such a label abound, all of which help the individuals enact their newly developed criminal persona via the self-fulfilling prophecy. Thus, society is at the helm of a corrupt manufacturing system that provides a rigorous training ground for which the "criminal" may cultivate his cunning proclivity for amoralities, and which consequently increases society's overall patterns of delinquency. This process exists when trivial legalities are maximized under the harshest of legal sanctions.

An illustration of this can be seen in the 1997 arrest of four German tourists who were caught defacing the corridors of New York's subway system. These vandals were prosecuted and sentenced to serve a one-week term at the notorious Riker's Island Correctional Institution ("Invasion," 1997) which has a reputation of housing unruly acts of violence between inmates (Lorch, 1996), gang involvement (Purdy, 1994), access to drugs and contraband, and the mistreatment of prisoners on by dishonorable guards (Fahim, 2008). Surely the intention for imprisoning the vandals at such an infamous site was to curb their propensity for future acts of property destruction. However, a frightful alternative surrounds the prospect that the aggression and mayhem to which the vandals were exposed desensitized their sense of moral standards, so that their ultimate threshold for wrongdoings actually increased.

Minority-Threat Hypothesis

One might rightfully question society's incentives for proactively sculpting a system that contributes toward the creation of criminals, as the logical assumption would surround a social order that reigns in acts of fraudulence and misconduct. The answer to such a query can be found in the Minority-threat hypothesis (Jacobs & Tope, 2007; Ruddell & Urbina, 2004; Stults & Baumer, 2007), a theory surrounding the inequitable treatment that is administered to minority groups by the dominant majority presiding within each culture. In particular, the Minority-threat hypothesis

claims that society is not only oppressive and discriminatory in its treatment of various ethnic and/or religious groups, but that the mere presence of non-majority members is daunting and jeopardizes the status quo. As the growth of such minority populations expand, the threat they pose to the larger society increases due to the viable competition they bring to the job market, the fact that they add more entrants who vie for limited resources, as well as that they contend for sacred positions of financial and political power. Thus, as group membership among minorities broadens, intolerance and prejudicial behavior concurrently grows in magnitude.

According to the Minority-threat hypothesis, society utilizes nefarious social-control techniques that diminish the likelihood that promising, up-and-coming minority groups will prevail, including the perpetuation of fear and blame, as well as the dispensation of harsher punitive consequences. The coalition between racial profiling and crime has been extensively documented (Vito & Walsh, 2008; Welch, 2007) and substantiates preexisting stereotypes that people hold. It is difficult for people to shed their biased assumptions that African American and Latin communities are more violent and geared toward dereliction, when every time they open the morning newspaper or turn on the evening news they are infiltrated with images that point to the contrary. Golub, Johnson, & Dunlap (2007) present statistical evidence that compared the penalties Blacks and Hispanics received for smoking marijuana in public with their White counterparts. Cases that were dismissed include the following: 77.8% for both Blacks and Hispanics, whereas 88.9% for White conspirators. Also, 4% of African Americans were incarcerated for such a violation, whereas 3% of Latinos and .9% of Caucasians were detained.

More appalling data is demonstrated through research by Moore & Elkavich (2008) who indicate that while White and Black drug usage is relatively similar (i.e., 7.2% and 7.4% respectively), 60% of American jails are crowded with African Americans, 62.6% of whom are imprisoned on drug charges. Stuntz (2006) asserts that such biased disproportion is headed by underhanded politicians who operate with prescribed agendas, which causes and results in a corroded system filled with "overcriminalization, excessive punishment, racially skewed drug enforcement, overfunding of prisons and underfunding of everything else" (Stuntz, 2006, pp. 781-782).

Applications

Formal Demonstrations of Social Control

Legislation

The foundation of formal social control lies within the legislative forces that establish societal guidelines, such as laws and policies, which therefore possess the most significant form of power and behavioral manipulation. Lawfully endorsed injunctions shape many aspects of social conventions such as to whom one may marry, i.e., heterosexual martial unions (Eleveld, 2007), and who has the ability to exercise their right to vote; a political responsibility that women were banned from voicing until 1920 (Wetter, 2008). In examining alcohol consumption, as another example, Pittman, Staudenmeier & Kaplan (1991) highlight the fact that governmental decrees determine the following criteria, all of which may vary between regions:

- 1. Who may purchase and drink alcohol;
- 2. What may be purchased and consumed;
- 3. Where it may be purchased and consumed;
- 4. When it may be purchased and consumed;
- 5. The cost and form of payment;
- 6. The unacceptable consequences of drinking (p. 970).

Another way of appreciating the amount of control that is dictated through legislation is by examining international drug and alcohol regulations. For example, the overall manner alcohol is perceived varies significantly between France and Saudi Arabia; likewise, cocaine usage among the Dutch can be deemed recreational and of no particular concern, whereas it is classified as a "hard" drug among Americans. Moreover, in the United States a legal modification regarding drinking customs included the 1962 proceeding, Robinson vs. California, which overturned the law deeming chemical dependence illegal, thus making addiction a person's private choice. Perhaps the long-term ramifications of such a shift will eventually

contribute toward revoking the demonized attitudes people hold toward addicts, as well as affecting implications surrounding treatment process.

If legal doctrines serve as the basis on which people preemptively structure their behavior, there are several provisions targeting those who negligently evade such legal responsibilities. Social control reprisals can be found in the following examples: cautionary warnings, which tend to serve as a deterrent reminder that people have gone astray, and monetary fines, which have undergone scrutiny regarding their level of effectiveness and ability to ignite change ("Doubled fines," 1998). Authority figures venture into immoral territory when their acts of domination and command revolve around unwarranted threats and intimidation ("Shake up," 2006). Illegal ways that people in positions of power demonstrate their clout can be dispensed through acts of insufferable persecution, such as the torture that U.S. military officials imparted onto Iraqi prisoners at Abu Ghraib (Tucker & Triantafyllos, 2008), or the absolute sovereignty that White Americans held over Black slaves until ratification of the Emancipation Proclamation in 1862 (Ewan, 2005).

Imprisonment

Imprisonment is a type of formal social control that serves to retroactively amend problematic behavior. There are several schools of thought circulating around the functionality of prison (Gromet & Darley, 2006; Shoham, Beck, & Kett, 2008; Tewksbury & Mustaine, 2008). Some assert that a jail term is constructive for both the victim and society as a whole, and that the act of sequestering the perpetrator in a secured cell ensures the victim's long awaited sense of safety, while instilling a sense of restoration that will encourage their advancement past the criminal activity. Other theories focus primarily on the convict himself, by holding the perspective that he needs to suffer for his wrongdoings retributively; words that encompass this position include "payback" and "vengeance." Yet another angle centering primarily on the criminal is that his prison sentence will serve to rehabilitate his reprehensible atrocities. There are several in-house programs that cater to such treatment and moral growth including art therapy (Merriam, 1998), counseling, education and mentoring (Kupchik, 2007), as well as hands-on job skills such as welding (Conlon, Harris, Nagel, et al., 2008). Incarceration rates have steadily inclined throughout recent decades; between the years 1975-1989, 680,000 inmates were housed in federal and state penitentiaries (Taggart & Winn, 1993). Currently over 1 in 100 (i.e., 1.6 million) U.S. citizens are jailed (Liptak, 2008) and the recidivism rate demonstrates that once released, two-thirds are re-arrested and half are re-jailed within a three-year timeframe (Decker, 2007). These statistics are staggering, and indicate that prison as a form of social control is losing its sense of hegemony; that penal reform is essential (Gottschalk, 2007).

Education

Outside of the realm of legal sanctions, additional acts of formal social control are bestowed upon the general public. From a smaller-scale perspective, education operates as a platform for which social control mechanisms are in full function. Lifelong lessons such as self-restraint, punctuality, and adherence to rules (Macionis, 2001) are fundamentally inculcated into the pupil's code of ethics through the structured and meticulous sets of standards, schedules, protocol, and expectations found within public school systems. Moreover, a plethora of data suggests that increased involvement eliminates the likelihood that children and adolescents will entangle themselves within the trenches of indolence and/or delinquency (Landers & Landers, 1978; Roberts, 2005). Many experts advise involvement in extracurricular activities such as sports, clubs and other social establishments, although school enrollment itself acts as a barrier against criminal activity (Dalun, Katsiyannis, Barrett, et. al, 2007).

Economic Regulation

School also serves as a preliminary step that prepares for eventual succession into the career force, which demands an equal level of discipline, timeliness, and productivity. Similarly, there is an abundance of literature indicating that unemployment rates correspond significantly with illegitimate lifestyles rife with crime and other improprieties (Anderson, 2006; Baron & Hartnagel, 1997). Hence, national economic burdens that are placed on residents, including taxation and inflated housing markets serve as social controls, as they mandate the necessity of employment, thereby diminishing crime rates. A direct social control mechanism that many organizations utilize is regulating the recreational, off-the-clock behavior in which employees engage during their personal time. Such behavior is supervised through the enforcement of workplace drug testing policies (Zimmer & Jacobs, 1992) that measure both the type and amount of chemical agents that employees may have recently ingested.

Informal Social Control

At the micro-level, informal social control can be defined as disapproving communication that is transmitted from person to person, which ultimately influences conformity to standards (Nugier, Niedenthal, Brauer, et al., 2007). For example, Joan and her mother, Mrs. Smith, are shopping for back-to-school clothes. Joan tries on a revealing blouse and examines her mother's facial expression in order to obtain feedback on the risqué garment. Mrs. Smith wrinkles her nose, and says in a forced tone, "Well... it's o.k., I suppose." Based on Mrs. Smith's hesitancy, Joan returns the clothing item to its display shelf for fear of wearing a shameful style that will refute her mother's approval. Professionals and laypersons alike use subtle or apparent forms of nonverbal communication to express their standpoints and exchange directives, which in turn may modify behavior toward a more desirable route. For example, students learn quickly how to discern whether their teacher's tone of voice, physical posturing, and facial expressions function as a form of encouragement or condemnation, and adapt accordingly.

Community Monitoring

Extending outside of the individual self, an example of informal control at the community level can be examined through a study conducted by Silver & Miller (2004), in which they analyzed data on disadvantaged Chicago neighborhoods. In particular, they sought to explain why low-income vicinities tend to impart lower levels of informal social control, manifested by neighbors who were proactive and accountable to their environments. Examples they use to illustrate this notion included, "neighbors taking note and questioning strangers, watching over each other's property, assuming responsibility for the supervision of youth and intervening in local disturbances" (Sampson, 1987, as cited in Silver & Miller, 2004, p. 553). The perplexity held by the researchers was intensified by the fact that underprivileged neighborhoods tend to have strong social networks and a sense of kinship and camaraderie.

Interestingly, the study conducted by Silver & Miller revealed that solidarity and social ties do not necessarily equate with informal social control. Rather, a sense of longevity and investment, as opposed to mobility and fleeting transience practiced within neighborhoods played a pivotal role

in imposing social control. Common sense aligns with this premise, in that the more imbedded a person is within his surroundings, the more likely he is to uphold its sense of safety and morale. Another finding that emerged from the Silver & Miller study surrounds the alliance that community members had forged with the police department. Positive affiliation with local police officers yielded citizens who were more apt to implement social control mechanisms, demonstrated by increased reports on suspicious activity, and their overall commitment and attentiveness toward community endeavors.

Viewpoints

Social Control or Censorship?

In contemplating one's values, attitudes, and preferential leanings, it is difficult to discern the separation between that which an individual finds redeemable based on his own psychological underpinnings and belief system, and what he is regurgitating from the influential programming that constantly permeates his everyday life. For example, most television broadcast stations that claim to relay information in unbiased and objective terms tend to lean slightly to the "right" or "left" based on their philosophical predilections, political agendas, and receipt of corporate sponsorship. Hence, the channel that people tune into on a regular basis influences the manner in which they conceptualize the world at large. Or, probably more commonly, people are attuned to such biased reports and pursue the stations that reflect their own convictions, a lackluster process that solely acts to validate their subjective perspectives. Another example of the debilitating effects of social control surrounds a phenomenon that artists have contended with for centuries, in which their retaliation against the norm renders a strict sentence: censorship. Hence, the powers that be, or those who are in charge of disseminating social control mechanisms have the ability to prompt behavior and attitudes, which elicit robotic and mechanized adherence to prearranged ideologies.

Conversely, social control can be a positive technique used to uphold safety and manage the masses. Seat belt usage, for example, steadily increased between the years 2000-2005 from 71% to 82% (Arms, 2005). Initiatives to encourage such a movement, such as stricter laws and scare tactics dispersed throughout the media that focused on the deadly repercussions of remaining unbuckled, are the likely catalysts that promoted safer lifestyles.

Bibliography

- Anderson, M. A. (2006). A spatial analysis of crime in Vancouver, British Columbia: a synthesis of social disorganization and routine activity theory. Canadian Geographer, 50(4), 487-502. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&A N=23037114&site=ehost-live
- Arms, A. (2005). National seat belt usage at record 82 percent. Safety & Health, 172(6), 16-16. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=191634 63&site=ehost-live
- Baron, S. W. & Hartnagel, T. F. (1997). Attributions, affect, and crime: Street youths' reaction to unemployment. Criminology, 35(3), 409-434. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=9709046611&site=ehost-live
- Conlon, B., Harris, S., Nagel, J., Hillman, M., & Hanson, R. (2008). Education: Don't leave prison without it. Corrections Today, 70(1), 48-52. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=31199685&site=ehost-live
- Dalun, Z., Katsiyannis, A., Barrett, D. E., & Wilson, V. (2007). Truancy offenders in the juvenile justice system. Remedial & Special Education, 28(4), 244-256. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=25928971&site=ehost-live
- Davis, N. J. (1972). Labeling theory in deviance research: A critique and reconsideration. Sociological Quarterly, 13(4), 447-474. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=14031082&site=ehost-live
- Decker, S. H. (2007). The relationship between the street and prison. Criminology & Public Policy, 6(2), 183-186. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&A N=25944994&site=ehost-live
- Doubled fines don't work. (1998). Consumer's Research Magazine, 81(12), 38-38. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=1437960&site=eh ost-live
- Duncan, M. G. (1988). 'Cradled on the sea': Positive images of prison and theories of punishment. California Law Review, 76(6), 1202-1247. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=6768989&site=ehost-live
- Eleveld, K. (2007). Republican matters. Advocate, 997, 28-31. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=27759032&site=ehost-live

- Ewan, C. 2005). The Emancipation Proclamation and British public opinion. Historian, 67(1), 1-19. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=161873 81&site=ehost-live
- Fahim, K. (2008, June 27). Rikers guards accused of passing contraband to inmate. New York Times, 4-4.
- Golub, A., Johnson, B. D., & Dunlap, E. (2007). The race/ethnicity disparity in misdemeanor marijuana arrests in New York City, 1989-2000. Criminology & Public Policy, 6(1), 131-164. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=243124 22&site=ehost-live
- Goode, E. (1994). Round up the usual suspects: Crime, deviance, and the limits of constructionism. American Sociologist, 25(4), 90-104. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=9506270315&site=ehost-live
- Gottschalk, M. (2007). Dollars, sense, and penal reform: Social movements and the future of the carceral state. Social Research, 74(2), 669-694. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=26378612&site=ehost-live
- Gromet, D. M. & Darley, J. M. (2006). Restoration and retribution: How including retributive components affects the acceptability of restorative justice procedures. Social Justice Research, 19(4), 395-432. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=23857778&site=ehost-live
- Invasion of the Euro-taggers (1997, January 19). New York Times Magazine, 12-12.
- Jacobs, D. & Tope, D. (2007). The politics of resentment in the post-Civil Rights era: Minority threat, homicide, and ideological voting in congress. American Journal of Sociology, 112(5), 1458-1494. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&d b=aph&AN=24515139&site=ehost-live
- Kupchik, A. (2007). The correctional experiences of youth in adult and juvenile prisons. JQ: Justice Quarterly, 24(2), 247-270. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=25084220&site=ehost-live
- Landers, D. M. & Landers, D. M. (1978). Socialization via interscholastic athletics: Its effects on delinquency. Sociology of Education, 51(4), 299-303. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/ login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=12549560&site=ehost-live
- Liptak, A. (2008, February 29). More than 1 in 100 adults are now in prison in U.S. New York Times, 14-14.
- Lorch, D. (1996, June 28). More violence disrupts Rikers Island. New York Times, 3-3.

- Macionis, J. J. (2001). Sociology. New Jersey, USA: Prentice Hall.
- Maier, J. (1974). Frank Tannenbaum: A biographical essay. USA: University Seminars.
- Meade, A. C. (1974). The labeling approach to delinquency: State of the theory as a function of the method. Social Forces, 53(1), 83-91. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direc t=true&db=aph&AN=5285284&site=ehost-live
- Merriam, B. (1998). To find a voice: Art therapy in a women's prison. Women & Therapy, 21(1), 157-172. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&A N=350821&site=ehost-live
- Moore, L. D. & Elkavich, A. (2008). Who's using and who's doing time: Incarceration, the war on drugs, and public health. American Journal of Public Health, 98(5), 782-786. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=321301 45&site=ehost-live
- Nugier, A., Niedenthal, P. M., Brauer, M., & Chekroun, P. (2007). Moral and angry emotions provoked by informal social control. Cognition & Emotion, 21(8), 1699-1720. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=274425 26&site=ehost-live
- Pittman, D. J., Staudenmeier, W. J., & Kaplan, A. (1991). Alcohol and other drugs: the response of the political and medical institutions. British Journal of Addiction, 86(8), 967-975. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=661581 5&site=ehost-live
- Purdy, M. (1994, December 21). Mayor supports correction head despite trouble on Rikers Island. New York Times, 4-4.
- Roberts, Y. (2005). Young people given a sporting chance. Community Care, 1564, 21-21. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=167294 81&site=ehost-live
- Rudell, R. & Urbina, M. G. (2004). Minority threat and punishment: A cross-national analysis. JQ: Justice Quarterly, 21(4), 903-931. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.asp x?direct=true&db=aph&AN=16184697&site=ehost-live
- Shake up the state police (2006, December 10). New York Times, 15-15.
- Shoham, S. G., Beck, O., & Kett, M. (2008). International handbook of penology and criminal justice. Boca Raton, London, New York: CRC Press.
- Silver, E. & Miller, L. L. (2004). Sources of informal social control in Chicago neighborhoods. Criminology, 42(3), 551-583. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=14535778&site=ehost-live

- Stults, B. J. & Baumer, E. P. (2007). Racial context and police force size: Evaluating the empirical validity of the minority threat perspective. American Journal of Sociology, 113(2), 507-546. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&A N=26342009&site=ehost-live
- Stuntz, W. J. (2006). The political constitution of criminal justice. Harvard Law Review, 119(3), 781-851. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&A N=19486621&site=ehost-live
- Taggart, W. A., & Winn, R. G. (1993). Imprisonment in the American States. Social Sciences Quarterly (University of Texas Press), 74(4), 736-749. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=9406223039&site=ehost-live
- Tewksbury, R. & Mustaine, E. E. (2008). Correctional orientations of prison staff. Prison Journal, 88(2), 207-233. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=32795428&site=ehost-live
- Tucker, B. & Triantafyllos, S. (2008). Lynndie England, Abu Ghraib, and the new imperialism. Canadian Review of American Studies, 38(1), 83-100. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=33442011&site=ehost-live
- Vito, G. F. & Walsh, W. F. (2008). Suspicion and traffic stops: crime control or racial profiling? International Journal of Police Science & Management, 10(1), 89-100. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=30063738&site=e host-live
- Welch, K. (2007). Black criminal stereotypes and racial profiling. Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice, 23(3), 276-288. Retrieved August 4, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=26477965&site=ehost-live
- Wetter, E. (2008). Winning the vote: The triumph of the American women suffrage movement. Bust, 50, 90-91.
- Zimmer, L. & Jacobs, J. B. (1992). The business of drug testing: Technological innovation and social control. Contemporary Drug Problems, 19(1), 1-25.

Suggested Reading

- Chriss, J. (2007). Social control: An introduction. UK, USA: Polity Publishers.
- Garland, D. (2002). The culture of control: Crime and social order in contemporary society. USA: University of Chicago Press.
- Pfohl, S. J. (1994). Images of deviance and Social Control. USA: McGraw-Hill.

Social Exclusion & Crime

Jennifer Christian & Alexandra Howson

Overview

How does the marginalization of people in society relate to criminal activity? Are some groups more marginalized than others? What happens when people feel disconnected from others in society, and what is the relationship between that disconnection and crime? Questions like these fit into the broader study of crime and deviance and engender theories regarding causes of crime and delinquency (Siegel, 2006). Issues of social stratification and inequality underpin many of these questions—and the answers they generate. First, social and economic inequalities can be viewed as antecedents to social and political unrest, which at times takes the form of criminal activity and violence. Second, the burden of crime is disproportionately distributed across social groups such that the poorest economic groups are among the most likely to be victimized by crime (Thatcher, 2004). In the first instance, social exclusion may lead to crime; in the second, the experience or perpetration of crime may lead to (further) social exclusion.

Although there has been a decline in crime in the US over the past three decades, that decline has not been shared equally across social groups (Thatcher, 2004). For instance, although theft crimes are more likely to occur within higher economic levels, violent crime and burglary is more likely to be experienced by poorer people. This burden may have the effect of reinforcing other forms of inequality (such as income and health inequalities),

which in turn contribute to social exclusion. Demographic change within the poorest groups is of particular note: these groups are more likely to be young, urban and unmarried and exposed to interactions and spaces where criminal acts are more likely to occur.

What is Social Exclusion?

Social exclusion is a somewhat ambiguous concept that is measured in different ways but that conceptualizes the alienation or disenfranchisement of certain groups of people within a society. Some people are marginalized based on factors related to their social class, race, and gender or age. Social exclusion also applies to people who are perceived to be more likely to deviate from the norms and values of society (e.g. young people are often seen as 'trouble makers', Greer and Jewks, 2005). Policy makers in the UK measure social exclusion according to levels of income, health, type of housing (e.g. public or private, owned or rented), employment status and political involvement. Concomitantly, the UK government defines social exclusion as "what happens when people or places suffer from a series of problems such as unemployment, discrimination, poor skills, low incomes, poor housing, high crime, ill health and family breakdown" (www.crimeinfo.org.uk).

Researchers agree that social exclusion is about more than income poverty and money problems. As Young (2001) suggests, social exclusion is multi-dimensional and involves not only exclusion from economic and political involvement (such as exclusion from the job market or from expressing political views) but also exclusion from a variety of areas of social life, such as exclusion from living in certain neighborhoods and lack of access to medical provision, policing or housing.

When individuals are excluded from society they are deprived from social recognition and their value to society (Meyers, 1993). Thus, many individuals feel less obligated to follow the rules of society and positively contribute to their community. Social exclusion can also lead to diminished brain functioning, poor decision-making, drug and alcohol use, as well as crime.

How Has Social Exclusion Occurred?

Social exclusion is a product of vast changes in the way people in modern industrialized societies live, many of which contribute directly to a sense

of risk and uncertainty (e.g. instability in family life, economic precariousness, excessive individualism, see Beck, 1992). Not only is there less secure employment in the early 21st century than fifty years ago, but also a larger proportion of the population work in jobs that are insecure (often accompanied by low wages) or they persistently find it difficult to find employment at all (Young, 1991). Some commentators suggest that such changes contribute to social disconnection and community fragmentation such that social ties are loosened (Putnam, 2000). In communities where there are loose social ties, there is some evidence of higher levels of crime, because there is less informal social control (e.g. such as neighbors looking out for each other).

Recent scholarship in the areas of social exclusion and crime has demonstrated the link between social exclusion and criminal activity (Kramer, 1998). These findings warrant additional discussion and research in so far as they shed light on theories of crime and deviance that go beyond rational choice and suggest socio-structural factors contribute to, and can potentially decrease, the propensity of individuals to engage in criminal activity.

Further Insights

Crime Theories

There are many ways that scholars have tried to explain crime that focus variously on individual choices, personal traits, social process and structural conflict (Seigel, 2006).

First, for functionalists, crime is a normal part of healthy societies: the rule breaking associated with crime serves to highlight shared norms and values and reaffirm the basis of society. Thus, in this perspective, crime is even considered necessary to secure and maintain the moral foundation of society. However, such a view takes little account of how crime is distributed across social groups, and, as research suggests (e.g. Thatcher, 2004), crime is disproportionately perpetrated and shared by the poorest groups in society. Moreover, functionalist approaches to crime assume that there is consensus about constitutes right and wrong actions or behaviors—not so, argue some scholars (Marsh et al., 1996). For instance, some people are labeled as wrongdoers or criminals because their rule breaking violates a

social norm; thus, the act itself is not necessarily a crime (nor is the person inherently a criminal). They are labeled so (Becker, 1997).

Second, rational choice theory relating to crime emphasizes individual choice, and asserts that a person makes a conscious decision to become involved in criminal activity, though their decision to commit crimes or violate the law, may be influenced by a multitude of factors including lifestyle, opportunity to engage in criminal activity. Rational choice theories explain criminal behavior as a function of one's ability to rationally assess the costs and benefits of choosing a behavior given a set of values and beliefs. It is assumed by rational choice theorists that individuals are aware of the range of alternatives available to them; while at the same time they ignore the constraints of their environment and social institutions. More simply put, rational choice theories posit that prior to engaging in a criminal event, individuals collect, organize, and analyze information regarding the nature of their actions within the confines of their values and beliefs. However, critiques of rational choice theory as it relates to crime suggest that there is too much emphasis placed on an individual's knowledge – and discounting – of the consequences of their actions and provides little understanding of the role social context might play in influencing criminal activity.

Third, structural theories of crime look beyond individual choice as the predominant cause of criminal activity and attribute criminal activity to social strain and inequalities. In the former case—social strain—there is disconnection between means and goals (Merton, 1938) that produces anomie. Those who experience anomie are unable to regulate their choices or behaviors according to prevailing social norms; moreover, they seek to achieve their goals (which are widely held and socially sanctioned goals associated with material and status acquisition) through means that are not, necessarily, socially sanctioned, such as through criminal behavior.

Additionally, there may be greater pressure on some social groups than others to achieve their material goals through criminal means. Social inequalities, according to structural theorists, put pressure on the individual and thus increase the likelihood of criminal activity. In part, such inequalities are linked to social disorganization, alienation and disenfranchisement (Kramer, 2000). The notion here is that when social disorganization in-

creases, levels of despair and social conflict among community members also increases, which results in an increase in criminal activity. The lack of informal mechanisms of social control increases the likelihood of individuals becoming involved in criminal activity due to lack of social obligations and oversight, which exacerbates individual gang membership and social disorder. Simply, one's exclusion from the wider community facilitates criminality by creating a sense of despair, isolation, and strain.

Social Exclusion & Crime

Social exclusion can be both a cause and a consequence of crime: however, causality is difficult to determine, given that many offenders are multiply excluded (e.g. they live in poverty, have little family support, access to education, adequate housing or jobs). According to crimeinfo.org (UK), both "offenders and victims of crimes often suffer from one or more aspects of social exclusion [stemming from] factors such as family change, drug misuse, or mental health problems." In both the US and in the UK, statistics show that the most disadvantaged are many times more likely to have multiple problems (e.g. conduct disorders, police contact, cannabis use, mood disorders and alcohol abuse) and more likely to be perpetrators and victims of crime.

Social exclusion affects some communities or neighborhoods more intensely than others, where there may be clusters of problems such as financial deprivation, few employment opportunities, inefficient public transportation, and poor quality schools and housing. This 'concentration' of disadvantage may contribute to a negative reputation leaving the people who live there feeling stigmatized (crimeinfo.org). Social exclusion clusters are characterized by urban location; opportunities for illegal income opportunities that may be highly visible to young people; and high rates of drug use. Individuals with weak ties to the community as a result of social exclusion lack informal mechanisms of social control. In these communities, economic disadvantage can become concentrated and result in widespread social exclusion. As a result, the crimes and violence in the community do not receive the attention they need by political officials, police officers, and community service providers (Reitzes, 1986).

For those who live a life of disadvantage, living in communities with scarce resources, while at the same time being aware of opportunities outside

of the community can call attention to economic disparities (Kelly, 2000; Kramer, 2000). This can impact crime in several ways. On the one hand it can affect the lives of those who are living in poverty as they are forced to initiate alternative ways of accessing resources. On the other hand, it also impacts the response from others regarding the behavior of those who are poor, and exacerbates already negative stereotypes about 'us' and 'them'.

Crime Victims

Criminal victimization — that is, the likelihood of being a victim of crime — is disproportionately distributed across social groups. The poorest economic groups, who already bear the burden of other inequalities such as health inequalities, are more likely to become victims of crime. Indeed, in the US, all categories of crime are concentrated in the 20% poorest households, and, according to research using the National Crime Victimization Survey (NCVS), the distribution of violent crime across social groups has remained relatively unchanged since the 1970s (Thatcher, 2004). Moreover, both offenders and victims of crimes often experience one or more forms of social exclusion.

The issue of social exclusion and crime goes beyond looking at only those who are likely to offend, but also includes those who are likely to be victims of crime:

Some areas are known to have high levels of crime and disorder, yet the people living in them may not be financially or physically able to move out if they want to. They may feel afraid at night, live far from family and friends, or be excluded from the politics of their local community (www.crimeinfo.org).

Fear of crime itself is considered to be a cause of social exclusion. For instance, according to British Crime Survey (2005) data, women aged 60 and over from lower income households are 1.5 times as likely to feel very unsafe out at night as those from higher income households. Similarly, the experience of domestic violence can lead to ill health, poverty and continuing fear of physical harm, which in turn prevents stable employment or social activities (www.crimeinfo.org).

Many offenders are also victims. For example, an offender may come from an impoverished neighborhood, or a victim may be a gang member. In addition, being labeled or perceived as a criminal can lead members of society to exclude those who are perceived as criminal—or who act in manner that is contrary to the norms and values of the community.

Viewpoints

Youth Violence

Accompanying the policy, media and popular concern about the individual causes of perceived social decline and accompanying crime, is, as Greer and Jewkes (2005) comment, an assumption that "people commit crimes because 'they' are not like 'others.'" Young people are a particular 'other' who experience deep, collective disadvantage associated with social exclusion (Kramer, 2000) and who are most likely to be involved in violent crime, as either victims or perpetrators.

In addressing the causes of crime among poor youth, Kramer (2000) identifies three types of crime that are most prevalent among socially excluded and impoverished children:

- Young offenders are likely to be arrested for offenses that have the potential to increase monetary gain such as robbery or car theft.
- Youth tend to be involved in crimes related to drug use and sales.
- Youth tend to be involved in social relationships that include violence.

For instance, disadvantaged neighborhoods are less likely to offer forms of social support and mechanisms of informal social control that help to limit opportunities for crime; many poor communities also have a substantial transient population, which makes it hard for neighbors to connect and create relationships that could facilitate social support networks and contribute to informal mechanisms of social control.

Policy Concerns

Those who are socially excluded are by definition hard to reach through formal policies or programs, although such programs exist to provide social outreach, initiate community alliances or reintegrate offenders. Moreover, although social exclusion typically refers to disadvantages that are related to crime, many policies and programs address only one of these aspects at a time (www.crimeinfo.org). While social exclusion is a useful concept to capture the complexity of the causes of crime, as crimeinfo.org notes, "generalising characteristics in an unequal society can encourage a sort of 'us and them' approach to policy, leading to further social exclusion."

Bibliography

- Beck, U. (1992). Risk society: Towards a new modernity. London: Sage.
- Becker, H. (1997). Outsiders: Studies in the sociology of deviance. New York: Free Press.
- Crimeinfo.org (n.d.). Crime, Deprivation and Social Exclusion. Accessed 21st January, 2009. http://www.crimeinfo.org.uk/servlet/factsheetservlet?command=viewfactsheet t&factsheetid=54&category=factsheets
- Greer, C. & Jewkes, Y. (2005). Extremes of otherness: Media images of social exclusion. Social Justice, 32 (1), 20-31. Retrieved January 21, 2009 from EBSCO online database, SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=s ih&AN=17059923&site=ehost-live
- Kelly, M. (2000). Inequality and crime. Review of Economics and Statistics, 82 (4), 530-539. Retrieved August 17, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Business Source Premier. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=3820953&site=ehost-live.
- Kramer, R. (2000). Poverty, inequality and youth violence. Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Sciences, 567, 123-139.
- Merton, R. K. (1938). Social Structure and Anomie. American Sociological Review. 3(5):672-682.
- Meyers, D. (1993). Social exclusion, moral reflections, and rights. Law and Philosophy, 12 (2). 217-232.
- Putnam, R. (2000). Bowling alone: The collapse and revival of American community. New York:Simon & Schuster.
- Reitzes, D. (1996). Urban identification and downtown activities: A social psychological approach. Social Psychology Quarterly, 49, (2). 167-179. Retrieved August 17, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Search Premier. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=13545237&site=ehost-live.
- Siegel, L. Criminology 9th Ed. (2006). Belmont, CA: Thomas-Wadsworth.
- Thacher, D. (2004). The rich get richer and the poor get robbed: Inequality in U.S. criminal victimization, 1974–2000. Journal of Quantitative Criminology, 20(2), 89-116. Retrieved January 21, 2009 from EBSCO online database, SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=13218286&site=ehost-live

Young, J. (2001). Identity, community and social exclusion. In R. Matthews and J. Pitts (eds). Crime, Disorder and Community Safety. London: Routledge. Retrieved January 21, 2009 from http://www.malcolmread.co.uk/JockYoung/crime&socialexclusion. htm.

Suggested Reading

- Jones-Finer, C. & Nellis, M. (Eds). (1997). Crime and social exclusion: Broadening perspectives in social policy. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing.
- Young, J. (1999). The exclusive society: Social exclusion, crime and difference in late modernity. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Social Disorganization Theory

Karen M. Harbeck

Overview

Adolphe Quetelet

According to Gottfredson and Hirschi (1990), the basis of social disorganization theory emanates from the statistical work of Adolphe Quetelet in the early nineteenth century. Quetelet studied various urban geographical areas and determined that the crime rates in each area were stable over long periods of time regardless of the race, nationality, or national origin of an area's residents at a given point in time. Quetelet concluded from this data that there were features unique to each area or to the groups adapting to reside in an area that were responsible for an area's crime rate.

The Chicago School

Theorists in economics, geography, sociology, and criminology built upon Quetelet's work and used maps of geographical areas to show the spatial distribution of crime in a given area. This approach was known as the "Cartographic School," and it was popular with scholars at the University of Chicago during the first half of the twentieth century. William Isaac Thomas and Florian Znaniecki added to the theoretical framework around 1919 by arguing that people's beliefs and attitudes were shaped by their interactions with their "situation" or environment as well as their behavior. This acculturation process, they said, takes place on both an individual level and within a group as a whole.

Building on their colleagues' work, in 1925 Robert Ezra Park and Ernest W. Burgess adapted Darwinian evolutionary concepts to this Chicago School Sociology, as it had by then become known. They argued that urban environments mirrored natural ecosystems and that careful analysis would reveal distinctive ecological niches or zones throughout a city. "Ecology" is defined by the Encarta English Dictionary "as the study of the relationships between living organisms and their interactions with their natural or developed environment" (Soukhanov, 2004). Ecological studies of crime view "the physical structure of communities as shaping the routine activities of inhabitants in ways that affect the likelihood of crime" (Gottfredson, 1990, p. 82). Through the interplay of humans with their environment and its resources, the theory holds, the zones evolve into diverse, unique areas with the residents sharing similar social characteristics. This process can be said to mirror the evolutionary changes experienced by plants and animals as they adapt to varied ecological niches in a diverse landscape.

Park and Burgess used their cartographic research on the City of Chicago to argue that urban areas have five distinct zones of natural competition:

- The central business district,
- The transitional zone,
- The working class zone (single family tenements),
- The residential zone (single family homes with yards and garages), and
- The commuter zone (suburbs).

Their theory, which they called "the concentric zone theory," held that as a city evolves through outward expansion, the more desirable and successful zones are those that avoid the intense concentration and competition for land and resources within the inner city. Zone Two, the transitional zone, is therefore arguably the most disadvantaged and thus evidences the highest rates of crime and delinquency. Park and Burgess described the transitional zone as being driven by industrial expansion; it serves as a residential entry point for immigrants, and has a wide variety of cultural groups, high unemployment and welfare rates, low educational and occupational attainment levels, low real estate rental values, and social institutions with poor community organization abilities. Despite high rates of

movement in and out of the zones, Park and Burgess argued that each zone retained its characteristics. Subsequent efforts to duplicate their findings in different countries have successfully linked high delinquency rates with areas of economic decline. Park's and Burgess' analysis of concentric zones, however, has proven to be flawed in cities where "the wealthy are often near the center of the city, while the poorer zones of the city are found near its fringes" (Wong, 2007, p. 3).

Shaw & McKay

In 1942, Clifford R. Shaw and Henry D. McKay became the most famous members of the Chicago School by trying to explain the spatial distributions of crime and delinquency set forth by their predecessors. In seeking a social causation of crime, Shaw and McKay focused on social institutions—educational, law enforcement, business, social services, healthcare, and religious entities—rather than on individual perpetrators and their social characteristics. Shaw and McKay argued that social institutions in Zone Two-type locales are too disadvantaged and disorganized to perform their major social function of training or socializing individuals to be lawabiding members of the community. Secondarily, they also fail to monitor the behavior of individuals in order to ensure lawful behavior. One major assumption of social disorganization theory, then, is that crime is caused by social factors or bad places rather than bad people. Another term for this perspective is "environmental determinism."

Within this context, social disorganization is defined as "the inability of local communities to realize common values of their residents or solve commonly experienced problems" (Shaw & McKay, 1942, qtd in O'Connor, 2006, ¶ 13). In an attempt to explain why these communities faced social disorganization to such a level that criminal traditions became embedded, three reasons were set forth:

- residential instability/mobility,
- racial/ethnic heterogeneity
- poverty.

Residential instability/mobility was defined as individuals having no commitment to their locale since they moved frequently and intended to leave the area as soon as possible. The mid-20th century "White flight," the

migration of working and middle class Caucasian residents out of poverty areas along with middle class African Americans, left the poorest members of these communities behind in an even more depressed environment. Racial, cultural, and language barriers were erected as a result of racial/ethnic heterogeneity to such an extent that residents isolated themselves from dissimilar community members in small pockets of minority areas. In consequence, they forfeited the meaningful interactions that might have led to solutions to overall community problems like crime. Finally, because of poverty due to a low tax base and restricted local resources, community members did not have the resources to solve their social problems, and residents continued to seek housing in less disorganized residential zones. Poverty itself does not cause crime, according to Shaw and McKay, but it does facilitate it due to a lack of the resources necessary to eradicate criminal behavior. Subsequent researchers have added family disruption and urbanization as additional factors to the theory.

One major feature of a socially disorganized zone was that it offered an explanation for how high crime and delinquency rates can cause further disruptions in a community due to the high levels of incarceration of its residents. Obviously, according to social disorganization theorists, a pattern of frequent, repeated incarceration adds to the residential instability factors in a given community and only worsens a community's social ills. Thus, a major policy implication of social disorganization theory is to find alternatives to incarceration and crime control. Expanded remedial educational programs, youth athletic leagues, community youth services and clubs, summer camps, youth employment services, recreation programs, and other types of social service and educational interventions are championed by social disorganization theorists to create the positive socialization opportunities for youth which the community is not able offer on its own.

Viewpoints

Strain Theory

Social Disorganization Theory concerns itself with the abilities of a community's social institutions to inculcate common values of lawfulness and to monitor compliance with those values. One major criticism of the theory focuses on its foundational premise "that people will commit criminal acts when the surrounding 'society' is unable to prevent them from doing so"

(Gottfredson, 1990, p. 82). No empirical basis has been offered for this assumption, and several subsequent theorists have argued that the absence of social organization does not adequately account for crime and delinquency. Instead of social disorganization as impetus for crime, Robert Merton and other strain theorists argued that societal pressures and frustration drive crime and delinquency. Strain theory (also referred to as anomie theory) asserts that there is "a universal aspiration to accumulate material wealth," but because our society is stratified into various classes, those in the lower economic levels to not have an equal opportunity to realize the American dream (Gottfredson, 1990, p. 78). Under pressure to reach these culturally inculcated goals, some individuals adapt by turning to crime as a means of material gain. Merton argued further that since middle class values conflict with engaging in criminal activities generally, individuals will experience high levels of strain should they consider engaging in criminal conduct. Arguably, crime is higher in Zone Two-type areas because their residents do not have the same socialization; or, in fact, because their cultural processes hold a different view of crime altogether and, as a result, they feel less strain against the "dominant" cultural value of behaving in a law-abiding manner. With subcultural values different from or even in opposition to the dominant norm of behaving in a lawabiding manner, Zone Two-type communities may even give law breakers a high status within the community due to their material success. Interestingly, strain theory argues that individuals residing in socially disorganized zones are aware of the dominant culture's values towards material wealth, but are frustrated in achieving the same ends. Social disorganization theorists, on the other hand, would say that the dominant culture's values have not been instilled and, therefore, are not an aspiration.

Cultural Transmission Theory

Elements of these arguments also can be found in cultural transmission theory, which has dominated discussions in criminal causation to this day. According to O'Connor (2006), this theory states that "traditions of delinquency are transmitted through successive generations of the same zone in the same way language, roles, and attitudes are transmitted" (Shaw & McKay, 1942 qtd. in O'Connor, 2006, \P 13). One can see from these arguments, and from the assertions of the social disorganization theorists, why there has been controversy and criticism over issues of class and criminality since the 1950s. Given their application to Zone Two-type areas with

high immigrant populations experiencing high unemployment levels, charges of racial and ethnic bias were made as well. In fairness, Shaw and McKay argued that a high crime rate was not related to any given racial or ethnic population's presence in the community. Their original theory held that the crime rates of Zone Two-type areas were high regardless of the races or ethnicities of the areas' residents at a given time. Nevertheless, social disorganization theory became unpopular by the 1960s because of its subjective evaluations, negative terminology, and race/class bias.

Although social disorganization theory was meant to be a scientific explanation of crime and delinquency, in the public policy arena it has deteriorated into accusations that individuals residing in high crime areas are immoral. Evidence of this perspective is clear in recent debates over juvenile crime. In a 1995 article in the Conservative Weekly, public policy analyst John Dilulio coined the word "super-predator" to describe what he believed to be a new breed of juvenile criminal. Described as having no conscience and capable of killing at the slightest whim or provocation, super-predators, according to Dullio, were the result of children being raised in "abject moral poverty... surrounded by deviant, delinquent, criminal adults in abusive, violence-ridden, fatherless, Godless, and jobless settings" (Satterthwaite, 1997, p. 20-21). While this rhetoric has gone a long way in heightening the public's fear of juvenile criminals, it has done little to address the social causes of crime or alleviate the hardship conditions in high crime areas.

Methodological Flaws

Another failing of social disorganization theory was that the methodology employed to establish the theory was based upon circular reasoning. Using crime and juvenile delinquency as an index of social disorganization, Shaw and McKay then argued that social disorganization caused crime and delinquency. Compounding this difficulty was an inability to measure social organization and disorganization within a given community. This challenge remains and recent efforts focus on "levels of involvement across age-levels in activities coordinated by representatives of the communal institutions (e. g. family heads, pastors, school organizations, and local officials" (Jensen, 2003, p. 1). A community is deemed to be especially organized when it offers high levels of these types of activities. Another difficulty with the theory, however, is that even in communities with high

rates of crime, social organization exists: it may simply be structured or operate in a way that does not fit into the methodological framework of social disorganization theorists.

Measuring Social Organization

One outgrowth of social disorganization theory has been the effort to find less pejorative terminology for describing community structure in criminality studies. By the late 1980s, these efforts made social disorganization theory again tremendously popular as a contextual explanation of crime and delinquency. Sampson (1997), for example, coined the words "collective efficacy" to assess a community's ability to control crime in public places. Within Sampson's analysis, in order for a community to be efficacious, "social capital" is needed within the community, meaning that there is significant interdependence, extensive informal networks, and strong social ties that allow community members to work together to achieve common goals of law enforcement. Crutchfield, Geerken, and Gove (1982), among others, focused on "social integration" levels within communities, hypothesizing that high population turnover negatively affects a community's ability to be integrated enough to fight crime. Related theorists, like Stark (1983) and Krohn (1986), suggested a focus on "social networks" and "network density." Their methodology of studying direct relationships between individuals within a community provided another tangible means of determining social organization levels. The scientific means to show the direct relationship between social ties and community control, however, are still undergoing development. The intent of all of these efforts is to go beyond the negative connotations of "social disorganization," and place the theoretical framework within more scientific and measurable contexts. Each of these contributions, however, can be traced back to social disorganization theory.

With the resurgence of interest in social disorganization theory, numerous studies have been undertaken which support the empirical framework. In 1980, Wilson undertook a study of delinquency in Birmingham, England, and concluded that when parents exercised "chaperonage" they significantly lowered the risk of their child becoming delinquent. Chaperonage was defined as parents keeping a close watch on their children and sheltering them from negative aspects of neighborhood life. This was accomplished by escorting children to and from school and forbidding them

to play with troublemakers. Similarly, a 1982 British Crime Survey by Sampson and Groves (1989) "became a criminological classic," according to Lowenkamp and his colleagues (2003, ¶ 1), who set out to replicate the study. Their 1994 analysis offered even greater support for social disorganization theory as a means of understanding criminal causation on a contextual basis. Given advances in statistical studies, economics, and urban policy analysis, Kubrin (2003) predicted that groundbreaking work can be expected on the relevance of social disorganization theory, including its application to non-urban areas. Kubrin's article should be required reading for anyone interested in testing this theoretical framework.

Social Control Theory

Because social disorganization theory emphasized the obligation of the community to train or socialize individuals and to then monitor individuals behavior to ensure lawful action, it gained significant interest within "social control" theory circles. Social control theorists hypothesize that an individual can turn to crime when his or her connection to or identification with the dominant culture is ineffective. In fact, like their social disorganization counterparts, they believe that people find crime useful, profitable, and enjoyable unless they are influenced by larger societal values to forego these urges. Their ideal is to preserve what many would call "WASP" (white, Anglo-Saxon, Protestant) values about lawful personal conduct. To do this, control theorists argue for interventions that control deviance and reorganize communities in order to advance and enhance traditional cultural values. Identification with these traditional values instills mechanisms of internal, individual control through a social bond that helps group wellbeing. In addition to policing mechanisms, external social control is exerted through enhanced involvement in community activities and by creating role models and peer pressure so that the individual will not want to disappoint the other members of the group. Many contemporary control theorists, like Gottfredson and Hirschi (1990), also focus on the individual's lack of self-control over impulsive urges as a cause of crime and delinquency, but these perspectives move even further from the social disorganization theory's attention on community-level analysis.

Social Disorganization Theory & Immigrant Populations

Family breakdown was considered an important aspect of social disorganization until the 1930s, but interest in this variable waned until the 1980s

according to Wilson (1974). He argues that family dysfunction always was a compelling variable to explain criminal conduct, but that public policy advocates were convinced that other social institutions, like schools, religious organizations, and recreational groups, were the keys to solving social ills. Although the social disorganization theorists tried to be neutral towards the various immigrant populations within their zones of study, reliance on social institutions to develop American values in youth has had a long, hostile anti-immigrant history in our social and educational policies since the early 1800s. Standardized educational settings with health education, showers, the Pledge of Allegiance, and numerous other socialization tasks that many of us now take for granted were institutionalized in our schools to inculcate American (WASP) values and behaviors in immigrant youth. The American family may have lost its exclusive influence over child development, but an even greater concern has been that the foreign values and behaviors of immigrant families might alter our dominant culture's identity to an even greater degree. New insights into the motivations and beliefs of the social disorganization theorists might be gained by comparing their writings with those of educational theorists intent upon Americanizing immigrant youth since the early 1800s. At the very least, it would be interesting to know if the social disorganization theorists were aware of the strong anti-immigrant themes in American educational policies and how they contextualized those Americanization goals within their supposedly bias-free socialization processes that looked to schools as one mechanism of social cohesion for survival.

Conclusion

By weaving cartographic data on juvenile delinquency and crime with theoretical analysis, members of the Chicago School Sociology laid a framework that has dominated criminology discussions throughout the 20th century. Beginning in the 1930s, these theories were put into practice by Shaw, McKay, and their colleagues with the advent of the Chicago Area Project (CAP). Project workers were recruited from the local community to help organize against crime and to provide advocates and role models who would assert larger social interests. Through increased recreational facilities and equipment, community clean up endeavors, and juvenile justice advocacy linked with social service assistance, CAP efforts established models for community improvement that are still practiced today. O'Connor (2006) has argued that contemporary "public housing tenant

councils; citizen task forces; citizen patrols; and neighborhood watch groups" come the closest to mirroring the CAP perspectives and activities (\P 22). This interest in the role of community action remains a salient feature of criminology theory to date. A recent example in the tradition of social disorganization theory is Wilson and Kelling's (1982) broken window theory. They argued that "abandoned buildings and automobiles, the accumulation of trash and litter, broken windows and lights, and graffiti or profanity (signs of crime or incivilities) all invite criminal behavior" (O'Connor, 2006, \P 23). Unfortunately, since such programs do not generate direct economic gain and they are not naturally self-sustaining, their failure rate is high unless they receive sustained financial support and augmented structural assistance.

Even with a brief introduction to social disorganization theory, it is easy to see the influence the theoretical framework has on our everyday lives in terms of using community organizations to steer youth into law-abiding behaviors. A bumper-sticker on a YMCA van, for example, states "Keep boys and girls in sports and out of courts." Like so many other aspects of our culture, we know the values and beliefs, but not the underlying theoretical frameworks that both analyze our society and influence it.

Bibliography

- Crutchfield, R., Geerken, M., & Gove, W. (1982). Crime rates and social integration. Criminology, 20, 3-4.
- Gibbons, D., & Krohn, M. (1986). Delinquent behavior. (4th ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Gottfredson, M. & Hirschi, T. (1990). A general theory of crime. Stanford, CA: Stanford UP.
- Jensen, G. (2003). Social disorganization theories. In R. Wright (Ed.), Encyclopedia of criminology. Boca Raton, FL: Fitzroy Dearborn.
- Krohn, M. (2001). The web of conformity: A network approach to the explanation of delinquent behavior. Social Problems, 33, 81-93.
- Kubrin, C. (2003). New directions in social disorganization theory. Journal of Crime and Delinquency, 40(4), 374-402.
- Lowenkamp, C., Cullen, F., & Pratt, T. (2003). Replicating Sampson and Grove's test of social disorganization theory: Revisiting a criminological classic. Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency, 40(4), 351-373.

- O'Connor, T. (2006). Social disorganization theories of crime. MegaLinks in Criminal Justice. Retrieved June 4, 2008, from http://www.apsu.edu/oconnort/crim/crimtheory10.htm
- Rock, P., (2002). Sociological theories of crime. In M. Maguire, M. Morgan, & R. Reiner (Eds.), Oxford handbook of criminology. (3rd ed., pp. 51 - 82). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Satterthwaite, M. (1997). Juvenile crime. Philadelphia, PA: Chelsea House.
- Sampson, R., & Gove, W. (1989). Community structure and crime: Testing social disorganization theory. American Journal of Sociology, 94(4), 774-802. Retrieved June 4, 2008 from EBSCO Online Database SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=15648658&site=ehost-live
- Sampson, R., Raudenbusch, S., & Earls, F. (1997). Neighborhoods and violent crime: A multilevel study of collective efficacy. Science, 227, 918-924.
- Soukhanov, A. (Ed.). (2004). Ecology. Encarta Webster's dictionary of the English language. (2nd ed.). New York: Bloomsbury.
- Stark, R., Bridges, W., Crutchfield, D., Doyle, D., & Finke, R. (1983). Crime and delinquency in the roaring twenties. Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency, 20(1), 4-23. Retrieved June 4, 2008 from EBSCO Online Database Academic Search Complete. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=5543290&site=eh ost-live
- Sutherland, E. (1947). Principles of criminology (4th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott.
- Warren, M., & Hindelang, M. (1979). Current explanations of offender behavior. In H. Toch (Ed.), Psychology of crime and criminal justice (pp. 166 182). Prospect Heights, IL: Waveland Press. Retrieved June 4, 2008, from: http://web.ebscohost.com/ehost/detail?vid=18&hid=13&sid=ae787b74-ddba-44ae-bcaf-ccb.
- Wilson, J. (1975). Thinking about crime. New York, NY: Basic.
- Wong, C. (2007). Clifford R. Shaw and Henry D. McKay: The social disorganization theory. Retrieved June 29, 2008, from: http://www.csiss.org/classics/content/66.

Suggested Reading

- Benko, G., & Strohmayer, U. (Eds.), (1997). Space and social theory: Interpreting modernity and postmodernity. Oxford, UK: Blackwell.
- Calhoun, C. (Ed.), (1994). Social theory and the politics of identity. Cambridge, MA: Blackwell.
- Coleman, J. (1990). Foundations of social theory. Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press.
- Edberg, M. (2007). Essentials of health behavior: Social and behavioral theory in public health. Sudbury, MA: Jones & Bartlett.
- Farganis, J., (2004). Readings from social theory: The classic tradition to post-modernism. (4th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.

- Kivisto, P. (Ed.), (2007). Social theory: Roots and branches: Readings. (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Oxford UP.
- Lilly, J., Cullen, F., & Ball, R. (2007). Criminology theory: Context and consequences. (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Ritzer, G. (Ed.), (2007). Classical sociological theory. (5th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Ritzer, G., & Goodman, D. (2007). Sociological theory. (6th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Stinchombe, A. (1987). Constructing social theories. Chicago, IL: U. of Chicago Press.

Victimless Crime

Jennifer Christian

Overview

In the United States, what actions are criminalized? Should only actions that are truly harmful be illegal? What about drugs? Should some drugs be legal because they seem to be harmless? How about polygamy? Gambling? Pornography? If nobody gets hurt, why should these activities be criminal? Moreover, what is the process of criminalization? How does society determine what is harmful enough to be illegal and what is not? Are laws created to protect people or control people? Is determining what is and is not a crime political act?

You may have thought about these very issues, or even just simply wondered why the driving age is set at 16 in some states and 15 and $\frac{1}{2}$ in others, or why the drinking age is 21 and not 18. Why tobacco is legal and marijuana is not. Questions like these fit into the broader study of crime and deviance and theories regarding the social construction of crime and criminology (Vago, 2000).

The concept that binds these questions together and relates to the study and analysis of victimless crime is the notion that crime is a social construct. That is to say, that no one behavior is inherently criminal or illegal, but rather through a process in which members of society come to agree that certain actions are worthy of regulation, laws are passed that make behavior criminal.

Many scholars who study the social construction of crime and deviance use questions like these as a starting point for investigating the politics and controversies surrounding the criminalization or decriminalization of victimless crimes. Once thought of as a controversial issue, Wertheimer (1977) describes how advocates of decriminalizing victimless crime advanced their position on the grounds of what has been described as the philosophy of law and function of the criminal justice system. These scholars contend that the purpose of criminal law should be limited to those who victimize others and that the criminal justice system should not be involved in matters where there is not a victim or harm done.

On the other side of the debate, are those who argue that it is the government's responsibility to ensure an orderly community and supervise moral conduct through legislation. Such proponents argue that nearly every crime causes some harm either directly to an individual or to society at large.

Today there is still much debate in sociology, criminology, law, and criminal justice about what should and should not be criminal and how victimless crimes are to be handled, if at all, by the criminal justice system.

Further Insights

Victimless Crime: A Definitional Issue

Understanding what constitutes a victimless crime is a complex issue. Many sociologists who study crime and victimization suggest that it is imperative to have a clear and concise definition of the criminal event from both the perspective of law enforcement and the victim (Mosher, Miethe & Phillips, 2002). However, many also recognize that what is criminal is not universally understood and agreed upon. For example, some people who are thought to be victimized do not think of themselves as victims. This is often the case with drug use and prostitution. In such examples, while a crime may have occurred, it is difficult to distinguish who is the criminal and who is the victim.

One of the most widely accepted definitions of a victimless crime was first brought forth by Schur in 1965. He maintained that a victimless crime is any illegal action, which is largely consensual among two parties and lacks a complaining participant (Schur, 1965). While we may be able to think of dozens of behaviors that fit into this category, the most commonly studied are prostitution, gambling, drug use and pornography (Veneziano & Veneziano, 1993).

While this definition provides scholarly guidance, it is still ambiguous in practice. For example, law enforcement officials and the judiciary are faced with the difficult decision of what to do with individuals who engage in victimless crimes as the pressure from society regarding these types of offenses changes over time and across communities. In some cases, like drug addiction and gambling, those who engage in behaviors that lead to problems with the law are thought to need special attention and help. Some communities even offer treatment and counseling. In other cases, like prostitution, individuals are chastised for engaging in behaviors that are far from what is considered normal by members of a society. People who engage in such behaviors are often thought to deserve punishment or at least be taken off the streets.

Victimless Crime & Changing Times

The notion of what constitutes a victimless crime is also ever changing (Conklin, 1982), as it varies in the eyes of the public, political officials and the police. Practically speaking, when law enforcement officials are investigating victimless crimes they are often referring to drug users, prostitutes, illegal gambling activities, public drunkenness, and/or vagrancy (Hagan, 2008).

However, these activities have not always been criminalized. In fact many drugs that are currently illegal have previously been prescribed or recommended by doctors for legitimate medical issues (Inciardi, 1992). For example, cocaine and amphetamines were routinely prescribed for allergies and sinus related ailments. Drugs like cocaine were given to soldiers for fatigue and used to improve concentration during WWII. It was only when society became concerned with the social and political ramifications of drug use and abuse that drugs like these became outlawed.

In addition to the changing definition of victimless crime over time, there is also variation in the notion of what constitutes a victimless crime in different areas of the county and the world. In many countries, having more

than one wife is considered legal and encouraged by religious and government officials. Prostitution is not illegal in some cities in the U.S. as well as some countries, and is highly regulated, taxed, and viewed as a legitimate occupation. Gambling, public intoxication, and vagrancy are viewed by many as symptoms of social problems and not criminal offenses. Consequently rehabilitation and treatment are often prescribed to help individuals in dire situations rather than sending them off to prison of jail.

Issues like this, buttressed against the absence of an identifiable victim, beg the question of why such behaviors and activities are criminal. Should the government decriminalize victimless crime? The answer is inherently political (Dombrink, 1993).

As a society it is arguably important to have a shared set of values and beliefs to help regulate undesirable behavior whether it is through formal pressures such as laws and city ordinances or by informal mechanisms such as social pressure. The pressure to conform is rooted in institutional ideologies about appropriate behavior and is grounded in political theories about social control and domination. Some scholars have argued that the process of criminalizing behavior and victimless crime is politically driven to control some segments of the population at the expense of others. Karl Marx, for example, while never explicitly theorizing about crime has been widely cited for this belief that the government has a vested interest in maintaining a working class and uses its power to force people into the labor pool through the use of laws and moral codes.

The following section will provide concrete examples of how scholars from both sides of the debate concerning victimless crime describe the construction of crime as a social problem and advocate how society should respond though policies, procedures, and legislative change.

Viewpoints

The Debate over Victimless Crime

There are two major factions in the debate over victimless crime and the need to regulate it. There are those who advocate for the decriminalization of crimes where no formal complaint is levied and harm is unlikely to have occurred. These scholars and activists point to the role of the government

and the capacity of the criminal justice system as being critically understaffed and inconvenienced by focusing on victimless crime when there are more serious offenses and offenders to be looking out for.

In contrast, there are those who reject the notion that the government should not attempt to protect the people even in the absence of a complaint. These scholars and activists argue that there are in fact victims in these crimes and there is harm that is caused by ignoring such offenses. Central to these arguments is the notion that it is the states responsibility to legislate morality.

Decriminalization & Victimless Crime

Two of the most common victimless crimes that have received the most attention from advocates, scholars, and the media are the use of marijuana and gambling (Veneziano & Veneziano, 1993). Central to the arguments for each offense is the notion that criminalizing these activities are draining resources that could otherwise be put to better use in controlling violent crime. Second, proponents for the decriminalization of marijuana and gambling point to changing values and norms regarding these behaviors as criminal. Much as been purported about marijuana's potential medicinal value. With respect to gambling, there is potential for states suffering from deficits to increase their tax base. These issues have recently come to the forefront of political debate in the wake of Proposition 215 which decriminalized marijuana in the state of California for medicinal purposes and in the aftermath of hurricane Katrina, where off shore casinos played a fundamental part in bringing money to the state, provided jobs to local residents, and assistance in the rebuilding efforts in Mississippi (Veneziano & Veneziano, 1993).

Marijuana

Dennis Peron, a grassroots organizer advocated extensively for the decriminalization of marijuana. His efforts ultimately lead to the passage of California's Proposition 215 in 1996 originated in San Francisco where Peron campaigned for the use of marijuana for terminally ill AIDS patients. This law would essentially decriminalize using, growing, and distributing marijuana for those who had a doctor's prescription for its use.

Opponents to Proposition 215 included many members of law enforcement, drug prevention groups, and elected officials, who thought that the decriminalization of drugs would ultimately lead to other drugs, conceivably more dangerous drugs, being decriminalized and an overall breakdown between the obligations of the government and law enforcement to protect the community and a radical new view of drug use.

After much debate, the electorate of California passed Proposition 215. The final legislation provided legal protection for patients, caregivers, and physicians who possess or grow marijuana for medical purposes. Essentially this shift in legislation illustrates how a behavior that was once criminalized and fit the definition of victimless crime has been decriminalized in a carefully crafted way based on changes in values and norms among the majority of Californians as expressed in their support for legislative change.

Gambling

The notion that gambling is a victimless crime has been around for a very long time. However, most scholars would argue that gambling has also been long tied to organized crime and corruption (Veneziano & Veneziano, 1993). Once the action of gambling is isolated from the organization of gaming it is easer to distinguish how some advocates have come to view this activity as a victimless crime. Gambling, broadly defined, involves an individual making a bet or wager based on the probability a game or a sporting event could result in a payoff or prize. Proponents of decriminalizing gambling argue that individuals are capable of making their own decisions about potential risks and benefits and therefore it is not the government's responsibility to legislate such decisions (Hagan, 2008).

Recently the issue of gambling has gained more attention in the media and among political officials after the devastation to the Gulf Coast due to Hurricane Katrina. News reports have long suggested that gambling has been a contentious issue in Mississippi. They cite on one hand, supporters who want their historically poor state to gain access to jobs and tax revenue that casinos provide. On the other hand, there are many conservative religious leaders who believe that gambling is a sin; harmful to the individual, the family, and the community.

In order to compromise, the state of Mississippi decided to allow some highly regulated gaming facilities to open up, but only on barges located off shore. This provided an enormous amount of tax revenue while at the same time preserving the state's image as against gaming. Over time, the locals shifted their attitudes towards the facilities and new laws were proposed to expand the gaming facilities. Much of this legislation stagnated through the state legislature until Hurricane Katrina nearly wiped out all of the gaming barges. In a last minute attempt to help bring money and jobs back to the state, Senator Trent Lott facilitated legislative change that allowed casinos to build on land with the assistance of federal funds. This legislative change provides yet another example of the process of decriminalizing victimless crimes in the wake of political necessity and changing attitudes (Veneziano & Veneziano, 1993).

All Crimes Have Victims

While the previous section illustrates how some victimless crimes, in some states have been decriminalized, the following section will highlight areas around the U.S. where the same activities have been met with far more resistance (Schur & Bedau, 1974). Proponents in these states argue that all crimes have victims, regardless of whether they voice a complaint or not. In order to see the real harm that drug use and gambling cause, we need to look beyond the individual and consider the harm such actions cause the family and community. Moreover, scholars who look at these issues have also noted that when you ask the public if victimless crimes are harmful, most people say yes, and that is proof that Americans support the notion that the government should regulate behavior that causes harm to more than just the individual but also the family and community.

Drugs & Addiction

Many people who advocate for the strict enforcement of drug laws point to the multitude of victims affected by drugs (Veneziano & Veneziano, 1993). Advocates contend that drug use leads to social isolation and a removal of oneself as an active participant in society. Moreover, many advocates suggest that drug use can lead to criminal activity such as theft and robbery. Also, some argue that drug use can lead to child neglect and marital problems which cause harm to both children and families and eventually lead to deterioration in morals and commitment to the com-

munity. Accordingly, those who oppose the notion of victimless crimes (particularly with respect to drug use) assert that such behaviors do not fit the definition of victimless crime as there clearly is harm, if not specifically to the individual drug user, then certainly to family members and the community. There is in fact a place for a complaint to be levied on behalf of children and those who are directly and indirectly affected by the drug user's behavior.

Compulsive Gambling

In response to those who advocate for the decriminalization of gambling, proponents for status quo often see the action of gamblers and the organizations that facilitate gaming as part of a larger social problem that undermines gamblers' work ethic, is destructive of personality and perpetuates addiction, invites fraud, and propagates social decay. Similar to the example of drug use, those who oppose the decriminalization of gambling believe that both harm and victims can be identified and therefore, this activity does not meet the criteria of a victimless crime.

Victims in the case of gambling are often the gamblers themselves, who are often viewed has having an addiction or compulsion that interferes with their ability to appropriately asses the risks of participating and the likelihood of winning (Bloch, 1951). The harm which scholars often point to when discussing gambling can be localized to the individual, or more globally applied. For the individual, gambling can result in the loss of a substantial amount of money and, in extreme cases, results in a need for public assistance or charity to provide the basic needs for survival. On a global level, gambling impacts society in so far as it arguably attracts a deeper criminal element with respect to loan sharks and corruption. Additionally, opponents to the legalization of gambling also contend that the presence of casinos impedes the formation of social bonds in a community and prohibits individuals from establishing a sense of community among their neighbors.

Conclusion

Understanding the scholarly arguments about victimless crime requires one to first understand that crime is a social construct, amenable to change overtime, between individuals, and across communities. Theories on the social construction of crime suggest that social norms and values play a central part in determining what actions are criminalized and what are not. Currently there is much debate over how to define victimless crime and what role the criminal justice system should have in regulating behavior and legislating morality. Future research in this area will continue to look at the factors that contribute to individual perceptions of what should and should not be criminalized and how these views affect social policy.

Bibliography

- Bloch, H. (1951). The sociology of gambling. The American Journal of Sociology, 57 (3) 215-221.
- Conklin, J. (1992). Criminology (4th ed). New York, NY: MacMillan.
- Dombrink, J. (1993). Victimless crimes and the "culture wars" of the 1990s. Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice, 9 31-40.
- Hagan, F. (2008) Introduction to criminology: Theories, methods, and criminal behavior (6th ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Inciardi, J. (2000). The war on drugs II: The continuing epic of heroin, cocaine, crank, crime, AIDS, and public policy. Woodland Hills, CA: Mayfield.
- Mosher, C., Miethe, T. & Phillips, D. (2002). The mismeasure of crime. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Schur, E. (1956). Crimes without victims: Deviant behavior and public policy. Upper Saddle River, NI: Prentice Hall.
- Schur, E. & Bedau, H. (1974). Victimless crimes, two sides of a controversy. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Vago, S. (2000). Law and society (6th ed). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Veneziano, L & Veneziano C. (1993). Are victimless crimes actually harmful? Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice, 9 1-14.
- Wertheimer, A. (1977). Victimless crimes. Ethics, 87 302-318.

Suggested Reading

- Miethe, T. (1982). Public consensus on crime seriousness. Criminology, 20 (3/4), 515-526. Retrieved August 14, 2008 from EBSCO online database, SocINDEX with Full Text, http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=16731793&site=eh ost-live
- Schur, E. & Bedau, H. (1974). Victimless crimes two sides of a controversy. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Weitzer, R. (2003). Current controversies in criminology. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

White Collar Crime

Karen M. Harbeck

Overview

According to the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) data, white collar crime costs the United States more than \$300 billion dollars annually. While this total exceeds the annual costs of crimes in the streets, estimated by the FBI to be \$3.8 billion a year, most people are not as concerned about "crime in the suites." In 1988, the United States Supreme Court stated that white collar crime "is one of the most serious problems confronting law enforcement authorities." (Braswell v. United States, 487 U.S. 99, 115 (1988)). Despite the cost to our society, white collar crime often goes undetected. If discovered, white collar criminals frequently are dealt with within the civil law framework rather than the criminal law system. Under civil law, the regulations deal with economic losses between private parties, so repayment becomes the focus rather than punishment.

Although criminologists continue to debate which specific crimes qualify as white-collar crime, in general white collar crime encompasses a variety of non-violent crimes usually committed in commercial situations for financial gain. Types of white-collar crime include:

- Financial Fraud
- Mail Fraud
- Computer & Internet Fraud

- Counterfeiting
- Public Corruption
- Money Laundering
- Tax Evasion
- Kickbacks
- Securities Fraud
- Insider Trading
- Bribery
- Embezzlement
- Trade Secret Theft
- Back Dating Stock Options
- Phone & Telemarketing Fraud

The tools of the trade are fast talking, paperwork, and computers. Usually, criminal complaints are brought against individuals, but sometimes corporations are held accountable as well, especially in terms of restitution and fines. Technically speaking, however, offenses committed by a corporation are called "corporate crime," or "organizational crime." Both are considered one type of white collar crime. This division of white collar crime categories into two types—occupational and corporate—was advanced by Clinard and Quinney in the 1960's, and it remains influential to this day.

Although most individuals conceptualize white collar crime as being non-violent, in reality this definition is faulty. Corporations that knowingly engage in the production of substandard food, drugs, or building materials, or who intentionally expose their employees to dangerous working conditions, can be held liable for crimes that fall into the white collar framework of analysis. Charon (1986) argues that "every year in the US between 120,000 and 200,000 people die from work related illness and 14,000 die from on-the-job accidents (quoted in Long, 2007, p. 2). Despite this staggering loss of life, however, very few corporations or their leaders are held criminally liable for their misconduct. There are numerous reasons explaining why little is done about white collar crime in general, and these deaths in particular, and they will be discussed later in this article.

Given the current condition of federal and state data collection methods, it is difficult to perform statistical analyses of white collar crime. There are no socioeconomic or occupational data about offenders in the Uniform Crime Reporting (UCR) data, for example, and no information about corporate criminal actors. Similarly, FBI crime statistics collect information on only three categories of what is considered to be white collar crime: fraud, counterfeiting and forgery, and embezzlement. All other related crimes are encompassed in the category of "other." The FBI's estimate of \$300 billion of losses a year, therefore, is probably low. The collapse of the savings and loan industry, for example, cost the American public between \$300 and \$500 billion dollars, while some estimates place health care fraud alone at between \$100 billion and \$400 billion per year (Mokhiber, 2007).

Further Insights

Edwin H. Sutherland

The term "white collar crime" was used first in 1939 by sociologist Edwin H. Sutherland, who defined it as "a crime committed by a person of respectability and high social status in the course of his occupation." Since colored dress shirt fabrics did not come into use until the 1960's, executives and office workers across the nation wore white shirts to work everyday, resulting in the label "white collar crime."

Because the term "white collar crime" has gained such acceptance with the public and scholars, it is hard to appreciate the revolutionary nature of Sutherland's arguments. Previously, crime analysis had focused on street crime and violence, rather than on the illegal actions of the rich and powerful. Sutherland sought to expose these crimes and bring justice to individuals harmed by those with powerful social, political, and economic connections. Edward Ross had articulated these same concerns in an article published in The Atlantic Monthly in 1907, but Sutherland's presidential address to the American Sociological Association's national convention in 1939 made front page news nationwide (Wong, 2005). Albert Morris had also examined upper class criminals in his 1935 book on crime, but Sutherland's public platform, catchy terminology, and theoretical research framework launched the sub-discipline. Suddenly, the theoretical analyses of crime based upon poverty and poor socioeconomic conditions were shown to be inadequate as general explanations of criminal conduct (Wong, 2005).

Sutherland's Critics

Although the term "white collar crime" has gained public meaning and acceptance over the decades, sociologists and criminologists have engaged in an extensive debate over how to define the concept. Sutherland's argument that white collar criminals were of high status and respectability was challenged with research of the wide variety of individuals who engaged in white collar crime. Sutherland's argument that murder, robbery, and burglary were blue-collar crimes also was challenged. Similarly, scholars argued that the terms "respectability" and "high social status" were too vague and subjective for scholarly study. Thus, Sutherland's efforts to make a class-based definition of crime that focused on the perpetrator failed to withstand scrutiny. In part, this failure can be attributed to each individual's right to equal protection under the law. Within the US legal system, race, gender, wealth, occupation, and ethnicity cannot be used to discriminate among offenders.

Sutherland's assertion that white collar crime was related to occupation has enjoyed acceptance in both sociological literature and in criminal practice. In 1981, for example, the United States Department of Justice's definition of white collar crime was dependent upon the professional status and/or special knowledge of the offender. It stated that white collar crime was:

Nonviolent crime for financial gain committed by means of deception by persons whose occupational status is entrepreneurial, professional or semi-professional and utilizing their special occupational skills and opportunities; also, nonviolent crime for financial gain utilizing deception and committed by anyone having special technical and professional knowledge of business and government, irrespective of the person's occupation. (Bureau of Justice Statistics, 1981, p. 215)

Under this definition, then, white collar crime includes someone who provides fraudulent goods or services to the public. It also includes someone who works for a business or corporation and commits a crime against that entity, such as an employee who embezzles money from his or her employer.

Viewpoints

While the dual definition of white collar crime as either occupational or corporate enjoys wide acceptance, since the 1970s there has been a move to further refine the definition to focus on the actual act committed, rather than on the occupation or corporate role of the actor. In 1989, for example, the FBI changed its definition of white collar crime to:

Those illegal acts which are characterized by deceit, concealment, or violations of trust and which are not dependent upon the application or threat of physical force or violence. Individuals and organizations commit these acts to obtain money, property, or services; to avoid the payment or loss of money or services; or to secure personal or business advantage. (p. 3)

Corporate Crime

Thus, in addition to nonviolent actions, the abuse of trust has surfaced as a major element in the definition of white collar crime (Spalek, 2000). Another important development has been a focus on white collar crime as "power crimes," whether they are committed by individuals, corporations, or gangsters (Ruggiero, 2007). Slapper and Tombs (1999) have added to the debate by analyzing criminal and non-criminalized wrongdoings. Much of the harmful conduct committed by corporations, such as polluting the environment, often violates American regulatory policies rather than actual criminal statutes. Because the intent of these regulations is to prohibit conduct rather than to punish it, the fines often are remarkably low. Some argue that by making these harmful actions criminal, too great a strain is placed upon law enforcement agencies which can lack sufficient resources to deal with these problems. Slapper and Tombs, however, argue that the threat of criminal prosecution and adverse publicity would put pressure on corporations to police themselves. Though the likelihood of being caught and prosecuted would be statistically low, the corporations would still assume the costs of regulating themselves rather than the public. Wells (2001) argues further for the criminalization of regulatory violations since, by sending a message about what kinds of conduct society deems to be worthy of sanctions and condemnation, it might serve as some additional deterrence.

Intent

While it may seem logical to hold organizations and corporations to the same standards individuals are held to, how this is done is not clearly defined within the theories of criminal law. Often, for example, in order to be convicted of a particular crime, it must be shown that the perpetrator had a guilty mind or "mens rea" to commit the crime. To be convicted of first degree murder, for example, the accused must have had the intent to murder or to cause serious bodily injury resulting in death. If the intent is lacking, the perpetrator can only be charged with a lesser offense, like manslaughter. But all too often in corporate crimes the leadership lacks the specific intent to harm its victims. Instead, corporate executives weigh the risks involved in their actions, both the risks of harming others and of getting caught. Doctrines that hold corporations liable are less well developed than those pertaining to individuals in part because some would argue that there is no intent possible in a nonhuman legal entity. Lederman (2001) offered an extensive discussion on the developing legal theories to hold corporate entities criminally liable for their actions. One argument, for example, is that a corporation's intent or culpability can be gleaned from the leadership's directives to employees, whether verbal, written, or through everyday behaviors. It is important to realize that this entire legal development is relatively new. The first conviction in the United Kingdom for the offense of corporate manslaughter, for example, occurred in 1994 following an industrial death (Tombs, 1995). This development occurred as a response to a wave of business enterprise deaths at sea and on the nation's rail network among others, argued that the media does not cover corporate crime in the same manner that is does street crime (Slapper & Tombs, 1999). Often a corporate crime is portrayed as a unique accident, rather than as the outcome of systemic wrongdoing and intentional neglect. Media images of street violence are intense, immediate and personalized so that the public feels the threat of danger and becomes outraged; in contrast, corporate-related deaths are portrayed as rare, specific to a unique set of circumstances, and without culpability.

Individual Crime

Like their corporate counterparts, individual white collar offenders face remarkably few consequences for their illegal behavior. Most individual white collar offenders are people who "got into financial difficulty and who saw their way out of it through illegal and fraudulent means" (Keel, 2008, p. 2). These relatively small operators are more likely to get caught, while major criminals have the connections and resources to escape detection. In fact, estimates are that less than 5% of the perpetrators are ever caught and convicted. Of these, an even smaller percent go to jail. According to the American Bar Association, for example, 91% of convicted bank robbers go to jail, while only 17% of those convicted of embezzling bank funds do. Even when building contractors knowingly use substandard materials that result in injury and death, they face fines rather than jail time (Long, 2007). Penalties have increased over the past few years, but severe punishment still remains unlikely.

There are several reasons why white collar criminals are not as severely punished as their street crime counterparts. Sometimes the status and wealth of a perpetrator does afford him or her special protections. Cronyism, or favors from politically elite friends, may influence whether a prosecutor decides to bring criminal charges against an individual or whether local law enforcement resources are allocated to pursue certain types of crime. Access to excellent, well-connected lawyers also plays an important role in protecting these criminals from severe punishment. Since white collar individuals write the laws concerning white collar crime, vague terms and light sentences are established. And because these crimes are usually nonviolent and do not fit our image of evil, illegal conduct, the public perception of white collar crime is different and the demand for severe punishment less vocal.

Detecting & Prosecuting White Collar Crime

White collar crime often is difficult to discover. Special experts are required to trace bank fraud, securities fraud, and other very complex and technical illegal transactions. Usually the offenses are hidden within normal business practices and easily kept secret through occupational controls. Additionally, white collar criminals often commit illegal acts that are regulated by government agencies, such as the US Treasury and the Environmental Protection Agency. Understaffed and lacking resources, these agencies often fail to detect white collar crime. When corporations are the perpetrators, it can also be difficult to assign blame to specific individuals within the organization. More often than not, corporations make arrangements to pay some relatively small fine as their only punishment. In

these cases, it is believed that the removal of corporate officers guilty of the criminal conduct might disrupt the function of the entity, harming employees and shareholders who played no role in the crimes. Similarly, requiring the corporation to pay a huge fine also might affect its stability and the livelihoods of hundreds or thousands of employees. The Federal US Sentencing Commission, for example, found that between the years 1984 through 1987, nearly half of convicted corporations paid fines of \$5,000 or less, while 80% were fined \$25,000 or less (Keel, 2008).

Because white-collar crime is so difficult to detect and investigate, numerous federal and state agencies work together to control it. In fact, the National White Collar Crime Center (NW3C) exists to:

Provide a nationwide support system for agencies involved in the prevention, investigation, and prosecution of economic and high-tech crimes and to support and partner with other appropriate entities in addressing homeland security initiatives, as they relate to economic and high-tech crimes (2008, ¶8).

Organizational Deviance

Although Sutherland and his colleagues were concerned about crime perpetrated by business entities, all too often their theoretical or legal analysis of corporate crime focused on the criminal actions of individuals within an organization rather than the criminal actions of corporate entities. In 1976, however, another president-elect of the American Sociological Association, Stanton Wheeler, used his public platform to promote the study of organizational crime (Wong, 2005). Then, in 1981, Ermann and Lundman introduced the concept of "organizational deviance" (Wong, 2005, p. 15). Under their analysis, an organization is deviant if

- It commits an act that is in violation of external norms and the organization's stated goals, but "supported by internal operating norms"
- It socializes new members to consent to the organizations "rationalizations and justifications" for the deviant act
- It gives peer support to the individuals who committed the act, and

• Its dominant leadership supports deviant acts (Wong, 2005, p. 15-16).

Later theorists distinguished between organizations with deviant goals and those "that approved illegitimate means in the achievement of organizational goals" (Wong, 2005, p. 16). Organized crime syndicates fit into the category of organizations with deviant goals, although not all of the offenses committed by organized crime syndicates fall into the category of white collar crime.

Organized Crime

The Organized Crime Control Act (U.S., 1970) defines organized crime as "The unlawful activities of ... a highly organized and disciplined association...." It can and does exist in any setting, whether it be local, state, national, or international. In order to thrive and move money throughout the economy, however, organized crime has to have strong ties to legitimate business entities. Often, cooperation from respected members of the business community is gained through bribery, extortion, and blackmail. Added protection for the criminal endeavors is achieved by bribing judicial and law enforcement officials.

In an effort to combat organized crime, in 1970 the federal government passed the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organization (RICO) Act (18 U. S. C. A. § 1961 et seq.) In addition to crimes deemed to be white collar in nature, RICO encompasses gambling, extortion, prostitution, narcotics trafficking, loan sharking and murder. Punishment under RICO can be extremely harsh, including fines and up to 20 years in prison. Additionally, the defendant must forfeit any claims to the money or property obtained from the criminal enterprise, or obtained from any criminal enterprise barred under RICO (White-collar, 2008).

Political Crime

Another aspect of white collar crime that can be either individual in nature or organized is governmental or political crime. Lawmakers are frequently in a position to trade their influence and legislative votes for money and gifts. Again, the risks of being caught are low, and given politicians' elite political connections within a governmental entity, even the loss of one's political career is not a given. Similarly, entire governments, or groups

within a government, can commit acts that fall into the broad category of white collar crime. The Watergate break in during the Nixon administration and the Iran-Contra scandal during the Reagan administration are both examples of illegal action performed by an organized group of individuals within our government.

Despite decades of corporate criminal offenses, it was not until 2002 that Congress enacted legislation that seriously penalized corporate wrongdoing. The Public Company Accounting Reform and Investor Protection Act, also known as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (Pub.L. 107-204, 116 Stat. 745) increased penalties for mail and wire fraud to 20 years in prison. Acts of securities fraud could be punished by up to 25 years in prison. Additionally, the Act criminalized the falsification of corporate financial reports, making it punishable with fines of up to \$5 million dollars and 10 years in prison (White-collar, 2008). Also contained within the Act was the directive that the Federal US Sentencing Commission increased the penalties for other white collar crimes. The huge financial losses from the Enron and WorldCom scandals, combined with the evidence of extensive financial report falsification by the accounting firm of Arthur Andersen, finally moved the government to take white collar crime seriously, in large part to shore up public confidence in the stock market and in corporate America. These new regulations changed the landscape of both public and law enforcement attitudes towards white collar crime.

Bibliography

Bureau of Justice Statistics, United States Department of Justice. (1981). Dictionary of criminal justice data terminology. (2nd ed.). Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.

Charon, J. (1986). Sociology: A conceptual approach. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.

Federal Bureau of Investigation. (1989). White collar crime: A report to the public. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.

Gottfredson, M. & Hirschi, T. (1990). A general theory of crime. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.

Keel, R. (2008). White collar crime. Retrieved July 29, 2008, from http://www.umsl.edu/~keelr/200/wcolcrim.html.

Lederman, E. (2001). Models for imposing corporate criminal liability: From adaptation and imitation toward aggregation and the search for self-identity. Buffalo Criminal Law Review, 4(1), 641-708. Retrieved July 20, 2008, from http://wings.buffalo.edu/law/bclc/bclrarticles/4(1)/ledermanpdf.pdf

- Long, R. (2007). Introductory sociology: White-collar crime. Retrieved on July 29, 2008, from http://www.delmar.edu/socsci/rlong/intro/wc-crime.htm.
- Mokhiber, R. (2007). Twenty things you should know about corporate crime. Retrieved July 29, 2008, from www.alternet.org/story/54093.
- Rock, P. (2002). Sociological theories of crime. In M. Maguire, M. Morgan, & R. Reiner (Eds.), Oxford handbook of criminology. (3rd ed., pp. 51 82). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Slapper, G., & Tombs, S. (1999). Corporate crime. London: Pearson Education Ltd.
- Spalek, B. (2001, October). White-collar crime victims and the issue of trust. British criminology conference: Selected proceeding, 4, 1-15. Retrieved August 4, 2008, from http://www.britsoccrim.org/volume4/003.pdf
- Strader, J. (2002). Understanding white collar crime. Newark, NJ: Matthew Bender & Company.
- Sutherland, E. (1947). Principles of criminology (4th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott.
- Wells, C. (2001). Corporations and criminal responsibility (2nd ed.),. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- White-collar crime. (2008). West's encyclopedia of American law (2nd Ed.). The Gale Group. Retrieved July 30, 2008, from http://legal-dictionary.thefreedictionary.com/White-collar+crime.
- Wong, K. (2005). From white-collar crime to organizational crime: An intellectual history. Murdoch University Electronic Journal Of Law, 12(1/2). Retrieved July 29, 2008, from www.austlii.edu.au/journals/MurUEJL/2005/14.html.

Suggested Reading

- Benson, M. & French, J. L. (2008). White collar crimes (Criminal investigations). Philadelphia, PA: Chelsea House.
- Coleman, J. (2005). The criminal elite: Understanding white-collar crime. New York, NY: St. Martin's.
- DeAngelis, G., & Sarat, A. (1999). White-collar crime (Crime justice and punishment). Philadelphia, PA: Chelsea House.
- Geis, G., Meier, R., & Salinger, L. (1995). The white-collar crime: Offenses in business, politics, and the professions (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Free Press.
- Hunter, R., & Dantzker, M. (2005). Crime and criminality: Causes and consequences. Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press.
- Leap, T. (2007). Dishonest dollars: The dynamics of white-collar crime. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Pontell, H, & Geis, G. (Eds.). (2006). International handbook of white-collar and corporate crime. New York, NY: Springer.

Sachner, M. (2009). The FBI and white-collar crime. Broomall, PA: Mason Crest.

Salinger, L. (Ed.), (2004). Encyclopedia of white-collar and corporate crime. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Simon, D, & Hagan, F. (1999). White-collar deviance. Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.

Young, M. (2008). White-collar crime. San Diego, CA: Greenhaven.

Crime Theory: Organized Crime

Karen M. Harbeck

Overview

The Organized Crime Control Act defines organized crime as "The unlawful activities of...a highly organized and disciplined association," usually for the purposes of financial gain (U.S., 1970). It can and does exist on any scale, whether local, state, national, or international. In order to thrive, however, organized crime has to have strong ties into legitimate business entities so that money can be moved throughout the economy. Often, the cooperation of respected members of the business community is gained through bribery, extortion, and blackmail. Added protection for criminal endeavors is achieved by bribing judicial and law enforcement officials. Politically motivated organized crime is referred to as terrorism.

The impact of organized crime is difficult to measure since this type of crime is involved in so many legal and illegal enterprises. The Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) estimates that its illegal annual profits globally exceed \$1 trillion per year (FBI, n.d.b). Glenny estimates that this shadow economy nets about 15% to 20% of global GDP (gross domestic product) annually (2008, p. xv). The illegal enterprises organized crime engages in include drug and weapons trafficking, money laundering, gambling, murder for hire, prostitution, bombings, extortion, kidnapping, fraud, political corruption, loan sharking, blackmail, human smuggling, counterfeiting, illegally dumping toxic waste, and terrorism. Not counted in these statistics,

however, are the actual and indirect costs and hardships inflicted upon individuals and communities through the violence, intimidation, and corruption used by organized crime to control their criminal enterprises. One trend in organized crime is the increased ability of these organizations to work with one another around the world to achieve their illegal ends. This has increased the need for the FBI to work with its counterparts in other countries in order to disrupt these costly criminal activities.

The Organized Crime Section at the FBI is divided into three units that focus on Italian racketeering, Eurasian/Middle Eastern organized crime, and Asian and African criminal activities (FBI, n.d.b). It also maintains a Sports Bribery Program aimed at ensuring the integrity of American sporting events by educating sports officials and players about the role of organized crime in gambling, corruption, bribery, and drug trafficking. Additionally, the program investigates and prosecutes offenses related to federal gambling and corruption laws in sports.

Within sociological theory, many of the activities engaged in by organized crime come under the concept of white collar crime. Analysis of white collar crime focuses on two types: the individual perpetrator having special knowledge or occupational expertise and access that permits him or her to gain illegal financial advantage over others; and, corporate or organizational perpetrators, including organized and governmental crime. Since white collar crime is intermingled with legitimate business activities and often involves complex and sophisticated technical actions, detection is very difficult. Although white collar crime is a \$300 billion dollar annual harm to our society, few perpetrators are caught and even fewer receive any sort of punishment.

Technically speaking, when a corporation commits an offense, this is called "corporate crime" or "organizational crime," which is considered one type of white collar crime. This division of white collar crime categories into two types, occupational and corporate, was advanced by Clinard and Quinney in the 1960s, and it remains influential to this day (Green, 2006). Another aspect of white collar crime that can be either individual in nature or organized, is governmental or political crime, for instance, lawmakers trading their influence and legislative votes for money and gifts.

In an effort to combat organized crime, in 1970 the federal government passed the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organization (RICO) Act (18 U. S. C. A. § 1961 et seq.) In addition to crimes deemed to be white collar in nature, RICO provides penalties for gambling, extortion, prostitution, narcotics trafficking, loan sharking and murder. Punishment under RICO can be extremely harsh, including fines and up to 20 years in prison. Additionally, the defendant must forfeit any claims to the money or property obtained from the criminal enterprise or obtained from any criminal enterprise barred under RICO (White-collar, 2008).

Despite decades of corporate criminal offenses, it was not until 2002 that Congress enacted legislation that seriously penalized corporate wrongdoing. The Public Company Accounting Reform and Investor Protection Act, also known as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (Pub.L. 107-204, 116 Stat. 745), increased penalties for mail and wire fraud to 20 years in prison. Those convicted of committing securities fraud faced up to 25 years in prison. Additionally, the act criminalized the falsification of corporate financial reports, with fines of up to \$5 million dollars and 10 years in prison (White-collar, n.d.). Also contained within the act was the directive that the Federal U.S. Sentencing Commission increase the penalties for other white collar crimes. These new regulations have changed the historical landscape of both public and law enforcement attitudes towards white collar crime.

Critical Criminology

In addition to traditional views on the causes of crime and deviance that focus on an individual's motivation or character, several other theories of crime deserve brief mention in relation to organized crime. "Critical criminology" often has been called the Robin Hood theory of crime in that it argues that deviance is a choice and a political act made in response to the inequities of capitalist societies. Based upon Marxist views of capitalism, Taylor, Walton, and Young, argued that oppressed groups, such as the working class, women, and minorities, may take action against the dominant, capitalist culture in order to counteract that culture's social, economic, and political power (1973). The dominant culture then labels these actions as criminal in order to maintain its power. In other words, under critical criminology, what constitutes criminal behavior is contingent upon social and historical context, meaning that the definition of criminal behavior can vary over time in relation to the interests of the

dominant group. Critics of critical criminology argue that it romanticizes violent, disruptive, and harmful acts and that it has little interest in the realities of crime.

Left Realism Criminology

Although "left realism criminology" developed out of the theoretical framework of critical criminology, it focuses upon realistic approaches to crime. By studying crime victims, left realists focus on the marginalization or powerlessness of both the victims and the perpetrators of crime. Furthermore, relative to most members of society, these individuals are deprived of financial, social, and political resources. Left realists, therefore, advocate crime interventions that create a more egalitarian relationship between the police and the public. One of left realism's contributions to criminology has been the expansion of the basic traditional triangle view of crime as involving an offender, a victim, and the state, by adding the public or a civil society to create the square of crime. Conceptually, public attitudes and policies are brought into crime analysis in addition to law enforcement agencies.

Right Realism Criminology

"Right realism" criminological theory developed out of the rational choice and social control theories of crime. Its focus is less theoretical and more oriented towards the prevention and control of crime from a conservative "law and order" perspective. Basically, right realism advocates believe that crime is a choice and that the solution to crime is to take steps to prevent situations in which criminal conduct can occur. Through educational programs and sign postings, individuals are forewarned that should they choose to engage in criminal conduct, the consequences will be swift, harsh, and long lasting. Situational crime prevention also advocates for increased police presence, neighborhood watches, improved street lighting, alarm systems, and other measures that make committing a crime and getting away with it more difficult.

Applications

The Mafia

Traditional views of organized crime have long centered on the Italian criminal societies known as the Mafia. Formed in Italy as underground re-

sistance groups that fought against invading and exploiting armies, these secret societies offered vigilante justice to protect its members' families and friends. A member was called a "Man of Honor," because he was able to disrupt the invading forces' efforts, steal their assets, and, if necessary, die before informing on his society. Sicilians, in particular, were the most clannish and developed into the Mafia in the mid-1800s to "unify the Sicilian peasants against their enemies" (FBI, n.d.e, ¶ 12). By the the mid-20th century, the Mafia had "infiltrated the social and economic fabric of Italy and now impact the world (FBI, n.d.e, ¶ 1).

By the 1920s, thousands of Sicilian organized crime members had immigrated to the United States and formed La Cosa Nostra or the American Mafia. They found a criminal haven in America at that time due to the passage of the Volstead Act of 1920, otherwise known as Prohibition, which banned the sale of alcohol in the country. Highly organized bootlegging rings moved alcohol throughout the country through loose criminal alliances. Gangland killings and gang wars were common as the various groups fought for influence and territory. Also common was the prosecution of high ranking political figures, judges, and law enforcement personnel who aided the Mafia in their criminal enterprises (Organized Crime, 2008).

Prohibition was repealed in 1933 and the Mafia turned to labor prostitution, racketeering, gambling, and narcotics trafficking. Labor racketeering is "the domination, manipulation, and control of a labor movement in order to affect related businesses and industries" (FBI, n.d.e ¶ 63). In the past, the Mafia has engaged in labor racketeering by controlling the major labor unions in the building and service industries around large cities like New York, so that which companies obtain contracts involving cement, building materials, garbage disposal, construction, highway development, electricity, and plumbing are largely determined by the Mafia, which expects payments for its influence. In order to influence the public bidding processes, Mafia bosses need highly placed public officials on their payroll to rig the bids towards the Mafia providers. In addition to the increased labor and materials costs of these projects, the Mafia also controls the billions of dollars in the pension, welfare, and health funds of construction union members.

The FBI estimates that the four Italian Mafia groups currently active in the United States have over 25,000 members and 250,000 associates world-

wide. Approximately 3,000 members are working throughout the United States in major urban centers like New York, southern New Jersey, and Philadelphia. Current estimates of the Italian Mafia's worldwide profits are \$100 billion annually (FBI, n.d.e).

By the early 1950s, federal investigations into organized crime revealed that many of the top Mob officials had taken control of legitimate businesses and seemingly distanced themselves from daily criminal operations. With wealth, political influence and apparent respectability, these Mafia officials gained an even greater hold over American criminal enterprises. Today they are similar to any other multinational corporate structure, with their illegal commodities and services laundered through legitimate businesses. In addition to traditional criminal activities, today's crimes include the sale of fake telephone cards, identity fraud, stock swindles, and online extortion.

International Organized Crime

In the last two decades, organized crime has taken on new significance internationally and within the United States. One factor has been an increased mobility, both in physical space and cyberspace (Berry, 2003, p. 1). This has permitted criminal organizations from around the world to infiltrate American business interests and to transfer funds electronically before they are detected. The second factor has to do with the loosening of restrictions on the transfer of money internationally.

Up until the late 1980s, governmental restraints restricted the movement of large sums of money internationally. Corporations had lobbied for less regulation, arguing "that they needed to have money around the world faster and in much greater quantities in order to take full advantage of its value as they expanded global operations" (Glenny, 2008, p. 172). In the late 1980s, the governments of Ronald Reagan in the United States, and Margaret Thatcher in the United Kingdom, "lifted the bureaucratic barriers that blocked the free movement of capital" and "established only primitive mechanisms to regulate this massive surge in the movement of capital" (Glenny, 2008, p. 172). With the combination of technology and deregulation, organized crime has become a powerful force both internationally and within the United States.

Eurasian Organized Crime

Another factor that has influenced organized crime in the United States has been the breakdown of the former Soviet Union around 1991. Called "Eurasian crime" by the FBI, it was initially organized to profit from the Soviet prison system. When the Soviet Union collapsed, crime leaders and corrupt government officials combined to take control of the industries and natural resources that were being privatized. With this huge infusion of wealth and the legitimate means of laundering money, Eurasian crime has gained the resources to destabilize emerging political institutions that have access to the former Soviet Union's nuclear weapons caches (FBI, n.d.d). Within the United States, Eurasian organized crime involves healthcare fraud, drug trafficking, auto theft, money laundering, extortion, securities and investment fraud, the interstate transportation of stolen property, and prostitution. Like many of their organized crime counterparts, the Eurasian group is also involved in "human trafficking," which pertains to two categories: the "buying and selling of women and children for illegal labor and for the sex trade;" and the "movement of illegal immigrants through or into countries without fulfilling the documentation requirements of those countries" (Berry, 2003, p. 2).

Asian Organized Crime

Since the early 1990s, Asian organized crime has been active in the United States as well. Early Chinese-American immigrants started social groups, known as "tongs," which eventually evolved into criminal operations. The FBI states that the most dominant groups have ties to China, Korea, Japan, Thailand, the Philippines, Cambodia, Laos, and Vietnam, although all of them have extensive international influence. Situated in more than 50 large metropolitan areas across the United States, these Asian criminal enterprises also use local businesses and large corporations to hide their criminal activities. In addition to traditional racketeering activities associated with organized crime, the Asian groups also "smuggle aliens; traffic heroin and methamphetamine; commit financial frauds; steal autos and computer chips; counterfeit computer and clothing products; and launder money" (FBI, n.d.c, ¶ 6).

African Organized Crime

Few organized crime groups have benefited more from communication technology and the globalization of world economies than the African criminal enterprises that have been developing since the 1980s. Moving into the world markets, these formerly local and regional crime groups have flourished in countries like Nigeria, Ghana, and Liberia. Nigerian criminal enterprises in particular have committed massive financial fraud throughout the world and the United States. The cost to the United States alone is estimated at between \$1 billion and \$2 billion annually. Additionally, "large populations of ethnic Nigerians in India, Pakistan, and Thailand have given these enterprises direct access to 90% of the world's heroin production" (FBI, n.d.a, ¶5). As well as typical organized crime activities, the FBI focuses on "insurance fraud involving auto accidents; healthcare billing schemes; life insurance schemes; bank, check, and credit card fraud; advance-fee schemes known as 4-1-9 letters; and document fraud to develop false identities" (FBI, n.d.a, ¶7). Since the development of e-mail, the fax machine, and the Internet, their crimes have become more profitable and more prevalent.

Viewpoints

Since organized crime in a global enterprise, the United States government is interested in countries that are hospitable to these enterprises. Berry and her colleagues argue that there are several common characteristics of such governments that provide favorable conditions for the survival and expansion of organized crime, including, "official corruption, incomplete or weak legislation, poor enforcement of existing laws, non-transparent financial institutions, unfavorable economic conditions, lack of respect for the rule of law in society, and poorly guarded national boundaries" (2003, p. 1). In their report, Berry and her colleagues discuss in detail the various countries around the world in relation to organized crime and the policy issues raised by these situations (2003).

Because of their proximity to the U.S., two countries cited by Berry and her colleagues are of significant interest: Mexico and Canada (2003). Both are staging points for bringing illegal narcotics and people into American borders. Canada, in particular, is cited as a troublesome source of terrorist entry into the U.S. (p. 143). While Canada is applauded in the report for its efforts to protect human rights, some of these efforts have added to the difficulties of policing the border between Canada and the U.S.. According to the authors, Canada serves as a base for terrorist operations and as a

transit country because it has a "generous social-welfare system, lax immigration laws, infrequent prosecutions, light sentencing, and long borders and coastlines" (p. 146). After the 9/11 terrorist attacks in New York City, however, the Canadian government enacted the Immigration and Refugee Protection Act to heighten border security with the United States by increasing immigrant screening, instituting new criminal charges and penalties for suspected terrorists, shortening the appeal process, and increasing police arrest powers (p. 146).

Terrorism

Although beyond the scope of this article, it is important to add terrorism to the definition of organized crime. Terrorism is coercion through violence, and often is recognized after a given terrorist event when the perpetrators articulate that they committed the act and give their reasons for doing so. Elements of terrorism include violence executed for a political reason with the intent to maximize psychological fear by deliberating targeting non-combatant civilians. Terrorists often disguise themselves as non-combatants in order to escape initial detection and to increase the likelihood of harm to civilians. Some of the organized crime discussed throughout this article is conducted in order to obtain weapons or funding for terrorist efforts. From the perspective of terrorists, their motivations justify their extreme actions. Others would argue that no political, social, economic, or religious motivation is sufficient to excuse these devastating acts of violence.

Bibliography

- Berry, L., Curtis, G., Gibbs, J., Hudson, R., Karacan, T., Kollars, N., & Miro, R. (2003). Nations hospitable to organized crime and terrorism. Washington, D.C.: The Library of Congress, Federal Research Division. Retrieved August 11, 2008 from:www.loc.gov/rr/frd/pdf-files/Nats_Hospitable.pdf.
- Glenny, M. (2008). McMafia: A journey through the global criminal world. New York: Alfred Knopf.
- Green, S. P. (2006). The meaning of white-collar crime. In Lying, cheating, and stealing: A moral theory of white-collar crime. Oxford: Oxford University Press. Retrieved July 29, 2008 from: www.oup.co.uk/pdf/0-19-926858-4.pdf
- Federal Bureau of Investigation. (n.d.a). Organized crime: African criminal enterprises. Retrieved August 11, 2008 from: http://www.fbi.gov/hq/cid/orgcrime/africancrim. htm

- Federal Bureau of Investigation. (n.d.b). Organized crime: About organized crime. Retrieved August 11, 2008 from: http://www.fbi.gov/hq/cid/orgcrime/ocshome.htm
- Federal Bureau of Investigation. (n.d.c). Organized crime: Asian criminal enterprises. Retrieved August 11, 2008 from: http://www.fbi.gov/hq/cid/orgcrime/asiancrim. htm Federal Bureau of Investigation. (n.d.d). Organized crime: Eurasian organized crime. Retrieved August 11, 2008 from: http://www.fbi.gov/hq/cid/orgcrime/eocindex.htm
- Federal Bureau of Investigation. (n.d.e). Organized crime: Italian organized crime. Retrieved August 11, 2008 from: http://www.fbi.gov/hq/cid/orgcrime/lcnindex.htm
 - Federal Bureau of Investigation. (n.d.g). Organized crime: Sports bribery program. Retrieved August 11, 2008 from: http://www.fbi.gov/hq/cid/orgcrime/lcn/sports. htm
- Federal Bureau of Investigation. (1989). White collar crime: A report to the public. Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office.
- Organized crime. (2008). The Columbia encyclopedia. (6th ed.). New York: Columbia University Press.
- Ruggiero, V. (2007). It's the economy, stupid! Classifying power crimes. International Journal of Sociology and Law, 35(4), 163-177.
- Spalek, B. (2001). White-collar crime victims and the issue of trust. British criminology conference: Selected proceedings. 4.
- White-collar crime. (2008). West's encyclopedia of American law. (2nd Ed.). The Gale Group. Retrieved July 30, 2008 from: http://legal-dictionary.thefreedictionary.com/White-collar+crime.
- Wong, K. (2005). From white-collar crime to organizational crime: An intellectual history. Murdoch University Electronic Journal Of Law. Australia. Retrieved July 29, 2008 from: http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/journals/MurUEJL/2005/14.html

Suggested Reading

- Abadinsky, H. (2006). Organized crime. Florence, KY: Wadsworth.
- Combs, C. (2008). Terrorism in the 21st century. (5th ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prenctice-Hall.
- Hoffman, B. (2006). Inside terrorism. New York: Columbia University Press.
- International Association for the Study of Organized Crime. (n.d.). Retrieved July 30, 2008 from: www.iasoc.net.
- Lyman, M., & Potter, G. (2006). Organized crime. (4th ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Martin, G. (2006). Understanding terrorism: Challenges, perspectives, and issues. (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Michigan State University Libraries. Criminal justice resources: Organized crime. www. lib.msu.edu/harris23/crimjust/orgcrime.htm.
- Nathanson Centre on Transnational Human Rights, Crime and Security. (n.d.). Retrieved July 30, 2008 from: www.yorku.ca/nathanson/default.htm.
- Siegel, D., & Nelen, H. (Eds.). (2008). Organized crime: Culture, markets, and policies. New York: Springer Science+Business Media.
- Siegel, D., van de Bunt, H., & Zaitch, D. (Eds.). (2003). Global organized crime: Trends and developments. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer.
- White, J. (2008). Terrorism and homeland security: An introduction. (6th ed.). Florence, KY: Wadsworth.

Overview of Hate Crimes

Matt Donnelly

Overview

Hate crimes are a specific form of crime in which a person or group is verbally and/or physically attacked because of their gender, sexual orientation, religion, politics, ethnicity, disability or age. Sociologists have identified several ways in which hate can be manifested. These include physical attacks; property damage; bullying tactics; insults; and threatening phone calls, emails, text messages, instant messages or letters.

History of Hate Crimes

While hate crimes have received considerable attention in recent decades, the phenomenon is hardly new. One especially grievous example of hate crimes have been those perpetrated against the Jews since even before the time of Christ, and culminating in the Holocaust during World War II, which is perhaps the greatest hate crime in human history. Other well-known examples of hate crimes include genocides in Armenia, Bosnia, Rwanda and Sudan; cross burnings, lynchings and other actions of the Ku Klux Klan against African Americans in the United States; and threats and violence against gays and lesbians throughout the world.

In the 21st century, as migration patterns are resulting in a world that is more racially, ethnically, culturally, socially and religiously mixed than its has ever been, hate crimes – crimes against the Other – have attracted con-

siderable public attention. In some ways old hatreds have been given new life. "By 2003, there were more anti-Jewish hate attacks in European countries than at any time since World War II" (Levin, 2007, p. 81).

Researchers have noted that the concept of a hate crime presupposes a community that is morally outraged at prejudice of all kinds, and any particularly prejudicial attitudes and actions toward presumptive victim groups. According to Mason (2007), hate crime

. . . has a heavy investment in the capacity of its victim groups to convince the general public that they have been unjustly harmed. The process by which victim status is accorded to a given group is thus far from objective. Rather, it is the product of 'collective definitions that have been developed by watchdog organisations' and 'contested in legal and public arenas' (Jenness & Broad, 1997, p. 173) (Mason, 2007, p. 265).

Hate Crimes in the United States

Hate crimes in the United States have deep roots in American history and culture. As the U.S. Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) notes,

Crimes of hatred and prejudice—from lynchings to cross burnings to vandalism of synagogues—are a sad fact of American history, but the term "hate crime" did not enter the nation's vocabulary until the 1980s, when emerging hate groups like the Skinheads launched a wave of bias-related crime ("Hate Crime," 2008b).

In response to these recent and disturbing trends, 45 states have passed hate crime laws. All these states define a hate crime as a criminal act perpetrated due to the victim's race, religion, and ethnicity, while some also include sexual orientation, gender and disability as criteria for hate crimes. Only Arkansas, Georgia, Indiana, South Carolina and Wyoming do not have hate crime statutes on their books, though hate crimes in those states are prosecuted under existing statues covering murder, theft, harassment and assault.

According to the latest FBI Hate Crime Statistics, (2007) there were 7,222 "single-bias" criminal hate crime incidents involving 9,080 offenses and

9,652 victims (defined as "a person, business, institution, or society as a whole") in 2006. An FBI analysis of those incidents revealed the following:

Table 1: Some 2006 Hate Crime Statistics

Motivation	Percentage	Most impacted group
Racial bias	51.8%	African Americans
Religious bias	18.9%	Jews
Sexual-orientation bias	15.5%	Male homosexuals
Ethnicity/national origins bias	12.7%	Hispanics
Disability bias	1%	Mentally disabled

(from "Hate Crime Statistics," 2007, http://www.fbi.gov/ucr/hc2006/index.html)

Apart from the FBI statistics, the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission reported a 24 percent increase in racial harassment reports between 2006 and 2007. The figure is now double what it was in 1991 (Bello, 2008, p. 3a).

Hate Crimes Against Muslims after September 11, 2001

The attacks of September 11, 2001, sent shockwaves through American society. Coordinated terrorist attacks in New York City and Washington, D.C. brought home to many Americans that the United States was not immune to being attacked on its own soil. Because the attacks were carried out exclusively by self-professed Muslims, the attacks also shined a spotlight, perhaps for the first time, on the 2.35 million Muslims living in the United States (Pew Research Center, 2007, pp. 9-10), as well as on college and university students from Muslim-majority nations studying in the United States.

Researchers have found that the expected spike in anti-Muslim hate crime did occur in the immediate aftermath of the September 11 attacks. As one team of researchers noted, "with over 400 cases of anti-Islamic hate crime occurring nationally in the weeks after 9/11, in-group and out-group

social psychology may have been amplified by the terrorist events" (Byers & Jones, 2007, p. 53).

These researchers also found, however, that the anti-Muslim hate crimes followed a specific pattern of intensity: "The time series analysis also showed that the effect of 9/11 largely dissipated within eight days of September 11. That is, the daily reports of anti-Islamic hate crimes began to level off yet did not return, on average, to the lower levels prior to 9/11" (Byers & Jones, 2007, pp. 53-54). Most curiously, given the locations of the terrorist attacks, "New York City and Washington, DC, anti-Islamic hate crime reports are essentially non-existent (DC did have one report). With the exception of Boston, MA, all other locations on the list of top 10 cities with anti-Islamic hate crime reports in 2001 were some distance from both NYC and DC" (Byers & Jones, 2007, p. 54).

In seeking to explain the spike in anti-Muslim hate crimes more generally, the researchers noted the pivotal role played by political, religious and community leaders, "Some of this effect may be accounted for by pleas in the media from Islamic and political leaders calling for calm and tolerance" (Byers & Jones, 2007, pp. 53-54).

As for the somewhat counterintuitive finding that anti-Muslim hate crimes were markedly absent from police blotters in New York City and Washington, D.C., the research team suggested that this

... could be accounted for by the leveling of social distinctions as shown by previous researchers (Blocker, Rochford, & Sherkat, 1991; Gonzolas-Garcia & Soriano-Parra, 1989; Neal, 1984; Turkel, 2002). In short, and consistent with the theory of in-group and out-group differences, such distinctions may have become less important given the collective community level trauma and the "leveling of social distinctions" (Quarantelli & Dynes, 1976) (Byers & Jones, 2007, p. 54).

In other words, the trauma of the attacks drew people in New York and Washington, D.C. together rather than driving them apart.

An extensive survey of Muslim Americans conducted by the Pew Research Center five years after the September 11 attacks found that "[a] quarter of Muslim Americans say they have been the victim of discrimination in the United States, while 73% say they have never experienced discrimination while living in this country" (Pew Research Center, 2007, p. 4).

Illegal Immigration & Anti-Hispanic Hate Crimes

One of the most controversial social and political issues in the United States at the turn of the 21st century involves illegal immigrants, also known as undocumented workers. Should they be allowed to stay in the country, and under what conditions? Could they be stopped from coming to America altogether? The vast majority of illegal immigrants come from Mexico and elsewhere in Latin and Central America (Passel, 2005, p. 2), and a considerable portion of the American public believes there are good moral and economic grounds for taking a tougher stand against these migrants. While much of the opposition to illegal immigration is conducted within legal boundaries and doesn't spill over into hatred and violence, hateful attitudes and actions have emerged.

FBI statistics show that the number of hate crimes perpetrated against Hispanics rose 25 percent between 2004 and 2008. Some, such as the Hispanic civil rights group the National Council of La Raza, attribute the increase to a spike in media coverage of illegal immigration (Ramirez, 2008, p. 14). The Anti-Defamation League agrees; Deborah Lauter, its civil rights director adds, "When we saw the rhetoric shift from a legitimate debate to one where immigrants were dehumanized, we believe it inspired extremists and [some] mainstream Americans to act" (as cited in Ramirez, 2008, p. 14).

Further Insights

Underreporting of Hate Crimes

The FBI data cited earlier was collected by the FBI in compliance with the 1990 Hate Crime Statistics Act. However, according to hate crimes watchdog organizations such as the Anti-Defamation League, there is evidence that the number of annual hate crimes in the United States may be underreported:

In 2006, 12,620 law enforcement agencies in the United States participated in this data collection effort, compared to 12,417 in 2005. Yet, only 16.7% of participating agencies reported even a

single hate crime – and almost 5,000 police departments across the country did not participate in the FBI reporting program at all ("FBI Report Shows," 2007, par. 7).

Sociologists reviewing the FBI statistics have shown that law enforcement agencies in the Northeast and West have been more forthcoming with hate crime data than their counterparts in the South and Midwest (McVeigh, 2003; cited in King, 2007, pp. 189-190). "Hate crime reporting appears particularly scant in the historic 'Black Belt' states. For example, only one law enforcement agency in Alabama and Mississippi combined submitted a hate crime incident report in 2000 (U.S. Department of Justice 2000: Table 12)" (cited in King, 2007, p.190).

Upward & Downward Law

How can this discrepancy be explained? Scholars note, for example, that when it comes to prosecuting hate crimes perpetrated by whites against African Americans, very often the concepts of "upward law" (law enforced against a higher-ranking person) and "downward law" (law enforced against a lower-ranking person) apply. According to King (2007),

Disputes that largely entail majority group offenders and minority group victims, such as hate crimes (Messner et al. 2004), constitute "upward law" (Black 1976:21–2) and may thus elicit minimal law enforcement. The present research builds on Black's insight in conjunction with the group threat thesis as advanced in the areas of law enforcement (Jackson 1989), civil rights law (Vines 1964), and prejudice (Taylor 1998; Quillian 1996) to suggest that minority group size increases the use of law that adversely impacts minority groups but decreases the use of law aimed at protecting minorities (King, 2007, p. 190).

Jack Levin, a leading expert on hate crimes, suggests that the police also may not be seeing the distinctive marks of hate crimes:

The low police estimate [of hate crimes] probably reflects their lack of training in recognizing the criteria e.g., slurs and epithets, graffiti, membership in organized hate crime, location where previous hate attacks have occurred, propaganda, hate websites and CDs, and a perpetrator's record of committing hate crimes.

Also, police may see hate crimes committed by teenagers as merely childish pranks or hooliganism, deserving of some unofficial reprimand but nothing more. Some youngsters are given a slap on the wrist in the form of probation with no conditions—no community service, victim restitution, or education; others never get into police reports or the courts (Levin, 2007, p. 82).

Reasons for Committing Hate Crimes

Sociologists and others have been interested to learn the reasons underlying the perpetration of hate crimes, and considerable social science research has sought to unravel the mystery.

Several lines of evidence can be brought together. First is data collected by British researchers at the Institute of Education, University of London, indicating that hate crimes were most prevalent in areas with wide disparities in educational achievement, with proportionately few students grouped in the 'average' achievement category ("Educational Inequality," 2008).

It is also the case that about 95 percent of hate crimes are committed by individuals and small groups (Levin, 2007, p. 83), and not by organized groups such as the Ku Klux Klan. Levin gives an especially lucid explanation of these individuals and their motivations:

But hate comes right from the mainstream of a society. Most hatemongers are dabblers; they commit their offenses on a part-time basis as sort of a hobby. . . . More than half of all hate attacks are perpetrated for the thrill, for the excitement, for bragging rights with friends who think that hate and violence are pretty cool. These thrill hate crimes are typically carried out by teenagers or young adults who go out in groups of 3, 4, 5 or more looking to assault someone who is different. They are bored and idle, they are unsophisticated in terms of hate ideology; but when they bash the enemy, their vulnerable victims, they feel something they never felt before---a sense of their own superiority, a feeling of power, and dominance, and control (Levin, 2007, p. 83).

Others who commit hate crimes do so because they perceive other groups as a threat or because they desire to retaliate against previous hate crimes perpetrated against members of their own group (Levin, 2007, p. 84).

Preventing Hate Crimes

No single method has ever been effective against reducing the number of hate crimes. Experts note that it involves the coordinated efforts of law enforcement, the courts, community and religious leaders, educators and ordinary citizens to stem the tide of hate-inspired criminality. Each group has a role to play:

The Police

- Raise confidence in targeted communities that justice will be served
- Bring perpetrators of hate crimes to justice
- Educate young people about the serious costs of committing hate crimes
- Protect witnesses in hate crime cases

The Courts

- Enforce existing statutes against hate crimes
- Connect victims of hate crimes to social services
- Community & Religious Leaders
- Drive home the message that hate and violence are never the answer
- Help develop alternative and positive ways for the disenchanted and disenfranchised – those at risk of committing hate crimes – to connect with the diverse groups in their community
- Emphasize religious traditions that put a premium on love and tolerance

The School System

• Introducing anti-hate, pro-tolerance lessons and curricula in age-appropriate ways

- Remaining vigilant about outbreaks of hate-based activities among students
- Working with parents, community groups and others to provide counseling and positive activities for those students viewed as at-risk for committing hate crimes

Ordinary Citizens

- Reporting hate crimes to the police, even anonymously
- Encouraging friends that hate and violence aren't the answer to anything
- Not tolerating or encouraging hate-filled comments or discussions about various groups

(based on "Hate Crime," 2008a)

Sympathizers & Spectators

Levin notes that two groups in particular enable the spread of hate crimes: sympathizers and spectators. These two groups are:

. . . members of society whose behavior gives encouragement and support to those who are willing and able to commit a hate attack. Sympathizers repeat ethnic and racial jokes and epithets. In the process, they teach others, especially children, to hate. Spectators are essentially decent and honorable people. But they lack the courage to stand apart from the masses. They don't hate people who are different, but they do absolutely nothing to discourage hate from being expressed in criminal behavior (Levin, 2007, p. 84).

To address the problem of hate crimes in any sufficient way, these two groups must be re-educated.

For further information on effective ways to educate for tolerance and prevent hate crimes, see the Anti-Defamation League's How to Combat Bias and Hate Crimes: An ADL Blueprint for Action.

Viewpoints

Hate Crimes Legislation

There has been considerable debate and discussion surrounding the proposed Local Law Enforcement Hate Crime Prevention Act, which was first introduced in Congress in 1999, but has yet to pass and go to the President for his signature. This act is also known as the Matthew Shepard Act, after a gay college student who was tortured and killed in 1998 in an acknowledged act of anti-gay hatred.

The act is designed to expand the scope of federal hate crimes legislation, which has been on the books since 1969. In its 2007 form, the act would have given federal authorities more freedom to intervene in alleged hate crimes cases not pursued by state and local authorities, provided additional hate crimes funding to state and local law enforcement agencies, and added trans gendered individuals to the FBI's annual report on hate crimes statistics. According to the Anti-Defamation League (ADL), one of the leading supporters of the legislation,

The Local Law Enforcement Hate Crime Prevention Act is designed to expand the range of assistance federal authorities can provide state and local officials prosecuting hate crimes and, when appropriate, provide authority for federal officials to investigate and prosecute hate crimes in those circumstances where state and local officials cannot or will not act themselves (as cited in, "FBI Report," 2007)

Others argue that federal hate crimes legislation is unnecessary given existing criminal statutes. Daniel Troy of the American Enterprise Institute, in testimony to the House Judiciary Committee in 1999 posited that hate crime legislation is counterproductive:

The way a society gives voice to the need for justice, punishment, and vengeance is through the criminal law. If our criminal laws are not tough enough to satisfy our communal need for justice, by all means let us make them tougher. But we should not give greater legal effect to the grievances of one group over those of another. Crimes should be punished regardless of a victim's immutable characteristics (Troy, 2000, par. 3).

Still others also argue that federal hate crimes legislation "further balkanizes American society along racial and ethnic lines, building walls instead of bridges" and "punishes thought in a manner at odds with the First Amendment" (Troy, 2000). Some religious leaders have been concerned that religious statements critical of homosexuality could be construed as hate crimes under the Local Law Enforcement Hate Crime Prevention Act.

In response, the ADL argues that hate crimes are a special category of criminal activity that demands a specific legislative remedy because they threaten the very essence of a multicultural society:

Hate crimes demand a priority response because of their special emotional and psychological impact on the victim and the victim's community. The damage done by hate crimes cannot be measured solely in terms of physical injury or dollars and cents. Hate crimes may effectively intimidate other members of the victim's community, leaving them feeling isolated, vulnerable and unprotected by the law. By making members of minority communities fearful, angry and suspicious of other groups -- and of the power structure that is supposed to protect them -- these incidents can damage the fabric of our society and fragment communities ("Hate Crimes Laws," 2001, Introduction).

As of the 2007-2008 Congressional session, the Local Law Enforcement Hate Crime Prevention Act has yet to pass both houses of Congress and go to the President for his signature or veto.

Bibliography

Bello, M. (2007, Nov. 7). Feds accused of neglecting hate crimes. USA Today, Retrieved June 7, 2008, from EBSCO online database, Academic Search Premier http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=J0E021848535207&site=ehost-live.

. (2008, February 6). Racial harassment cases rise sharply. USA Today, p. 03A. Retrieved June 7, 2008, from EBSCO online database, Academic Search Premier http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=J0E410224675908&site=e host-live.

Byers, B., & Jones, J. (2007). The impact of the terrorist attacks of 9/11 on anti-Islamic hate crime. Journal of Ethnicity in Criminal Justice, 5(1), 43-56. Retrieved June 7, 2008, from EBSCO online database, Academic Search Premier http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=26003857&site=ehost-live.

- Educational inequality 'may be linked to violent crime' (2008, February 28). Institute of Education, the University of London. Retrieved June 7, 2008 from the Institute of Education: http://ioewebserver.ioe.ac.uk/ioe/cms/get.asp?cid=1397&1397_1=18536
- FBI report shows hate crimes still a major problem; ADL urges approval of legislation to aid law enforcement. (2007, Nov. 19). Retrieved June 8, 2008 from the Anti-Defamation League: http://www.adl.org/PresRele/HatCr_51/5180_51.htm.
- Hate crime (2008a). British Home Office. Retrieved June 7, 2008 from the British Home Office: http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/crime-victims/reducing-crime/hate-crime/
- Hate crime. (2008b). Retrieved June 7, 2008 from the Federal Bureau of Investigation: http://www.fbi.gov/hq/cid/civilrights/hate.htm
- Hate crimes laws (2001). Anti-Defamation League. Retrieved June 8, 2008 from the Anti-Defamation League: http://www.adl.org/99hatecrime/intro.asp.
- Hate crime statistics, 2006. (2007, November). Retrieved June 7, 2008 from the Federal Bureau of Investigation: http://www.fbi.gov/ucr/hc2006/index.html.
- How to combat bias and hate crimes: An ADL blueprint for action (n.d.). Anti-Defamation League. Retrieved June 7, 2008 from the Anti-Defamation League: http://www.adl.org/combating_hate/blueprint.asp
- King, R. (2007). The context of minority group threat: Race, institutions, and complying with hate crime law. Law & Society Review, 41(1), 189-224. Retrieved June 7, 2008, from EBSCO online database, Academic Search Premier http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=24150241&site=ehost-live.
- Levin, J. (2007). Hate crimes: Myths and realities. International Journal of Diversity in Organisations, Communities & Nations, 7(5), 81-85. Retrieved June 7, 2008, from EBSCO online database, SocINDEX with Full Text http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=31198171&site=ehost-live.
- Mason, G. (2007). Hate crime as a moral category: Lessons from the Snowtown case. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Criminology, 40(3), 249-271. Retrieved June 7, 2008, from EBSCO online database, http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=27541786&site=ehost-live.
- McVeigh, R., et al. (2003). Hate crime reporting as successful social movement outcome. American Sociological Review 68, pp. 843–67.
- Passel, J. S. (2005, June 14). Unauthorized migrants: Numbers and characteristics: Background briefing prepared for the Task Force on Immigration and America's Future. Washington, D.C.: Pew Hispanic Center. Retrieved May 10, 2008 from: http://pewhispanic.org/files/reports/46.pdf.
- Pew Research Center (2007, May 22). Muslim Americans: Middle Class and Mostly Mainstream Retrieved June 7, 2008 from Pew Research Center: http://pewresearch.org/pubs/483/muslim-americans.
- Ramirez, J. (2008). When hate becomes hurt. Newsweek, 151(10), 14-14. Retrieved June 7, 2008, from from EBSCO online database, Academic Search Premier http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=31166600&site=ehost-live.

Troy, D.E. (2000). Federal Hate Crimes Legislation. Testimony before the House Judiciary Committee, Washington, D.C., August 4, 1999. Retrieved June 7, 2008 from the American Enterprise Institute: http://www.aei.org/publications/pubID.17122,filter. all/pub_detail.asp.

Suggested Reading

- Collin, C. (2007, No. 12). Swedes on edge of culture clash. The Washington Times. Retrieved June 7, 2008, from EBSCO online database, Regional Business News http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=bwh&AN=4KB520071112032456000 &site=ehost-live
- Harlow, C.W. (2005). Hate Crime Reported by Victims and Police. Washington DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics.
- Hentoff, N. (2007, May 28). Prosecuting hate crimes. Washington Times, The (DC), Retrieved June 7, 2008, from EBSCO online database, Regional Business News http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=bwh&AN=4KB520070528091327001 &site=ehost-live.
- Home-grown Nazis. (2007). Economist, 384 (8546). 58. Retrieved June 7, 2008, from EBSCO online database, Academic Search Premier http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=26608483&site=ehost-live.
- Knox, G., & Etter, G. (2008). Hate crimes and extremist gangs. Peotone, III.: New Chicago School Press.
- Kennedy, A. (2007). The elephant in the room. (cover story). Counseling Today, 50(6), pp. 1, 24-25.
 Retrieved June 7, 2008, from EBSCO online database, Education Research Complete http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ehh&AN=277373 29&site=ehost-live.
- Levin, J., & McDevitt, J. (1993). Hate Crimes: The Rising Tide of Bigotry and Bloodshed. New York: Plenum.
- Levin, J., & McDevitt, J. (2002). Hate Crimes Revisited: America's War on Those Who Are Different. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Levin, J. & Rabrenovic, G. (2004). Why We Hate. New York: Prometheus Books.
- Levin, J. (2007). The Violence of Hate. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Page, C. (2007). Hate crime increase is not what some make it out to be. Caribbean Business, 35(47) 28. Retrieved June 7, 2008, from EBSCO online database, Business Source Premier http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=27779332&site=e host-live.

Sexual Assault & Rape

Carolyn Sprague

Overview

Sexual violence is a major social and public health problem in the United States. The statistics, according to the National Violence against Women Survey (NVAWS), state that 1 in 6 women and 1 in 33 men reports having experienced an attempted or completed rape at some point in time (Basile, Lang, Bartenfeld, & Clinton-Sherrod, 2005). While men can be victims of sexual assault, the overwhelming majority of victims are women who have been victimized by men (Franiuk, 2007).

Rape is defined as penetration or attempted penetration, but the definition of sexual assault is broader. According to the Center for Disease Control (CDC), sexual assault encompasses the following (2008):

- Completed or attempted penetration;
- Abusive sexual contact without penetration;
- Non-contact sexual abuse (harassment and voyeurism).

The definition also extends to acts of rape perpetrated during war, sex trafficking and female genital mutilation (Basile et al., 2005). This essay is limited to a discussion of the three bulleted points above.

In most states, the legal definition of 1st or 2nd degree sexual assault involves non-consensual sexual contact and/or intercourse (Franiuk, 2007). Consent is a critical factor when determining if sexual assault has occurred. If a victim doesn't consent to engaging in sexual activity with another individual, then the act is legally defined as sexual assault. Nonconsent or ambiguous consent cannot be construed as affirmative consent. Victims of sexual assault may not be able to give consent due to age, illness or impairment or may be intimidated through physical violence or threats (Basile et al., 2005) and therefore afraid to say no.

Historically, rapes and sexual assaults were believed to be perpetrated against women by strangers, but current data shows that women are much more likely to be sexually assaulted by men with whom they are acquainted. In fact, estimates suggest that 82% of all victims of sexual assault know their assailant (Basile et al., 2005).

At Risk Populations

The majority of first time rape victims are young; 71% of all rapes occur before the victim reaches the age of 18. Young women between the ages of 16 and 24 are the most at risk of being raped (Feminist Majority Foundation, 2005).

According to Franiuk (2007), "although women are susceptible in almost any situation, a college campus has unique elements that contribute to higher rates of sexual assault than non-college locations" (p. 104). College women report that they "often feel emotionally and psychologically coerced into sex"; the pressure is not always physical (Feminist Majority Foundation, 2005). A 1987 study of 3000 (college) women surveyed indicated that more than 50% reported being sexually victimized and 15% were victims of rape. The statistics were re-affirmed by subsequent 1997 and 2006 studies (Franiuk, 2007).

Colleges have higher rates of sexual assault than non-college settings because of the prevalence of (Franiuk, 2007):

- Alcohol;
- Men and women living in close proximity;
- Increased exposure to others having sex.

Many trends are apparent and disturbing when it comes to sexual assault:

- Women are far less likely to report instances of assault if the assailant is known to them. Since only 15% of rapes are committed by strangers, this statistic is likely to indicate that only a small number of sexual assaults actually get reported;
- Intoxication clouds judgment and causes uncertainty about what has actually happened;
- Women and men have different ideas about what constitutes "consent;"
- Women may subscribe to sexual scripts that suggest women are prey while men are predators "this is how sex is supposed to be-maybe it wasn't assault;"
- College students lack knowledge about sexual assault and its prevalence on campus (Franiuk, 2007).

Responding to Sexual Assault through Education

Researchers and sociologist believe that heightened awareness and education for both men and women can reduce the instances of sexual assault at colleges. One such study provided students with a number of different scenarios and asked the students to decide which of the situations constituted sexual assault. Student perceptions of scenarios revealed that many young people do not have an accurate picture (or definition) of what constitutes sexual assault. In a large number of cases, incidents that met the legal definition of rape or sexual assault went unreported simply because the young women involved did not perceived the incident as a sexual assault.

Knowing that the instances are likely to be significantly under-reported it is imperative to be able to identify which scenarios are actually sexual assault and discuss the factors that make the situations less clear (Franiuk, 2007).

"Discussing and Defining Sexual Assault: A Classroom Activity" used the following methodology to help raise awareness of sexual assault and clarify its definition. Students were required to complete the following steps (Franiuk, 2007):

- Define sexual assault (student's perception);
- Read scenarios and determine if they constitute sexual assault;
- Discuss with classmates and instructor;
- Define sexual assault post discussion armed with the understanding of what defines "sexual assault" and "consent."

After students read and evaluated eight scenarios about what constitutes sexual assault, they discussed the scenarios with others. Students did not accurately label some of the situations as sexual assault for the following reasons (Franiuk, 2007):

- The victim didn't explicitly give consent, but was ambiguous "I don't know if I want to have sex";
- Intimidation and pressure were misconstrued by students and need to be clarified;
- One victim drank too much and so was labeled by students as "responsible' for the assault: "She should have been more responsible";
- Gender of the aggressor confused some students woman pressured boyfriend to have sex.

Alcohol & Sexual Assault

A report from the United Kingdom documents the role that alcohol plays in increasing the chance of sexual assault and rape. While this study didn't focus specifically on college students, it did study the overall link between alcohol use and sexual assault. 81% of reported sexual assaults involved alcohol and amounts were significant enough to cause: Disorientation, memory loss and even loss of consciousness. In 60% of the cases, the amount of alcohol was large enough to "make it questionable whether the victim would have been able to even give consent" (French, Beynon,& Delaforce, 2007).

The voluntary use of alcohol is linked to an increased risk of being victimized by sexual assault by reducing inhibitions, affecting judgment decisions and generally putting the potential victim at great risk for assault.

There's increased concern about drug facilitated sexual assault (DFSA); just how prevalent the clandestine use of these drugs is not well documented. One challenge to reporting is that these drugs may cause memory loss or amnesia which may only serve to prevent or delay reporting of assault. Any delay also puts at risk the collection of evidence and makes confirmation and prosecution of assault even harder (French et al., 2007).

In the U.S., men are being informed of the legal definition of rape as part of rape prevention programs. "It is a felony for a man to have sex with a woman who's too intoxicated to give consent" (Choate, 2003) but in many cases neither men nor women define this scenario as rape. Prevention needs to focus on sex and relationship education to inform both men and women of what their responsibilities are while participating in healthy relationships (French et al., 2007).

Sexual assault and rape are enormous social and public health problems in the U.S and also in the UK. In 1994, Congress passed the Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) to draw attention to the impact that sexual violence has on society and to emphasize prevention. Successful prevention and education programs designed to reduce sexual assault provide many benefits, including: Providing individuals in the community with support and reducing the burden on community social services, health care and law enforcement agencies (Basile et al., 2005).

Applications

Gender Role Perceptions

Gender role perceptions and behaviors are formed from developmental processes and social prescriptions (Simonson & Sublich, 1999). When men and women interact on a sexual level, there are certain attributes that are viewed as traditional gender traits.

On a societal level, men are viewed favorably when they act dominant, powerful and sexually aggressive. When it comes to sexual interactions, society prefers to envision women as passive, fragile and submissive (Simonson & Sublich, 1999). Substantial research has focused on how gender role affects perceptions of different sexual assault and rape scenarios. This section discusses how gender roles and sex role learning con-

tribute to the perpetuation of sexual assault and also shed light on some ways that perceptions can be changed through education.

Sociologists are studying how gender role and sex role learning influence the perceptions that men and women have about different rape scenarios. Of particular interest to sociologists is the "relationship" that exists between the victim and perpetrator in a sexual assault and how that relationship affects rape perceptions.

Research supports the theory that men and women view sexual expectations within social interactions in very different ways. Researchers surveyed men and women about how they felt about different scenarios between the sexes. The outcome of each scenario was sexual intercourse; what differed was the type and level of relationship that the victim and perpetrator had in each scenario. Relationships were classified as the following: Stranger, acquaintance, dating or marital (Simonson & Sublich, 1999). Observers were asked to rate their perception of the interaction using the four relationship types. Researchers found that perceptions of what constituted rape was highly dependent on how the observer perceived the relationship between the victim and perpetrator. The closer the relationship, the less likely observers were to see the sex act as rape.

Women who were surveyed for the study tended to view the world through a more egalitarian lens and thus were less likely to minimize the severity of the rape. Women's more liberal view on gender roles was largely aligned with their egalitarian attitudes. Because women are traditionally in less powerful roles than men, they may have more to gain from an egalitarian society than men do. When confronted with a rape scenario, women were more likely to consider a rape a rape (Ben-David & Schneider, 2005). Men were seen a having a greater self-interest in defining rape more narrowly than women; they were also quicker to minimize the severity of a rape, the affect on the victim and how severe the punishment should be (Ben-David & Schneider, 2005).

Research studies also concluded that those who hold less traditional gender-role stereotypes saw rape scenarios (overall) as more serious and were less likely to ascribe blame to the victim. These views were (not surprisingly the opposite) of individuals who hold more traditional gender-role stereotypes (Simonsen & Sublich, 1999). Gender roles are the behaviors

and attitudes that are expected from individuals based on their biological sex and the learned socialization process (Ben-David & Schneider, 2005). Society has prescribed beliefs about the way that men and women should act in given roles. The role that will be discussed in this context is the one that involves sexual interaction between men and women.

One theory about rape which has gained some credence views rape as an extreme extension of traditional gender roles and associated male-female sexual interaction rather than as a result of deviant or pathological behavior (Brownmiller, 1975; Simonsen & Sublich, 1999; Ben-David & Schneider, 2005). "Rape [can be seen] as a mechanism of social control, [which has an] intimidating effect on all women, not just on victims, and the threat of rape [reinforces] traditional attitudes concerning gender roles and women's rights" (Ben-David & Schneider, 2005).

The more intimate the association between the victim and the assailant, the less responsibility was attributed to the perpetrator, and the less he was seen as responsible for violating the victim's rights. Marital rape was seen as the least serious and was often not viewed as rape at all. Marital rape is not recognized as a crime in a number of states; again supporting the perception that rape within a marriage is not widely accepted as being possible.

Judicial systems only add to the ambivalence within our society toward victims of sexual assault. Leniency is given to perpetrators who have a known prior relationship with the victim (Ben-David & Schneider, 2005). In other words, when the victim knows her assailant, her claims of rape are diminished. Sociologists question these perceptions by suggesting that a violent assault by a person close to the victim might be considered more heinous because of the "betrayal of trust." Another perception (rape myth) purports that sexually experienced women aren't really damaged by rape - particularly if the victim has had prior sexual relations with the assailant. These perceptions essentially view "rape and consensual sex as the same" (Ben-David & Schneider, 2005). Rape victims do not see rape and consensual sex as equal.

Disclosure of Assault

Community sensitivity around the topic of sexual violence [is] a significant barrier to implementing the rape prevention education (RPE) programs

(Basile et al., 2005). Most women who are sexually assaulted do not report the attack to the police or other formal agencies; but statistics show that over 50% do reveal the incident to someone (usually a friend or family member). Many women don't tell anyone about their ordeal because they are afraid that no one will believe them, they want to protect their privacy, or they are afraid that they will be blamed for the assault (Feminist Majority Foundation, 2005).

Rape survivors suffer increased psychological symptoms including: Anxiety, PTSD, depression and low self esteem; these symptoms may last for years. While statistics vary, it is well documented that many women (50-75%) eventually disclose experiences of sexual assault and relatively few (3-10%) reveal sexual assault to formal support sources (Starzynski, Ullman, Townsend, Long, & Long, 2007).

There's evidence that women who received initial positive support reactions from a source (formal or informal) are more likely to disclose sexual assaults to a formal support network. Negative reactions from any support source generally cause women to stop talking (Starzynski et.al, 2007). Many women report that they are hesitant to report their ordeal because they anticipate negative reactions from formal support networks. "Lack of sensitivity and education among professionals result in a 'second rape'... failure to receive adequate support can be devastating" (Russell & Davis, 2007).

Victims of stranger rapes are more likely to report sexual assaults and seek professional help and in general, victims seek help sooner. Research also shows that women who experience other stereotypical sexual assaults are more likely to report the assault to formal support services. Besides rape by strangers, women are also more likely to report an assault that involves violence, bodily injury, assault with a weapon, and greater victim resistance (Starzynski et.al, 2007)

It is well documented that women who are assaulted by acquaintances are not as likely to report the incident. However, "acquaintance rape victims still experience similar psychological distress as those who are victims of stranger rape" (Starzynski et.al, 2007). When compared to other crime victims, rape survivors appear to suffer more negative psychological

outcomes which include: Depression, sexual dysfunction, substance abuse, and PTSD (Russell & Davis, 2007).

Early intervention can have a significant impact on the long term stress and negative effects that women suffer from sexual assault. The large numbers of women who never report sexual assault to formal support networks are at great risk of suffering long term consequences. The reasons that women don't access formal support networks for sexual assault are many and varied. Some women simply lack basic knowledge about what services are available while others have negative attitudes toward seeking help. Women without health insurance, the uneducated and the young are those who are the least likely to seek formal support. Researchers and sociologists suggest that educational materials and information should be given to informal support networks because so many more women rely on such informal networks.

Educating Men

According to NASPA's Journal of College & Character, "social learning affects attitudes, knowledge and behavior regarding date rape." Studying the effects of sex role learning is helping sociologists design and implement prevention programs with men as the target audience. Studies show that socialization focused treatment is as effective as traditional rape education programs in reducing rape. Blame and shame are just not effective methods for preventing rape (NASPA, 2007).

This essay has already discussed the pervasiveness of rape and sexual assault on college campuses. Campus rape is a significant problem and accounts for the majority of sexual assault instances. Therefore, reducing the number of sexual assaults on college campuses would significantly reduce the overall instances of sexual assault and rape. The majority of college rape prevention programs target women and include:

- Risk reduction strategies;
- Self defense classes;
- Increasing campus safety;
- Victim advocacy.

Sex role learning and gender role behaviors contribute to men's perceptions, beliefs and biases about sexual assault. College men are more likely

to view sexually coercive behavior as acceptable and rape myths are thought to be widely accepted on college campuses (Choate, 2003). Rape myths are rampant and support false information about rape, rape victims and rapists in a way that marginalizes the damage of the act (Crider, 2008).

Socio-cultural theories support the idea that gender roles are taught and then reinforced. Among the messages that men receive are that they should be "sexual aggressors or competitors and women are the gatekeepers" (Choate, 2003). This type of social message reinforces the idea that women are to blame for their own victimization. Making an association between gender role socialization and rape, participants are less accepting of rape myths and receive a very strong message that they need to obtain positive consent for sexual activity (Choate, 2003).

Dr. Tracy Davis, assistant professor at Western Illinois University has studied effectiveness of rape prevention programs for college fraternity men. Davis's research focuses on social-learning-shaped perceptions and not just the biological differences between men and women.

Davis states that men are seen as "victims of harmful sex-related social learning." As such, it is suggested that researchers "scrutinize the negative impact that some messages can have, explore alternatives, and make new choices." This approach might shed light on why

"men might, for example, be prone to perpetrating sexual assault. By specifically exploring socialized messages (e.g. real men don't cry or express sensitive emotions) men can begin to better understand themselves and take responsibility for the choices they make" (NASPA, 2007).

Bibliography

Abbey, A., & Ross, L. (1996). Alcohol and dating risk factors for sexual assault among... Psychology of Women Quarterly, 20(1), 147. Retrieved June 1, 2008, from EBSCO Online Database SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=9603272453&site=ehost-live

Basile, K., Lang, K., Bartenfeld, T., & Clinton-Sherrod, A. (2005). Evaluability assessment of the Rape Prevention and Education Program: Summary of findings and recommendations. Journal of Women's Health, 14(3), 201-207. Retrieved June 1, 2008, from EBSCO Online Gender Studies Database. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=fmh&AN=WMST-311986&site=ehost-live

- Ben-David, S., & Schneider, O. (2005). Rape perceptions, gender role attitudes, and victim-perpetrator acquaintance. Sex Roles, 53(5/6), 385-399. Retrieved June 11, 2008, from EBSCO Online Database SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=18686501&site=ehost-live
- Center for Disease Control and Violence. (2008). Introduction: The problem of sexual violence. Sexual Violence Prevention. Retrieved January 27, 2009, from http://www.cdc.gov/ncipc/pub-res/sv_surveillance/03_introduction.htm
- Choate, L. (2003). Sexual assault prevention programs for college men: An exploratory evaluation of the men against violence model. Journal of College Counseling, 6(2), 166. Retrieved June 11, 2008, from EBSCO Online Database Academic Search Complete. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=11287097&site=e host-live
- Consent. (2009). In Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary. Retrieved January 27, 2009, from http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/consent
- Crider, S. (2008). Social network and rape myth adherence. Retrieved January 27, 2009, from the Society for Social Work and Research. http://sswr.confex.com/sswr/2008/techprogram/P8947.HTM
- Feminist Majority Foundation. (2005). Violence against women on college campuses. Retrieved June 10, 2008, from: http://www.feministcampus.org/fmla/printable-materials/v-day05/violence_against_women.pdf
- Franiuk, R. (2007). Discussing and defining sexual assault: A classroom activity. College Teaching, 55(3), 104-107. Retrieved May 29, 2008, from EBSCO Online Database Academic Search Complete. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=26288462&site=ehost-live
- French, K., Beynon, C., & Delaforce, J. (2007). Alcohol is the true 'rape drug'. Nursing Standard, 21(29), 26-27. Retrieved May 29, 2008, from EBSCO Online Database Academic Search Complete. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=24620868&site=ehost-live
- National Association of Student Personnel Administrators (NASPA). (2007). Moral development in practice: Educating college men about rape. Journal of College and Character. Retrieved June 10, 2008, from http://www.collegevalues.org/scholarships.cfm?id=120&a=1
- Russell, P., & Davis, C. (2007). Twenty-five years of empirical research on treatment following sexual assault. Best Practice in Mental Health: An International Journal, 3(2), 21-37. Retrieved May 29, 2008, from EBSCO Online Database Academic Search Complete. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=260577 53&site=ehost-live
- Simonson, K., & Subich, L. (1999). Rape perceptions as a function of gender-role traditionality and victim-perpetrator association. Sex Roles, 40(7/8), 617-634. Retrieved June 11, 2008, from EBSCO Online Datbase SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=2065621&site=ehost-live

Starzynski, L., Ullman, S., Townsend, S., Long, L., & Long, S. (2007). What factors predict women's disclosure of sexual assault to mental health professionals? Journal of Community Psychology, 35(5), 619-638. Retrieved May 29, 2008, from EBSCO Online Database SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=25353929&site=ehost-live

Suggested Reading

- Imbesi, R. (2007). Engaging young people in leadership roles in the prevention of sexual assault: The CASA House Peer Educator Project. Primary & Middle Years Educator, 5(2), 21-25. Retrieved May 19, 2008, from EBSCO Online Database Academic Search Complete. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=264763 93&site=ehost-live
- Marquand, I. (1999). Crime on campus. Quill, 87(6), 38-40. Retrieved January 27, 2009, from EBSCO Online Database Academic Search Complete. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=2320629&site=ehost-live
- Yassen, J. & Glass, L. (1984). Sexual assault survivors groups: A feminist practice perspective. Social Work, 29(3), 252-257. Retrieved January 27, 2009, from EBSCO Online Database Academic Search Complete. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=fmh&AN=FMH2385586738&site=ehost-live

Violent Crime in the U.S.

Karen M. Harbeck

Overview

What is Violent Crime?

Violent crime is defined in the Uniform Crime Reporting (UCR) Program of the United States Department of Justice as involving "force or the threat of force" while committing one of four offenses: murder or non-negligent manslaughter, forcible rape, robbery, or aggravated assault (United States Department of Justice, 2007f). The classification of all of the Justice Department crime data is based upon the decisions of police investigators, rather than upon any final determination by a coroner, court, or other judicial body. State by state data is available from the Department of Justice, as well as the Kaiser Family Foundation website.

According to the Encarta Dictionary, murder is defined as "the crime of killing another person deliberately and not in self-defense or with any other extenuating circumstances recognized by law" (2007). Manslaughter is defined by that same source as "the unlawful killing of one person by another without advance planning." Negligence entails failing to use a proper level of care, so accidents that result in death do not come under the governmental definitions of violent crime. In summary, then, governmental data on murder does not include deaths caused by negligence, suicide, accidents, justifiable homicide (such as a police officer killing a felon in the line of duty), or attempts to commit murder (United States Department of

Justice, 2007d). Rape is defined as forced sexual intercourse, and robbery is the illegal taking of money or property belonging to another. Keep in mind that in both of these offenses violence or the threat of violence is a necessary component of the crime. Similarly, while simple assault involves a physical attack, aggravated assault involves a higher level of violence before it is categorized as a violent crime.

In 2006, the United States Department of Justice is estimated that 1,417,745 violent crimes occurred in the United States, or 473.5 violent crimes per 100,000 inhabitants (2007f). Although there was a slight 1.9% increase in overall crime when 2006 data was compared with data from 2005, national crime rates had still fallen by 13.3% over the previous ten years.

Prevalence

According to the 2006 government data, aggravated assault accounted for 60.7% of violent crime in our nation, or 287.5 offenses per 100,000 individuals. In 21.9% of these situations, firearms were used in the commission of the crime, a slight increase from previous years (United States Department of Justice, 2007a).

Robbery accounted for 31.6% of all violent crimes, and guns were used in 42.2% of these offenses. The most dangerous locations for acts of robbery were streets and highways (44.5%), while only 14.3% of the offenses occurred in the victim's home. On average, the stolen property value per crime was \$1,268 dollars, while bank robberies accounted for 2.1% of the crime and averaged \$4,330 dollars per offense. Total loss estimates for the year 2006, however, were a staggering \$567 million (United States Department of Justice, 2007e).

Forcible rape accounted for 6.5% of all violent crime, or 60.9 offenses per 100,000 female inhabitants. Included in these figures are "attempted forcible rape, or assault with attempt to rape" (United States Department of Justice, 2007c, ¶2). Statutory rape, defined as sex with a minor, is not included in the data unless force was used in the commission of the crime. Interestingly, the definitions used by the Department of Justice concerning forcible rape use the word "female." Notations, however, disclose that "sexual attacks on males are counted as aggravated assaults or sex offenses, depending on the circumstances and the extent of any injuries" (United

States Department of Justice, 2007c, ¶2). The government does not keep data on the use of weapons in the commission of these felonies (United States Department of Justice, 2007c).

Although a detailed analysis of the causes of sexual offending is beyond the scope of this article, Ward and Beecher provide a useful integrated theory that includes genetic predisposition; adverse developmental experiences (such as child abuse, rejection); psychological dispositions/trait factors (interpersonal problems, mental disorders); social and cultural structures and process (sexism, masculinity and other learned behaviors); and, contextual factors (such as stress or intoxication) (2008). While their theoretical framework is related to sexual offending exclusively, it is useful in considering the development of theories of violent crime in general.

Finally, an estimated 17,034 people were killed in the United States in 2006. Murder was the least common violent crime, making up only 1.2% of the overall picture, or 5.7 murders per 100,000 inhabitants. Firearms played a role in 67.9% of the cases. Handguns alone accounted for 88.4% of all firearm-related deaths. Additionally, murders committed in metropolitan areas accounted for 90.6% of the total deaths (United States Department of Justice, 2007d). Nearly 80% of the murder victims were male, and 90.9% of the offenders were male as well. Most of the offenders (93.8%) were individuals 18 years of age or older. Just over 90% of female victims were killed by male offenders. Approximately half of the victims were African-American, and in 93.2% of these incidences the victims were killed by African-American assailants. White deaths accounted for 47.1% of the total murders, with white offenders killing white victims at a rate of 82.9% overall (United States Department of Justice, 2007b).

Victims

With the crimes in which the relationship between the victim and the offender was known, stranger murders accounted for 23.1% of these killings. In 21.6% of cases, the victim was killed by a family member, and in 55.3% the victim was killed by someone he or she knew, such as a neighbor, parent, or spouse. Of these totals, 32.2% of women were killed by their husbands or boyfriends. Interpersonal arguments, including those related to sexual intimacy, accounted for 26.1% of the 2006 murders, while 16.3% of the victims were killed during the course of some related crime

like robbery or rape (United States Department of Justice, 2007b). According to Polk, if the murder occurred in the home of either the victim or the offender, more often than not the parties had a close relationship of some nature (1994). The murder may relate to conflict resolution over shared space, stolen belongings, physical assault, or to silence the victim who may have witnessed or participated in other illegal activities.

Viewpoints

How does Violent Crime Occur?

In this book on homicide in Australia, Polk (1994) offers an excellent summary of crime statistics from the United States, along with contemporary theoretical analysis. In his summary of studies by Wolfgang (1958), Wallace (1986), and Daly and Wilson (1988), for example, a picture of emerges of a male offender, over the age of 25, who is from a poor economic background, and who has a 54% chance of being unemployed. About half of the murders take place in either the home of the victim or that of the offender, and, on average, only about 12% of the murders occurred between individuals who did not know each other.

Sexual Intimacy

Violence often arises out of sexual intimacy, and in Polk's study about 23% of the murders committed in Victoria, Australia between 1985 and 1989 involved "sexual ownership" and control issues. The first type of sexual ownership and control was violence triggered by jealousy or the threat of separation from a sexual partner. Four percent of these murders were of perceived rivals, while the majority involved the murder of a current or former sexual partner. In both of these instances, numerous acts of physical assault and threats usually preceded the actual murder, and the use of temporary restraining orders and police interventions was ineffective (Polk, 1994). The second type of sexual partner murders involved suicidal thinking and depression on the part of the offender, whose issues of ownership of and control over his or her sexual partner led to the assumption that the partner would be better off dead too. Often, these murderers were older and in failing health, but younger killers facing medical and/or economic problems resorted to this murder/suicide pattern as well. Most of the killings related to sexual partner control involved premeditated planning on the part of the murdered, even those that seemed to be based on violent, immediate expressions of anger.

Confrontations

The vast majority of homicides are "confrontational" in nature, involving strangers, acquaintances, or friends (Polk, 1994). Often these interpersonal disputes are spontaneous arguments sparked by some perceived threat to the "honor" of one or both of the participants. Alcohol or drug impairment plays a significant role is these dynamics. Many murders occur outside of bars and clubs, and often youth gang violence is a factor. In analyzing these confrontation murders, Luckenbill, set forth a six-step transactional analysis of the actions of both the offender and the victim that lead to the death (1977).

- The first step involves an opening move by the victim that
 is perceived by the offender to be some act of dishonor.
 Intentional and unintentional acts, gestures, facial expressions, or comments by the victim can set off the offender
 regardless of how trivial or meaningless.
- In the second step, the offender takes the victim's behavior as meaning offense.
- The offender making some retaliatory move against the victim rather than ignoring the situation is step three.
- In step four, though the victim may have numerous options, he or she chooses to exercise those that stand up to the offender's challenge.
- In step five the parties fight, and step six is the killing of the victim. Usually, these murders are resolved in three ways: the killer flees, remains to face the police, or is held by observers until the police arrive (Polk, 1994).

Collins also argues that traditional views of crime are not helpful in understanding violent situations (2008). Rather than focusing on the pathology of the individuals involved, he also engages in a transactional analysis of the violent situations. Violence, according to Collins' analysis, "is a set of pathways around confrontational tension and fear" (2008, p. 8). In

contrast to traditional criminological theory, however, Collins argues that violence is not easy even if the motivation exists because so many conditions are required for violence, and there are numerous turning points that could diffuse the event. Social control and routine activities theorists, for example, would say that "the formula for crime is a coincidence in time and space of a motivated offender, an accessible victim, and the absence of social control agents who deter crime" (Collins, 2008, p. 21).

Others might argue that violence stems from poverty and low status in a capitalist economy. Social learning theorists would argue that the techniques of violence are learned and acquired through "deliberate tutelage, training, and socialization of offenders" (Akers & Silverman, 2004, p. 19). Collins, however, argues that "most violence is bluster and standoff, with little actually happening, or incompetent performance with mostly ancillary and unintended damage" (2008, p. 32). Like Luckenbill, Collins takes a micro-sociological view of violence by analyzing each step each actor might take that either diffuses violence or causes it to escalate. Unlike Luckenbill, though, Collins believes that each comment or action by the parties is important in the analysis, not just the process that steps up the violence. The significance of acts of griping, whining, arguing and quarreling all receive extensive regard under Collin's theoretical framework.

Unplanned Violence

The third category of homicides involves what Polk refers to as "exceptional rush" killings that occur during some other high-risk criminal activity, such as an armed robbery. In these situations, the victim is most likely a stranger to the murderer. Smaller categories of homicides include victims killing attackers, professional killings for hire, prison murders, serial killings, mass murders, and law enforcement individuals being killed in the line of duty.

Family Violence

In most situations in which children are the victims of a murder, they fall into a category labeled "family killings" (Polk, 2004, p. 141). In these instances, women perpetrators are as frequent as male killers. According to Polk, there are four sub-themes in parental murders of their children.

- The first type involves parents who batter or beat their children; the murder occurs as an outgrowth of this conduct.
- The second type mirrors the murder of a sexual partner as noted above; the murderer is suicidal and believes that the children need to die along with him or her.
- The third subcategory of parental murder involves neonaticide, or the killing of an infant during the first 24 hours of its life. Mothers are the most typical killers in these instances.
- The final subcategory involves neglect of a child leading to his or her death (Polk, 2004).

Organized Crime

Thus far, the discussion of violent crime in America has focused on individual perpetrators. Violent crime also occurs in the course of organized crime, including gang violence. The Blackwell Dictionary of Sociology defines organized crime as having several essential elements. First, some formal organizational structure has to exist, including a hierarchical governance process and a division of duties or labor. The organization also has to have management systems in place, including rules of conduct and record keeping (Blackwell, 2000, p. 216). It would seem that an additional element necessary would be a purpose or focus for the organization. These characteristics fit both traditional organized crime, such as the mafia, and youth gangs.

The Organized Crime Control Act defines organized crime as "The unlawful activities of ... a highly organized and disciplined association" (U.S., 1970). It can and does exist in any setting - local, state, national, or international. It also can flourish within prisons. In order to thrive, however, organized crime has to have strong ties with legitimate business entities so that money can be moved throughout the economy. Often, cooperation from respected members of the business community is gained through bribery, extortion, and blackmail. Criminal endeavors are additionally protected by bribing judicial and law enforcement officials. In order to achieve its goals and to protect its interests, organized crime can resort to violence.

Competition between organizations can lead to violent crimes, although today these groups are increasingly working together.

In an effort to combat organized crime, in 1970 the federal government passed the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organization (RICO) Act (18 U. S. C. A. § 1961 et seq.) In addition to crimes deemed to be white collar in nature, RICO includes gambling, extortion, prostitution, narcotics trafficking, loan sharking, and murder. Punishment under RICO can be extremely harsh and include fines and up to 20 years in prison. Additionally, the defendant must forfeit any claims to the money or property obtained from the criminal enterprise, or obtained from any criminal enterprise barred under RICO (White-Collar Crime, 2008).

Gang Violence

Although any in-depth discussion of gang violence falls outside the scope of this article, some degree of violence in America is caused by gangs. Klein and Maxson, define a youth gang as "any durable, street-oriented youth group whose involvement in illegal activity is part of its group identity" (2006, p. 4). Estimates of the numbers of youth who join gangs engaged in illegal activity are difficult to obtain, but Gottfredson and Gottfredson believed that 7.1% of males and 3.6% of females in our nation's secondary schools had been members of a named gang during the twelve months prior to their national survey (Klein & Maxson, 2006, p. 21). In high risk neighborhoods across our nation, the estimates increase to between 15% and 30% of youth (Klein & Maxson, 2006, p. 67). Some of the violent crime perpetrated by gangs includes murder, home invasions, armed robbery, aggravated assault, carjackings, and drive-by shootings.

In his studies of youth gangs in Chicago, Hagedon, argued that instead of relying on traditional sociological theories of crime, scholars should be engaged in cultural studies of the gang populations (2008). Hagedon believes that "if gangs are indeed made up of alienated youth who are angry with an unresponsive government, undying racism, and a blank future," then focusing on geographic zones of social disorganization or attributing rational choice analysis to these situations not only fails to provide a meaningful explanation of gang violence, it also affects the interventions posed to help alleviate crime in America (2008, p. 135).

While some gang violence is related to drug trafficking, the "vast majority of violent incidences involving gang members continue to result from fights over turf, status, and revenge" (Gang Violence, 2002, ¶1). Successful methods of intervention are necessary. The State of California's SafeState: Preventing Crime in California task force, for example, calls gang violence "one of the greatest threats to the safety and security of all Americans" today (SafeState, 2008, ¶2). Rates of gang-related murders continue to escalate around the country. Although gang violence is a law enforcement problem, it also is a community problem that requires the involvement of educators, healthcare professionals, business leaders, politicians, and other community-based organizations.

Bibliography

- Akers, R., & Silverman, A. (2004). Toward a social learning model of violence and terrorism. In M. Zahn, H. Brownstein, & S. Jackson (Eds.), Violence: From theory to research. Cincinnati, OH: Anderson.
- Collins, R. (2008). Violence: A micro-sociological theory. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Daly, M., & Wilson, M. (1988). Homicide. New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Encarta World English Dictionary. (2007). Retrieved August 28, 2008, from: http://encarta.msn.com/encnet/features/dictionary/dictionaryhome.aspx
- Gottfredson, G., & Gottfredson, D. (2002). Gang problems and gang programs in a national sample of schools: 2001 summary. Ellicot City, MD: Gottfredson.
- Gottfredson, M. & Hirschi, T. (1990). A general theory of crime. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Johnson, A. (Ed.). (2000). Organized crime. The Blackwell dictionary of sociology. Malden, MA: Blackwell.
- Kaiser Family Foundation. (2007). Violent crime offenses. Retrieved August 28, 2008, from http://www.statehealthfacts.org/comparemaptable.jsp?ind=117&cat=2&sub=34&yr=17&typ=3&o=a&sort=n
- Klein, M., & Maxson, C. (2006). Street gangs patterns and policies. Oxford: Oxford UP.
- Luckenbill, D. (1977). Criminal homicide as a situated transaction. Social Problems, 25(2),. 176-186.
- Polk, K. (1994). When men kill: Scenarios of masculine violence. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- SafeState. (2008). Gangs & youth violence. Retrieved August 28, 2008 from: http://safestate.org/index.cfm?navId=12

- United States Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Investigations, Justice Information Service. (2007a). Aggravated Assault. In Crime in the United States, 2006. Retrieved August 1, 2008 from: www.fbi.gov/ucr/cius2006/offenses/violent_crime/ aggravated_assualt.html
- United States Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Investigations, Justice Information Service. (2007b). Expanded Homicide Data. In Crime in the United States, 2006. Retrieved August 1, 2008 from: www.fbi.gov/ucr/cius2006/offenses/expanded_information/homicide.html.
- United States Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Investigations, Justice Information Service. (2007c). Forcible rape. Crime in the United States, 2006. Retrieved August 1, 2008 from: www.fbi.gov/ucr/cius2006/offenses/violent_crime/forcible_rape.html.
- United States Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Investigations, Justice Information Service. (2007d). Murder. In Crime in the United States, 2006. Retrieved August 1, 2008 from: www.fbi.gov/ucr/cius2006/offenses/violent_crime/murder_homicide.html.
- United States Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Investigations, Justice Information Service. (2007e). Robbery. In Crime in the United States, 2006. Retrieved August 1, 2008 from: www.fbi.gov/ucr/cius2006/offenses/violent_crime/robbery.html.
- United States Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Investigations, Justice Information Service. (2007f). Violent crime. In Crime in the United States, 2006. Retrieved August 1, 2008 from: www.fbi.gov/ucr/cius2006/offenses/violent_crime/index.html.
- Violence Prevention Coalition of Greater Los Angeles. (2002). Gang violence. Report on the Status of Los Angeles Street Gangs. Los Angeles County Interagency Task Force, 1999-2000. Retrieved August 1, 2008 from: http://www.vpcla.org/factGang.htm.
- Wallace, A. (1986). Homicide: The social reality. Sydney: New South Wales Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research.
- Ward, T., & Beech, A. (2008). An integrated theory of sexual offending. In D. Laws, & W. O'Donohue (Eds.), Sexual deviance: Theory, assessment and treatment (2nd ed.), pp. 21-36. New York: Guilford.
- White-collar crime. (2008). In West's encyclopedia of American Law (2nd Ed.),. The Gale Group. Retrieved July 30, 2008 from:http://legal-dictionary.thefreedictionary.com/White-collar+crime.
- Wolfgang, M. (1958). Patterns of criminal homicide. Philadelphia, PA: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Suggested Reading

- Brownstein, H. (1999). The social reality of violence and violent crime. Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Burke, J. (2007). Rape: Sex, violence, history. Washington, DC: Shoemaker & Hoard.
- DeLisi, M., & Conis, P. (2007). Violent offenders: Theory, research, policy, and practice. Sudbury, MA: Jones & Bartlett.

- Eller, J. (2005). Violence and culture: A cross-cultural and interdisciplinary approach. Florence, KY: Wadsworth.
- Hamm, M. (2007). Terrorism as crime: From Oklahoma City to Al-Queda and beyond. New York: New York University Press.
- Hunter, R., & Dantzker, M. (2005). Crime and criminality: Causes and consequences. Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press.
- Jones, S. (2001). Understanding violent crime. Philadelphia, PA: Open University Press.
- Laver, T. (2002). The truth about rape. Gold River, CA: Raperecovery.com.
- Laws, D., & O'Donohue, W. (Eds.). (2008). Sexual deviance: Theory, assessment and treatment. (2nd ed.). New York: Guilford.
- Miller, M. (1996). Drugs and violent crime. New York: Rosen.
- Palermo, G., & Kocsis, R. (2005). Offender profiling: An introduction to the sociopsychological analysis of violent crime. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thompson.
- Reidel, M., & Welsh, W. (Eds.). (2007). Criminal violence: Patterns, causes, and prevention. (2nd ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Singer, S. (1996). Recriminalizing delinquency: Violent juvenile crime and juvenile justice. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Tilly, C. (2003). The politics of collective violence. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Weiner, M., & Wolfgang, M. (1989). Violent crime, violent criminals. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Race, Ethnicity & Law Enforcement

Jeremy Baker

Overview

Background: Race in America

Due to complex histories of contested interactions, issues of race and ethnicity often prove difficult to study. This is especially true in regard to the way criminality is studied in the context of race and ethnicity, but, despite complexity, the relationship between crime and racial or ethnic identity is quite useful for understanding American inequalities.

The concept of race is generally associated with physical characteristics which an individual possesses that set her apart from individuals of other racial groups. These characteristics include skin pigmentation, eye color, and facial features. Ethnicity is culturally based and generally associated with regional ancestry. Examples of ethnic characteristics include food, dress, or religious practices. Another concept often closely associated with racial and ethnic groups is that of a minority. While the concept of "minority" may seem without need of explanation, the sociological definition of a minority group should be defined. From a sociological standpoint, a minority is any group of people that is held subservient to a dominant group of people. Thus, the concept of minority, as far as the sociologist is concerned, is not a matter of numbers. It is a matter of power. For example, while blacks outnumbered whites in some parts of the South during the

era of segregation, they remained a minority in sociological terms due to their level of relative powerlessness in comparison to whites.

The context in which the racial dynamic developed in America is complicated and has developed over several centuries. The existing racial hierarchy in which whites are favored and blacks are oppressed was carefully created by the efforts of slaveholders in the American southeast. Unlike other immigrant groups, Africans were initially brought to the United States by force. Once they arrived, they were placed into subservient positions from which they could not escape, and they were forced to perform tasks that were seen as "unfit" for whites (Zinn 2003). Slaveholders actively subverted African culture among their slaves by preventing them from speaking their own language, reading or writing English, or practicing religion in independent ways (Zinn 2003). After the direct oppression of slavery ended, slightly more subtle forms of oppression continued with laws dictating the segregation of blacks from whites in public places. In those workplaces in which blacks were not separated from whites, they were often pitted against each other by employers who sought to break up labor unions and keep worker wages as low as possible.

In the second half of the twentieth century, Civil rights leaders made great strides to achieve equal rights for people of all racial groups. While this goal may have been legislatively achieved, racial privilege remains a significant issue with which we as a society must grapple. It is fortunate that direct racism in the form of name calling, overtly discriminatory hiring practices, and racist intimidation has largely evaporated from our society; for this, we owe a great deal to the civil rights leaders. However, our current society copes with more subtle forms of racism that are built into our social structure and of which most of us are not even aware. These subtle forms of racism are the residual effect of generations of discrimination against blacks perpetrated by whites (Wilson 1978). The result is class subordination of blacks under whites (Wilson 1978).

Class Subordination

The class subordination identified by Wilson (1978) is subtle, and not as simple a form of discrimination to recognize as a "Whites Only" sign. In fact, one must carefully catalog demographic data before a clear picture of this subtle discrimination develops. Whites tend to live in more upscale

neighborhoods, with less crime and better educational systems. They have higher levels of education, and high rates of college attendance and graduation. These benefits are the result of generations of economic privilege and greater access to the cultural capital of the dominant culture. Cultural capital is the knowledge accrued through experience with a cultural group. Examples of upper-middle class white cultural capital include knowing to wear a suit to an interview and how to prepare a resume. Unfortunately, whites are not always aware of their racist tendencies and attitudes. In fact, poor whites often consider themselves better off than blacks by sheer virtue of race. This is due to a need for people who are not well off to elevate their status, if only in their own minds (Macdonald 2000).

In distinct opposition to their white counterparts, life circumstances are harder and fewer opportunities are available for African Americans. African Americans tend to live in poor, urban areas. These areas often have crumbling infrastructures, poor local economies, and lower levels of public services. People living in these areas often have poorer quality education (due to a lack of funding for schools) and high dropout rates among high school students. The cultural capital of people living in these areas often does not match up with that of the dominant culture, thus they do not have the skills necessary for getting a good job (Bourgois 2003). For example, concepts of how to behave in the workplace or how to dress in a formal situation may differ dramatically in poor black areas. This lack of social capital may be highly detrimental in attaining meaningful, well paying employment. In turn, an inablity to get a good job may cause people to turn to crime in order to live comfortably. In this way, sociologists are able to account for higher levels of crime in poor, black, inner city areas.

Other Race Relations

While race relations in the United States are dominated by white-black relations due to the historic relationship between these groups, it would be a gross oversimplification to give the impression that other groups are not signifiant in the United States racial dynamic. The nation's ideological stances on immigration have guaranteed that the racial dynamic of the United States has been in a state of near constant flux. In the later 19th century, Irish and Italian immigrants came to the east coast of the United States. While these groups are currently considered to be "white," they were not at the time of their arrival. In fact, many social commentators of

the time considered members of both of these groups to be racially more similar to Africans than Europeans. This was due in large part to attitudes of earlier-settling white Europeans at the time that Africans were physically, intellectually, and morally inferior. This prejudice was extended to Irish and Italian immigrants and caused people of these groups to be discriminated against in the same ways as if they had been black in the existing racist American social structure of the time.

Also during the later 19th century, large numbers of Asians began to immigrate to the West coast of the United States. This group suffered even greater persecution from whites who had been in the country for several generations prior. This increased persecution was exacerbated by the tendency of Asian communities to isolate themselves in immigrant enclaves within urban areas. Within these enclaves, immigrants would maintain their own cultures, speak the language of their country of origin, and send money to family back in their country of origin. These enclaves allowed immigrant populations to resist assimilation with the greater Anglo-American culture. While such resistance allowed for a degree of comfort to these immigrants, it caused resident whites to fear the "otherness" of these people. This fear, unfortunately, caused a great deal of persecution and greatly hindered the acceptance of Asians by the majority of whites for several generations.

The current generation of immigrants hails primarily from Latin America. Much controversy surrounds this group, centering around issues of language and illegal immigration. While it may seem that worries about the ability of this group to properly integrate with American society and the fear that these immigrants may be taking American jobs are not new. Indeed nearly every previous wave of immigration was accompanied with these same fears. It is unfortunate when such fear leads to racist attitudes, but, with time, these controversies are likely to fade away as this most recent wave is accepted into American society.

In the background of all of this American racial turmoil continues to be the plight of the American Indian. These people have suffered greatly at the hands of the United States government and have been pushed from their ancestral lands and onto reservations. Indian reservations are often places in areas with few natural resources and are most times incapable of sustaining any sort of agriculture that would sustain traditional ways of life. Reservation residents are plagued with poverty, alcoholism, and high teen suicide rates (Schaefer 2006). While efforts in recent decades have been made to preserve and revive American Indian culture, they remain a group pushed to American society's periphery and largely forgotten by society as a whole.

Race as a Social Construction

The construction of racial group identity by both the group and the dominant culture goes a long way to illustrate the social construction of race. From the sociological viewpoint, race, like other social categories, is socially constructed and heavily dependent on the time period and social setting in which such constructions occur. It is true that a significant component of what we call racial characteristics is based on physical appearance such as skin tone and facial features. However, these characteristics are not as concrete across a racial category as many may think. In the instance of skin tone, individuals who are categorized as black, both in the United States and even across Africa, have a wide scope of pigmentation shades. This variance of skin tone of the "black" category is due in large part to the social construction of this category in the United States (Schaefer 2006). Much debate among scholars of race has centered around various racial categories becoming more or less "white." The argument generally centers around how possible it is for a racial category to shift from the white to the black category or vice versa (Schaefer 2006). Irish and Italian immigrants, for example, have over time moved from being associated with the "black" category, and now are firmly associated with the "white" category. Arab-Americans, on the other hand, have been argued to have been forced out of association with the "white" category and closer to the "black" category due to racist suspicions surrounding fearful responses to Islamic-fundamentalist terrorism.

Applications

Race & the Law

Much controversy has surrounded law enforcement in the United States on issues of race and ethnicity. On the surface, it may appear that either all police are bigots, or that certain racial groups are paranoid that the police are out to get them. Either of these attitudes, however, are great oversimplifications on a highly complex truth.

The Police

Much of what police officers do focuses on the detection of lies. Unfortunately for police (and society as a whole), lying criminals are often very good at what they do. Often police have very little to work with in solving a case other than suspicions and hunches (Rubenstein 1973). This work can be made even more complicated by hostile attitudes civilian populations may have. Since the complacency of the population is critical to law enforcement, a hostile neighborhood can make an officer's job quite difficult. Therefore, a hostile neighborhood makes law enforcement difficult and police hostile toward the neighborhood (Rubinstein 1973). If an officer harbors racist assumptions, even if he is unaware of these assumptions, these hunches that a case may be based on have a potential to be racially motivated (Rubenstein 1973). These racist assumptions are further complicated by the fact that individual police officers have a great deal of discretion when deciding to arrest the individuals they encounter (Rubinstein 1973). For this reason, a white police officer who is subconsciously racist may be more likely to arrest a black suspect than a white suspect both because of his hunch, which may or may not be based in reality, and because he is legally permitted to do so. In certain jurisdictions, racial relations between police and civilians are not limited to hunches but extended to practice by a practice known as racial profiling. Racial profiling is the process through which individuals of a particular race or ethnic group are targeted by police officers as part of their everyday patrols. This practice is often subtly sanctioned by the police department (Rubinstein 1973). Examples of racial profiling could include police pulling over a car of young black males, or searching people of middle-eastern descent in an airport for no reason other than the fact that they are members of a particular race or ethnic group.

Racial Profiling

In order to better understand the relationship between crime and race, Kowalski and Lundman (2007) conducted a study in which he studied vehicle stop and vehicle search data and citizen observation reporting of police traffic stops. His goal was to understand the phenomenon commonly known as "driving while black," in which it is generally believed that African Americans are targeted and pulled over because of their race. Initial research seemed to indicate that African Americans were

being pulled over in a disproportionate number of cases when compared to whites. With only this evidence, of course, it could be argued that it was merely a tendency for blacks to drive faster, and not racial profiling, that gets blacks pulled over more frequently. For this reason, Kowalski and Lundman observed reports of police pull-overs at night under the premise that race could not be determined at night to allow racial profiling. The findings for this phase of the study showed that blacks continued to be pulled over with greater frequency when compared to whites, thus indicating that African Americans, particularly young African American males, tend to drive faster than other demographics.

Upon reviewing the citations given to the accused, however, Kowalski and Lundman found an important trend in understanding this phenomenon. He found that when he compared similar offenses across racial groups, such as comparing a white male individual going 80mph to a black male going 80mph, that the black individual tended to be given a harsher sanction than his white counterpart. Thus, Kowalski and Lundman's research illuminated the understanding of the complexity of racial profiling in two ways: first, African American males do tend to drive faster than individuals of other demographic groups; second, after the pullover has occurred, police tend to sanction African Americans with harsher penalties than people of other racial groups. They explained these puzzling findings by examining the behaviors of both the officer and the driver. Due to subconscious racism, police have a tendency to issue stronger sanctions (in this case traffic tickets) to black individuals than they do to people of other racial groups. Kowalski and Lundman continue to explain this phenomenon by theorizing that young, black males are more likely to break traffic laws because of their discontent for a legal system that they feel to be unjust.

Viewpoints

Controversies of Law Enforcement & Race

After discussing issues of race and crime in a sociological way, we are left with a number of troubling moral questions about our society. First, and most fundamentally, is our society fundamentally racist? There are governmental policies that clearly favor whites over blacks and other racial groups. While the intentions of these policies may not have the intention

of being racist, they are inadvertently so, and this is caused by the fact that they were devised by whites, who likely were not racist, without consulting people of other racial groups. Aside from simply not wanting to live in a racist society, there are other unpleasant implications of accepting the fact that the United States is inadvertently racist. If we work from the premise that we live in a racist society, there are many controversial issues that become more complicated. Most obviously, how valid is racial profiling if we live in a racist society? In such a society, racial profiling would merely serve as a mechanism through which the dominant group furthers the oppression of the subservient group. Other issues surrounding the prison system come into question if the accept the premise that we live in a racist society. A disproportionate number of African Americans are in the prison system when compared to the greater society, and this disproportion becomes even greater when examining death row inmates (Schaeffer 2006). This suggests that society more severely punishes black males. If this is the case, it is not only a scathing indictment on capital punishment; it calls into question many elements of the criminal justice system.

Bibliography

- Bourgois, P. (2003). In search of respect: Selling crack in El Barrio. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Kowalski, B. & Lundman, R. (2007). Vehicle stops by police for driving while black: Common problems and some tentative solutions. Journal of Criminal Justice, 35 (2), 165-181.
- Lundman, R. J. (2004). Driver race, ethnicity, and gender and citizen reports of vehicle searches by police and vehicle search hits: Toward a triangulated scholarly understanding. The Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 94(2), 309-350. Retrieved January 23, 2009 from EBSCO online database, SocINDEX with Full Text http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=12788277&site=ehost-live
- MacDonald, M. (2000). All souls: A family story from southie. New York: Ballantine Books. Rubinstein, J. (1973). City police. New York: The Noonday Press.
- Schaefer, R. (2006). Racial and Ethnic Groups 10th Ed. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Wilson, W.J. (1978). The declining significance of race: Blacks and changing American Institutions, 2nd Ed. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Zinn, H. (2003). A people's history of the United States: 1492 to present. New York: Harpercollins.

Suggested Reading

Barkan, S.E. (2001). Criminology: A sociological understanding. 2nd Ed. New Jersey: Prentice Hall.

Purpura, P. (2001). Police and community. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.

Rothenberg, P. (2002). White privilege: Essential readings on the other side of racism. New York: Worth Publishers.

Juvenile Crimes in the U.S.

Karen M. Harbeck

Overview

Juvenile crime is defined as illegal acts against people or property committed by individuals under the age of 18. It is a complex social concern inextricably linked with issues of race, poverty, gender, child abuse and neglect, family breakdown, educational failure, urban decay, substance abuse, child development, and failed social services and networks. In addition to the science relevant to these issues, however, the debate over juvenile offenders is also governed by the media, public opinion, and personal beliefs. Our own fears and vulnerability help shape personal and public policy views towards juvenile criminal offenders and the mechanisms by which crime can be reduced in our cities and towns.

It is clear that most people believe that juvenile violent crime to be a national crisis. In January of 2007, for example, the National Council on Crime and Delinquency (NCCD) completed a national poll of U. S. voters and 9 out of 10 respondents agreed that "youth crime is a major problem in our communities" (Krisberg & Marchionna, 2007). Stories like the following fuel our fears and sense of helplessness. In March of 1998, for example, Andrew Golden, 11, and Mitchell Johnson, 13, were students at the Westside Middle School in Jonesboro, Arkansas. Coming to school dressed in camouflage fatigues and possessing a van full of ammunition, Golden set off the school's fire alarm. While their classmates filed out of the building,

the boys opened fire upon them. Fifteen people were injured, five fatally (Ramsland, 2007). In Chicago, an 11-year-old boy murdered a 14-year-old girl in order to impress his fellow gang members (Satterthwaite, 1997, p. 18). In Clearfield, Pennsylvania, 16-year-old Jessica Holtmeyer was having a sleep-over with several friends who were planning to run away together to Florida. Worried that one of the girls might inform their parents of their plans, they hanged the girl from a tree and then Jessica beat her to death with a rock when the hanging failed (Ramsland, 2007).

Many experts in juvenile crime, however, fault the media for what they believe to be sensationalistic, ratings-driven coverage of a relative few gruesome criminal events. Media reporter, Susan Douglas, (1993) and others argue that this emphasis on specific incidences of juvenile violent crime is evil in its own right because it fails to consider the institutional violence in our society that fosters juvenile crime, such as poverty, racism, unemployment, lack of gun control, poor educational opportunities, failed drug treatment policies, violent homes and communities, and inadequate social and medical services. We do know that relatively few juveniles (five to eighteen percent) account for over 75 percent of violent juvenile crime (Seifert, 1999). Unfortunately, Seifert also notes that the fastest growing delinquent population is boys under the age of 12.

Juvenile Crime Rates

One salient topic concerning juvenile crime, then, is the nature and extent of it in our society. Experts on juvenile crime usually rely on annual data provided by the Federal Bureau of Investigation's (FBI) Uniform Crime Report (UCR) that tracks arrests involving all offenders and the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention (OJJDP). Additionally, the National Criminal Victimization Survey released by U. S. Department of Justice surveys thousands of households nationwide to gather data on criminal victimization that was not reported to the police. A brief review of the FBI and OJJDP data for 2006 suggests that 12.6 percent of all violent crime in America involved only juvenile offenders. Juveniles accounted for 19.1 percent of all property crimes nationally. Arrests of juveniles for murder were up 3.4 percent in 2006 when compared with 2005 data, while robbery increased 18.9 percent during that same two-year period (FBI, 2008).

While this data raises alarm for some public policy advocates, others, such as Michael Jones and Barry Krisberg (1994) of the National Council on Crime

and Delinquency argue that juvenile crime rates have not soared over the past three decades, and, in fact, they have declined or remained constant when one considers more detailed and reliable indicators. Since juvenile offenders are more likely to commit crimes with their peers ("co-offend"), for example, the successful arrest of three juveniles for one murder inflates the actual juvenile crime data to suggest that there were three murders, not one. According to Annette Fuentes's (2008) review of more long-term FBI data, murder rates for juveniles dropped from 1,224 in 1997 to 710 in 2006 for a 42 percent decline and other violent youth crime dropped 20 percent during that same time period. Thus, one major challenge in any analysis of juvenile crime and resulting public policy is one's interpretation of the data available about the nature and extent of juvenile criminal actions annually.

Applications

Causes of Youth Violence

Seifert (1999) reports that the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency (OJJDP) identified six risk categories for youth violence that provides a useful way of organizing causal conditions for youthful offenders: Community/society, economic, family, individual, school, and peers.

- "Community/society" entails cultural norms for weapons, violent media and video games, hostile attitudes towards women, easy availability of illegal drugs, and the acquisition of things and power.
- Economic risks pertain to poverty, homelessness, and joblessness.
- Family risks include violence, child abuse and neglect, conflict, and lack of nurturing and support. Additioally, Mocan and Tekin (2006) found that "gun availability at home is positively related to the propensity to commit crime for juveniles." Despite research suggesting that the public believes parents have some responsibility for the crimes of their children, there seems to be little public support for laws making parents liable for those crimes (Brank & Weisz, 2004).
- A failed educational experience and failing educational systems reflect the category of "schools" in the OJJDP

report. One interesting study on the short-term effect of attending school on juvenile crime is reported by Jacob and Lefgren (2003). During periods of school attendance, juvenile property crime decreased by 14 percent. Unfortunately, during that same period of school attendance, the concentration of youth in schools increased violent crime by 28 percent. School-safety, then, remains a grave educational concern. While policing efforts, such as metal detectors and locker searches remain a necessity, greater attention needs to be paid to the emotional climates of our schools. Antibullying programs, conflict resolution measures, diversity, inclusion and gender equity efforts, and other community-building and social service endeavors must become paramount interventions in our goal to make schools safe, just and compassionate for all youth.

- These efforts, however, are complicated by the pervasive existence of gangs in our culture today, which encompasses of OJJDP category of "peers." While gangs are not new to American society, the vast increase in their numbers, their blanket coverage of our nation throughout urban and rural areas, their subculture of violence, and their enhanced influence in all facets of American life make them a deadly and powerful force in juvenile crime.
- Due to recent scientific inquiry, however, the OJJDP risk category of "individual" is receiving compelling consideration today in the debate over juvenile crime. Through magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies, scientists believe that the brain of a juvenile is less developed than that of an adult, especially in the front lobe which is responsible for executive, high order functioning, such as memory, planning, and inhibition. Bower (2004) and others suggest this condition presents some juveniles with difficulties in "regulating aggression, long-range planning, mental flexibility, abstract thinking, the capacity to hold in mind related pieces of information, and perhaps moral judgment." In addition to the recent findings on apparently inherent diminished brain functioning capacity in children,

MRI research now suggests that exposure to violent video games and television might impact frontal lobe development and function negatively (Playing, 2003; Phillips, 2004). Because of these findings, advocates in juvenile justice, such as the Human Rights Watch, are pressuring politicians and judicial leaders to reconsider harsh, punitive measures in sentencing juvenile violent offenders.

While the above risk categories provide some characteristics of juvenile offenders, they do not inevitably lead to crime. Additionally, most of them would be characterized as psychological theories of crime; emphasizing the traits of an individual as the primary factor in criminal causation.

Viewpoints

Child Accountability

Prevailing beliefs about children and criminality can be best viewed as a continuum, with one extreme being the belief that evilness and criminal intent are defined early on, whether by nature (one's biological composition) or nurture (one's upbringing and/or life circumstances). Public policy advocates holding this belief champion imprisonment, and even the death penalty, as the most appropriate mechanisms for dealing with the specific offender and sending a message to other potential offenders. The opposing belief system on the continuum would be that children are too immature to be held accountable for their actions to the same degree as adult offenders and that racism, poverty, and other societal ills are also factors in criminality. Improving societal failings and providing services and special rehabilitation experiences for juvenile offenders are more likely to be championed as goals for these public policy advocates. Whatever one's beliefs on juvenile crime, it is clear that violent, multiple murders committed by juvenile offenders, when combined with sensationalized media coverage, shocks the public and raises fears about public safety and moral order. Juvenile crime is a complex social problem and competing belief systems and public opinion will continue to be factors in ongoing responses to youthful offenders.

Reform Over Punishment

Although we may find it hard to imagine today, up until the early 1800's our governments adhered to the traditional beliefs in Western civilization

that there was little difference between an adult and a child, and thus, little difference between an adult criminal and a youthful offender. Those found guilty of a criminal act received the only recognized outcome - punishment. According to Ellen Heath Grinney (1992), children as well as adults faced imprisonment, solitary confinement, branding, fines, whippings, the cutting of ears, and/or death. As ideals of the European Renaissance gained in popularity, new views emerged concerning the innocence of children and their susceptibility to good or bad influences. Judicial and religious leaders began to question the culpability of the youthful offender's parents and community in failing to provide proper guidance, diligence, restraint, and values. Processing children through the adult criminal justice system and punishing them in the adult prisons gradually gave way to beliefs that children should be guided and mentored by judicial agents (probation officers) who would correct the apparent failings of the offender's parents and lead to reform and morality. Rehabilitation, not punishment was the new goal and so by the 1850's, reform schools grew in popularity (Grinney, 1992).

Independent Juvenile Court Systems

Since innocence, role modeling, and developmental concerns gained new prominence in social policy, exposing youthful offenders to hardened adult criminals during processing and punishment would provide the worst possible outcomes. By the early 1900's, numerous cities and states had developed separate formal juvenile court systems and intervention processes focusing on second chances, rehabilitation, contrition, and reform (Grinney, 1992). In fact, systems were developed to divert youthful offenders from formal labeling as criminals altogether and to hide the accounts of their misdeeds from scrutiny during their subsequent adulthood. If a young person under the age of 18 is not tried for murder as an adult, for example, and they are found "delinquent" (guilty) under their state's laws, they can be held in a juvenile correctional facility or on probation until the age of 21. At that time, then, their records are sealed and they have no criminal record following them into adulthood.

Programs for Aiding Re-Entry

Despite decades of focus on the rehabilitation of juvenile offenders, nearly 100,000 youth leave correctional facilities every year and face the daunting task of re-entry into their communities without coordinated social services

and public assistance (JustChildren, 2004, p. 5). In an effort to deal with offenders and reduce rates of recidivism, juvenile justice advocates have been lobbying Congress to pass two federal models of interagency coordination of youth services. The Second Chance Act of 2005 (H.R. 1704/S. 1934) links federal funding of state and local government programs to evidence of extensive collaboration between public and private agencies overseeing "health, housing, child welfare, education, substance abuse, employment services and local law enforcement (H.R. 1704, Sec. 3(f)(3)).

The Federal Youth Coordination Act (H.R. 856/S. 409), passed into law in October of 2006, establishes a Federal Youth Development Council that is empowered to leverage and coordinate the resources of the twelve different federal agencies that currently administer youth programs and fund state-level coordination of services as well (Service, 2006; Federal, 2006). Although the Federal Youth Coordination Act enjoys bipartisan support in Congress, it remains hampered in its effectiveness due to less than adequate funding at this time.

Restorative Justice

One interesting trend in juvenile punishment and rehabilitation is the restorative justice movement. Based upon the principal that a criminal act harms both the victim and the community, restorative justice entails mediated, face-to-face meetings between the victim and the offender focused on making the victim as whole as possible, economically, socially, and emotionally. Through this process of repairing the harm, the offender learns the consequences of his or her acts on both the specific victim and the community as a whole. This more personalized rehabilitative process also highlights deficiencies in the life of the offender and provides a means for more direct social service interventions, such as education, job training and employment, mental health and drug treatment.

Punishment Over Reform

While much of the framework and belief system of this more lenient view of youthful offenders remains intact in American society, the pendulum has swung back to more rigid beliefs about the innate characteristics of criminality and the necessity of punishment rather than reform. During the mid-1980's, American cities struggled with waves of increased, more

violent juvenile crimes, based in part by the introduction of crack cocaine and other illegal drugs, the increased availability of guns, and gang-related violence. In a 1995 article in the "Conservative Weekly," public policy analyst John DiIulio coined the word "super-predator" to describe what he believed to be a new breed of juvenile criminal. Described as having no conscience and capable of killing at the slightest whim or provocation, Dullio attributed this development to being raised in "abject moral poverty... surrounded by deviant, delinquent, criminal adults in abusive, violence-ridden, fatherless, Godless, and jobless settings" (Satterthwaite, 1997).

Adult Treatment

Left with apparently unsuccessful alternatives and rocked by the tremendous increase in violent crime by juvenile offenders and by sensational, extensive media coverage of those crimes, states began enacting legislation to adjudicate youthful offenders as adults around 1990. Today, according to Nagin and his colleagues (2006), "in almost every state, youths who are 13 or 14 years of age (or less) can be tried and punished as adults for a broad range of offenses, including nonviolent crimes." Despite this trend, according to the NCCD national survey, by a margin of 15 to 1, U.S. voters believe that our current system of review is effective and that the "decisions to transfer youth to adult court should be made on a case-by-case basis and not be governed by a blanket policy" (Krisberg & Marchionna, 2007).

Once adjudicated to be an adult, the punishments become harsher for youth offenders as well. Nineteen states enacted the death penalty for juvenile offenders before the United States Supreme Court was asked to rule on the legality of that punishment in 2005. In a 5-4 ruling in Roper V. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), the Court categorically barred the imposition of the death penalty for crimes committed prior to the age of 18, finding that such punishment violates the Eighth Amendment of the United State's Constitution prohibition against "cruel and unusual punishments." Seventy-two youthful offenders in twelve states were facing execution at the time of the Court's ruling and they will now spend the rest of their lives in prison (Greenhouse, 2005; Lane, 2005; Justices, 2005). Hundreds of other juveniles nationwide also face lifetime imprisonment. According to a study by Human Rights Watch, for example, there are currently 223 individuals serving life sentences without the possibility of parole in California prisons who were sentenced as juveniles under the 1990 legislation. Almost half

of these people (45 percent) were accessories to murder rather than the actual murderer themselves, meaning that they served as a lookout or in some other facilitative capacity during a criminal act that caused a death (Fuentes, 2008). Arguably, according to Fuentes and others, this less-culpable population of young people would be excellent candidates for rehabilitative efforts instead of spending their lives in prison without proper services and assistance.

On the other hand, in their study of co-offending and juvenile crime, the National Institute of Justice (NIJ) found that interaction among delinquents increased the likelihood of criminal activity and its violent severity. Co-offending also increased rates of recidivism. When younger offenders committed a crime with older, more violent youthful offenders, the younger offenders were more likely to go on and commit violent crimes later in their youth (National Institute of Justice, 2005). This research suggests that intervention programs for juvenile offenders need to pay close attention to the interactions between the peers so that they do not "unintentionally provide negative peer learning" and enhanced co-offending behaviors.

Conclusion

Although the current debate over juvenile justice tends towards this punitive "get tough" perspective, Daniel Nagin and his colleagues (2006) have conducted some compelling, sophisticated polling research on public attitudes and our "willingness to pay" (WTP) for incarceration or rehabilitation for serious juvenile offenders. Using cost-benefit analysis, they calculated approximate actual costs and estimates of economic value of juvenile incarceration and various early intervention and rehabilitation programs. Then using "contingent valuation" (CV) methodology, they asked respondents to select their intervention preferences based on these economic projections. Not only were the "reforms that emphasize leniency and rehabilitation... justified economically," they were valued by respondents who expressed a willingness to fund them over harsher incarceration options. This view was mirrored in the NCCD national poll in which over 80% of respondents believed that "spending on rehabilitative services and treatment for youth will save tax dollars in the long run," and 91% believed that such measures would prevent future crime (Krisberg & Marchionna, 2007). Quite possibly the public is expressing a preference for rehabilitative measures except in the face of extreme, violent criminal acts by youthful

offenders. Having tested the extreme means to which this country would go to punish juvenile offenders, we are now poised for a more moderate, get tough position in the years to come.

Bibliography

- Bower, B. (2004, May 8). Teen brains on trial: The science of neural development tangles with the juvenile death penalty. Science News Online, 165, 19. Retrieved June 14, 2008, from www.sciencenews.org
- Brank, E., & Weisz, V. (2004). Paying for crimes f their children: Public support of parental responsibility. Journal of Criminal Justice, 32(5), 465-475. Retrieved May 22, 2008, from EBSCO Online Database Academic Search Premier. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=14185898&site=ehost-live
- Douglas, S. (1997). Juveniles are unfairly blamed for increasing crime and violence. In A. Sadler (Ed.), Juvenile crime: opposing views (pp. 41 44). San Diego, CA: Greenhaven.
- Federal Bureau of Investigation & Department of Justice. (2008, January 7). Federal Bureau of Investigation's uniform crime report. Retrieved June 1, 2008, from www.fbi.gov/ucr/prelim2007/
- Fuentes, A. (2008, Feb. 13). Give the kids a break. USA Today. Retrieved June 4, 2008, from EBSCO Online Database Academic Search Complete. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=J0E095976041108&site=ehost-live
- Greenhouse, L. (2005, March 2). The Supreme Court: The overview: Supreme Court, 5-4, Forbids execution in juvenile crime. New York Times.
- Grinney, H. (1992). Delinquency and criminal behavior. Philadelphia, PA: Chelsea House.
- Human Rights Watch. (2005). The difference between youth and adults. Retrieved June 14, 2008, from www.hrw/reports/2005/us1005/6.htm
- Jacob, B., & Lefgren, L. (2003). Are idle hands the devils workshop? Incapacitation, concentration, and juvenile crime. The American Economic Review, 93(5), 1560–1577. Retrieved January 12, 2009, from EBSCO Online Database Business Source Complete. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=bth&AN=11801419&site=eh ost-live
- Jones, M., & Krisberg, B. (1997). Juvenile crime and violence are not Increasing. In A. Sadler (Ed.), Juvenile crime: opposing views (pp. 24 28). San Diego, CA: Greenhaven.
- JustChildren: A summary of best practices in school re-entry for incarcerated youth returning home. (2004). Charlottesville, VA: Legal Aid Justice Center.
- Justices abolish death penalty for juveniles. (2005, March 1). MSNBC. http://www.msnbc.msn.com/id/7051296/
- Krisberg, B. & Marchionna, S. (2007, February). Attitudes of US voters towards youth crime and the justice system. FOCUS. Oakland, CA: National Council on Crime and Delinquency.

- Kronenberger, W. (2003, Spring). Playing with kids' minds? Medicine (printed by Indiana University Press). Retrieved June 14, 2008, from http://www.medicine.indiana.edu/iu_medicine/03_spring/articles/kidsMinds.html
- Lane, C. (2005, March 2). 5-4, Supreme Court abolishes juvenile executions. Washington Post, A01. http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/articles/A62584-2005Mar1.html
- Lawson, C., & Katz, J. (2004). Restorative justice: An alternative approach to juvenile crime. Journal of Socio-Economics, 33(2), 175-189. Retrieved January 12, 2009, from EBSCO Online Database Business Source Complete. http://search.ebscohost.com/ login.aspx?direct=true&db=bth&AN=12747657&site=ehost-live
- Miller, M. (1996). Coping with weapons and violence in your schools and on yours streets. New York, NY: Rosen.
- Mocan, H., & Tekin, E. (2006). Guns and juvenile crime. Journal of Law & Economics, 49(2), 507–532. Retrieved June 4, 2008, from EBSCO Online Database Business Source Complete. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=bth&AN=234311 64&site=ehost-live
- Nagin, D., Piquero, A., Scott, E., & Steinberg, L. (2006). Public preferences for rehabilitation versus incarceration of juvenile offenders: Evidence from a contingent valuation survey. University of Virginia Legal Working Paper Series, 5(4), 627-652. Retrieved January 12, 2009, from EBSCO Online Database Academic Search Complete. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=23415756&site=ehost-live
- National Collaboration for Youth. (2006, October 17). Federal Youth Coordination Act. National Juvenile Justice Network. Retrieved June 22, 2008, from http://www.youthcoordinationact.org/ncy/documents
- National Institute of Justice. (2005, December). Co-offending and patterns of juvenile crime. Retrieved on June 10, 2008, from http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/nij/pubs-sum/210360. htm
- Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. (2006). Report summary: 2006 National Report of Juvenile Offenders and Victims. Retrieved June 1, 2008, from http://ojidp.ncjrs.gov/ojstatbb/nr2006/index.html
- Phillips, H. (2007, April 19). Mind-altering media. New Scientist. Retrieved June 14, 2008 from http://www.newscientist.com/article/mg19426001.900
- Ramsland, K. (2007). School killers: The list. Retrieved June 14, 2008, from truTV Crime Library. www.crimelibrary.com/serial_killers/weird/kids1/index_1.html
- Ramsland, K. (2007). Violence and the brain. Retrieved June 14, 2008, from truTV Crime Library. http://www.trutv.com/library/crime/serial_killers/weird/kids2/brain_6. html
- Satterthwaite, M. (1997). Juvenile crime. Philadelphia, PA: Chelsea House.
- Seifert, K. (1999, Fall). The violent child: Profiles, assessment and treatment. Paradigm.
- National Collaboration for Youth, National Juvenile Justice Network. (2006, May). Service coordination strengthens youth reentry. Retrieved June 22, 2008, from http://www.youthcoordinationact.org/ncy/documents

- U. S. Department of Justice. (2008). National Criminal Victimization Survey. Retrieved June 1, 2008, from www.ojp.usdoj.gov/bjs/
- Violence and the brain (2007). Retrieved June 14, 2008, from www.crimelibrary.com/serial_killers/weird/kids2/brain_6html

Suggested Reading

- Chesney-Lind, M., & Sheldon, R. (Eds.) (1998). Girls, delinquency, and juvenile justice (2nd ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Feld, B. (1999). Bad kids: Race and the transformation of the juvenilecourt. Oxford: UP.
- Feld, B. (Ed.) (1999). Readings in juvenile justice administration. Oxford: Oxford UP.
- Finkehor, D. (2008). Childhood victimization: Violence, crime, and abuse in the lives of young people. Oxford: Oxford UP.
- Flowers, R. (2002). Kinds who commit adult crimes: Serious criminality by juvenile offenders. Binghamton, NY: Haworth.
- Krisberg, B. (2008). Juvenile justice: Redeeming our children. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Kupchik, A. (2006). Judging juveniles: Prosecuting adolescents in adult juvenile courts. New York: New York UP.
- Lawrence, R. (1998). School crime and juvenile justice. Oxford: Oxford UP.
- Muncie, J. and Goldson, B. (Eds.) (2008). Youth crime and juvenile justice. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- National Council on Crime and Delinquency. http://www.nccd.crc.org/nccd/n_index_main.html

Gang Membership

Maureen McMahon

Overview

West Side Story is a tragic love story depicted through a turf-war between two rival gangs – the Jets and the Sharks. Both the film and the Broadway production are based on fictional events starring fictional characters. However, neither Tony nor Maria saw the realistic ending of their romance before it happened; gang activity often involves violence, and violence often results in death. While Tony didn't anticipate his impending demise, school administrators, criminalists, and the federal government do realize the danger of gang membership and try to prevent it whenever they note new affiliates being pursued.

According to Dictionary.com, a gang is defined as "a group of youngsters or adolescents who associate closely, often exclusively, for social reasons, esp. such a group engaging in delinquent behavior." In most instances, an allegiance forms, and the gang members become loyal to each other and the gang as an entity. As odd as it may seem, a gang can be compared to a fraternity, with the exception of higher education of the latter. To gain entrance into fraternities, young men endure a pledging process in which they prove their loyalty oftentimes by illegal means, as underage drinking is a large part of the initiation process. Another part is swearing allegiance to the other members of the group, vowing to protect and stand by each of them. This allegiance is what identifies members of the Ku Klux Klan

and other cult-like organizations as well. In this vein, gang activity crosses education, racial, socioeconomic, and geographic boundaries.

Juvenile Delinquency

Primarily, though, gangs in America contain male youth, adolescents generally ranging in age from ten to twenty. In most instances, the members of a gang are considered juvenile delinquents, as they tend to behave in ways that are defined as offenses of deviance. A general definition of a juvenile delinquent includes people who are under the age of 18 committing one or more acts that violate the law. Violating the law for a juvenile can include not attending school, running away from home, or drinking alcohol; it can also include many of the same offenses committed by adults, like theft or assault (Smith, 2008).

Smith (2008) also notes that juvenile delinquency has been identified with other youth behavior issues, like antisocial behavior, conduct disorder, and oppositional defiant disorder. Sadly, these disorders are often "seen in combination with other mental health disorders and conditions such as Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorder" (Smith, 2008, p. 4). Young men feeling like they behave differently than their peers may see the community of gang membership as a positive move toward social integration, not to mention a status builder. Peers who never noticed these young men will surely take note when the social misfits become the school drug dealers or the bullies on the playground. What's critical to note here is that most youth will decide to enter a gang by the time they reach the age of fifteen. Any adolescent who violates the law should receive immediate intervention, especially if he's a young teenager.

In fact, Gatti, Tremblay, Vitaro & McDuff (2005) conducted a longitudinal study of 756 male youth in Montreal, Canada. In the study, gang members between the ages of 14-16 were evaluated based on self-reported activity as well as court documents. Gatto et al. (2005) focused on the frequency of several behaviors they considered to be delinquent. Drug use, property damage, theft, and violent offenses were the concentration (p. 1178). Of the several hundred youth in the study, those affiliated with a gang were the most likely to act delinquently (p. 1178), so much so that once all of the data was correlated, membership in a gang was noted as an actual predictor for delinquency (p. 1186). This is a circular reference: those who behave delin-

quently tend to be gang members and gang members – as the study notes – will be delinquent. This is not to say that good kids don't do bad things because they do. However, in this study, those adolescents who used drugs, destroyed property, or behaved violently were members of gangs.

Further Insights

Gang Mentality

Pinizzotto, Davis & Miller III, (2007), conducted over twenty-years of research interviewing gang members in prison regarding their violent behaviors toward members of law enforcement. During their interviews, Pinizzotto et al. (2007) learned that,

. . . gang members either attempted to or inflicted injuries of greater severity than appeared warranted under the circumstances. They exhibited no remorse for their actions but, rather, appeared to take pride in attacking sworn law enforcement professionals (p. 3).

For example, attacking a police officer is a high-status endeavor.

What is not surprising is that Pinizotto et al. (2007) noted similarities among the inmates.

- First, all of the gang members they interviewed had no male role models when growing up;
- Second, none of the gang members graduated from high school;
- Third, the average age for the first criminal offense of the interviewees was nine;
- Fourth, all of the inmates interviewed "experienced some form of verbal or physical abuse within the family setting.
 Outside this unit, all became the victim of at least one physical assault during their early childhoods";
- The fifth similarity involves work; none of the gang members had a non-gang affiliated job when they were arrested;

• Finally, each of the inmates identified their neighborhoods as being an integral part of their lives (Pinizotto et al., 2007 pp. 3-6).

Summarizing their findings, the researchers identify a gang mentality that should cause alarm:

The goal of every gang member was to achieve status and respect within their gangs. Respected only when feared, gang members achieved this through repeated acts of physical violence against others ... Once perceived as willing to use violence without conscience, especially when directed toward law enforcement officers, gang members obtained status (p. 7).

Girls in Gangs

The popular saying, "behind every good man is a good woman" is even true when gang construction is considered. According to Wes McBride, a retired L. A. County Sheriff's investigator and an authority on street gangs, "a lot of gang fighting is about girlfriends. It's really a turf dispute. The woman is a man's property, and if she's insulted, he's insulted ... There used to be fistfights, but now shooting the other guy is the only means of problem solving" (as cited in Junod, 2008, p. 100). Someone may wonder why a young woman would join a gang. Eghigian & Kirby (2006) note some possible reasons:

Girls join gangs for the same reason most boys do -- multiple factors and circumstances that have existed throughout their lives: financial opportunity, identity and status, peer pressure, family dysfunction and protection. However, some girls readily admit that they join because they are bored and look to gangs for a social life; they are looking for fun and excitement and a means to find parties and meet boys. Regrettably for those who naively join expecting harmless social rewards, they may find out too late about the actual violent nature of street gang existence. Still, others join simply because gangs are there in the neighborhood and are viewed as an everyday way of life (Eghigian & Kirby, 2006, p. 48).

Even if it is a way of life, young women need to endure initiation before gaining member status within a gang. In some gangs the practice of initiation would be dictated, like in a hazing or pledging situation. In other cases, however, the person who will endure the circumstances has the opportunity to choose by what method she is welcomed into the gang (Eghigian & Kirby, 2006). In general, most initiation types fall into one of the following categories:

- "Violated" or "jumped in" refers to a physical beating the candidate must absorb to prove her toughness, loyalty and commitment to the gang;
- The mission method simply requires the girl to commit a criminal act, perhaps ride along on a drive-by shooting or even be dropped off deep in enemy territory and forced to get out alive;
- "Sexed in" is not the most common, but certainly the least respected initiation, in which a female may elect to participate in sex with a gang member. However, both girls and boys alike look down on this initiation, and those who elect this course are usually typecast and have extremely low status; and "Walked in" or "blessed in" is reserved only for those girls who have had generations of family as gang members, who have a family member in good gang standing, or who have grown up in the neighborhood, are well known, respected and have proved their loyalty beyond question (Eghigian & Kirby 2006, p. 49).

One of the roles that young women have within a gang community is to transport contraband like drugs and guns in and outside of a prison. The theory behind this job is that criminalists are less likely to search women. Young women also tend to find employment within the law enforcement system, perhaps in a clerk's office to gather information regarding gang members or witnesses of crimes committed by gang members. Another role is much more dangerous and requires dependability. Some young women act as lures, turning the tables on rival gang members to gather information or to set up the rivals for an ambush. Some young women also sell drugs and participate in other criminal activities in support of the gang. Finally, others take care of the children of gang members and some-

times find steady work to assist in gaining a regular income (Eghigian & Kirby 2006).

In addition to taking on different roles within a gang, young women also take on different positions of power. For example,

. . . girls range from hardcore members to "groupies" looking for a good time and someplace to hang out. Unfortunately, their numbers appear to be growing. Law enforcement has documented their participation in all forms of violence, and today they are appearing in "girls only" gangs. These gangs form from direct recruits or from the ranks of dissatisfied former members of male gangs looking for more opportunity (Eghigian & Kirby 2006, p. 48).

It is important to note that to build and sustain a "girls only" gang, the power structure would have to be that of any other gang, with people in power calling the shots (i.e., ordering the commission of crimes like drug dealing, theft, and violent offenses). Within these gangs, there would also need to be young women with a lower power status who will commit the crimes as well as youth in the lowest position to keep lookout and recruit new members. What may be shocking is that the delinquent behaviors within the gangs – theft, intimidation, drug dealing, and violent offenses – will be similar regardless of a leader's gender. Indeed, "the percentage of girls arrested as a proportion of all juvenile arrests rose from 20% in 1980 to 29% in 2003, a trend evident across all offense types including violent offenses" (Snyder & Sickmund, 2006, as cited in Smith, 2008, p. 5).

Getting Out of the Gang

For gang members of either gender, getting out of a gang offers hope for a normal life, free of criminal activity and violence. Leaving a gang can be more difficult than becoming part of one, as gang members are considered the property of the gang itself. Also, it is important to note that as much as parents and school officials want a youth to walk away from the gang life, if the young man or woman doesn't truly want to leave, a half-hearted attempt could be dangerous for the whole family. However, with the careful consideration of the following things, a safe exit is possible if a person truly wants to leave.

Seeking help from nongang members is crucial to a safe exit. Trusted adults like counselors at school, law enforcement, or clergy can offer assistance in creating an effective exit plan (Eghigian & Kirby 2006).

It is essential that anyone wanting to leave a gang understands the rules of conduct for the gang. For instance, is there a clear guide to what will happen if someone tries to leave? Understanding these rules can help create a plan for leaving (Eghigian & Kirby 2006).

- Fading away by gradually becoming less active in a gang is a typical method for getting away from the illegal activity of a gang (Preventing Gang Involvement, 2006).
- Creating distance from the gang by being less available for gang activities is a way to fade away. Having a job, participating in supervised and organized recreational programs, or volunteering for a local church are ways to occupy the time that used to be spent with gang members (Preventing Gang Involvement, 2006).
- Finally, relocating the entire family to a community that does not have heavy gang activity may be necessary. This is an extreme way to sever ties with a gang, but in some cases, it is the only way (Preventing Gang Involvement, 2006).

What is important here is that "getting out" is always a possibility as the connection and loyalty felt toward the members of a gang can be redirected toward family and non-deviant friends. However, the reason(s) that youth rejected family and friends in exchange for the community of a gang will still be present once they make the move to reenter their old lives. Going back to the issues and possible conflicts they left will be a difficult adjustment, and the entire family unit should be involved in the transition process, which could be lengthy.

Gang Tattoos

While a lot of people think tattoos are cool and get them to be identified as such, gang members get them as a form of branding, a way to outwardly show the loyalty expected of gang membership. Tattoos are an interesting form of culture with various implications. In some cases, teenagers get tattoos as an act of defiance toward parents or the mainstream culture. In

others, getting a tattoo is a sign of loyalty toward a community of people within a gang. In others still, within prisons for instance, tattoos can advertise the crimes committed by those wearing them. The commonality in all of these situations is that the ink on the end of the needle is permanent.

Piley (2006) notes that tattoos are not only representative of gang membership or criminal activity, they represent a mode of communication among and between gang members. For example, gang tattoos can be in the form of numbers, letters, and/or symbols, and the characters mean something different, perhaps a geographical location of the gang's home-base or the numbers of members it has lost to death (Piley, 2006). In any event, one gang member can determine who is friend or foe depending on the tattoo of the person standing next to him.

It should also be noted that "the tattoo is a symbol of membership in the gang and, thus, is 'gang property.' Removal of a gang tattoo may be an outward nonverbal method demonstrating termination of gang membership" (Piley, 2006, p. 46). Furthermore, for criminalists, identifying a tattoo on an offender can help determine if a gang has moved home bases or increased in number, not to mention leaving the offender with no choice but to admit association with the gang whose name is tattooed across his chest.

Viewpoints

What to do With Deviant Youth: Prevention & Treatment Programs

When children misbehave in day care settings, a time-out is rendered; the child is removed from the situation in which he did something wrong and put into a situation where he is isolated from games, fun, and other children. He is not taken from the place where he misbehaved and put into a room with other misbehaving children as a form of punishment. Most people would think that putting two naughty kids together when they can't behave by themselves would do little with respect to helping them behave correctly. However, as Dishion, Dodge, & Lansford (2008) note, many communities respond to youthful offenders in just such a way: the offender is taken out of the community and locked in a facility with other youthful offenders (p. 8).

Warr (1996) identified that much of the illegal/deviant activities of youthful offenders are committed when they are in groups, as peer culture

is a priority in their lives (as cited in Dishion et al., 2008, p. 8). Furthermore, Elliot & Menard (1996) have noted that "deviant peer affiliation is a stronger predictor of delinquent behavior than such variables as family, school, and community characteristics" (as cited in Dishion et al., 2008, p. 8). This is a thought-provoking idea in that when defining at-risk youth, family life, attendance in school, and the socioeconomic status of a child's neighborhood are primary tools of identification. However, according to Warr's research, hanging out with the wrong crowd leads to a significant possibility of gang membership. And in turn, when the wrong crowd gets caught behaving badly, they are confined – with little adult supervision – to hanging out with more of the wrong crowd. Dishion et al. (2008) note the irony and effect of this resolution:

... when the reason that deviant youth are placed with each other is because they are deviant, their identity and common ground become deviance ... high exposure to deviant peers and minimal adult interaction fail to reduce recidivism and in some cases, may exacerbate it" (pp. 8-9).

Indeed, the 2002 Commission on Deviant Peer Influences studied several programs and means of intervention for youth within a three-year period. Dishion et al. (2008) notes that the Commission discovered specific instances in which deviant peer influences are the strongest on youth (p. 9). Using these criteria, it is important to understand that gang membership and negative influences can be combated by providing meaningful experiences for youth in the following situations:

- First, youth in early adolescence are primary targets for gang affiliation. The Department of Justice (2000) narrows down this time period: "[F]or many children, gang influences begin in elementary school. By the fifth grade, many students are already at the affiliate level, meaning they are making their way into initiation" (as cited in Struyk, 2006, p. 13).
- Second, young people who have perhaps experimented with behavior of a deviant nature but have not yet become delinquent are more at risk to cross over to deviance than youth who have not experimented.

- Third, young people who are exposed to and interact with other youth of a more deviant stature especially in unsupervised settings are are also more likely to fall into a deviant lifestyle.
- Finally, substance abuse, violent behaviors, and delinquency are social activities, and at this young age those activities rarely occur in isolation. As such, the activities can be used secondarily to create a social construct of deviance (Dishion et al., 2008, p. 9).

It seems impossible that children this young would consider gang membership to be enticing. However, if they are primarily left alone – before and after school – and if their friends, older siblings, or older neighbors are already affiliated, it would make sense to join the ranks of the only community involvement they may know. If one's friends are making money carrying drugs for an older buddy, carrying drugs may seem like a way to be included, to prove and to feel loyalty. "Gang membership creates a unique bond between its members that is exclusive to all other individuals ... loyalty is to the gang above all else, including family, school, or community" (Struyk, 2006, 11). Furthermore, carrying enough cash to purchase the things poor parents cannot provide is incentive to remain in this community.

Discussion

In February 2006, an initiative to stop gang violence was created by the U.S. Department of Justice. The initiative proposes to "prioritize prevention programs to provide America's youth and offenders ... with opportunities that help them resist gang involvement ... [and also to] ensure robust enforcement policies when gang-related violence does occur" (Department of Justice's Youth Gang Prevention Initiative, n.d.). The initiative was created on the basis of information collected in 2004. According to the data,

... 760,000 gang members and 24,000 gangs were active in more than 2,900 U.S. jurisdictions in 2004, representing all 50 states and all cities with a population over 250,000. As most gang members join between the ages of 12 and 15, prevention is a critical strategy

within a comprehensive response to gangs that includes law enforcement, prosecution, and reentry (Department of Justice's Youth Gang Prevention Initiative, n.d.).

Gangs are everywhere and their members do anything from drinking underage to killing police officers to gain respect. Most gang members are in their teenage years when peer pressure and social status are two primary concerns. When lashing out at a person who threatens his friends and community is all that he knows, changing a young man's behavior will not be easy. Put a gun in his hand, and lashing out turns to murder for the sake of turf maintenance. According to the 2004 Teen Gun Survey, "in 2000, 40 percent of teens [surveyed] said they could get a handgun if they needed to" (Vanden Berk, cited in "2004 Teen Gun Survey," 2004). With odds like that, who wants to disagree with anyone?

Bibliography

- 2004 Teen Gun Survey. (2004, October). Chicago: Project Safe Neighborhoods: America's Network Against Gun Violence. Retrieved April 25, 2008 from website: http://www.psnchicago.org/news/teen_gun_survey.html
- Cooper, L., Anaf, J. & Bowden, M. (2006). Contested concepts in violence against women: 'Intimate', 'domestic' or 'torture'? Australian Social Work, 59 (3), pp. 314-327. Retrieved April 17, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=23219469&site=ehost-live
- Department of Justice's Youth Gang Prevention Initiative. (n.d.). Washington, D. C.: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. Retrieved April 24, 2008 from website: http://ojjdp.ncjrs.gov/programs/antigang/
- Dishion, T. J., Dodge, K. A. & Lansford, J. E. (2008). Deviant by design: Risks associated with aggregating deviant peers into group prevention and treatment programs. Prevention Researcher, 15 (1), pp. 8-11. Retrieved April 17, 2008 from EBSCO online database Education Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ehh&AN=31324800&site=ehost-live
- Eghigian, M. & Kirby, K. (2006). Girls in gangs: On the rise in America. Corrections Today, 68 (2), pp. 48-50. Retrieved April 17, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=2 0610238&site=ehost-live
- Gatti, U., Tremblay, R. E., Vitaro, F. & McDuff, P. (2005). Youth gangs, delinquency and drug use: A test of the selection, facilitation, and enhancement hypotheses. Journal of Child Psychology & Psychiatry, 46 (11), pp. 1178-1190. Retrieved April 19, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=18574332&site=ehost-live

- Junod, T. (2008). When chivalry is deadly. Esquire, 149 (2), p. 100. Retrieved April 18, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=29435211&site=ehost-live
- Piley, W. (2006). Interpreting gang tattoos. Corrections Today, 68 (2), pp. 46-53. Retrieved April 17, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=20610237&site=ehost-live
- Pinizzotto, A. J., Davis, E. F. & Miller III, C. E. (2007). Street-gang mentality. FBI Law Enforcement Bulletin, 76 (9), pp. 1-7. Retrieved April 17, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=27166304&site=ehost-live
- Preventing Gang Involvement. (2006). Retrieved May 1, 2008 from Fairfax County, Virginia website: http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/gangprevention/preventing.htm
- Sherman, L.W., Gottfredson, D. C., MacKenzie, D. L., Eck, Reuter, P., & Bushway, S.D. (1998). Preventing Crime: What Works, What Doesn't, What's Promising. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. Retrieved April 24, 2008 from website: http://www.ncjrs.gov/works/
- Smith, C. A. (2008) Juvenile delinquency: An introduction. Prevention Researcher, 15 (1), pp. 3-7. Retrieved April 18, 2008 from EBSCO online database Education Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ehh&AN=313247 99&site=ehost-live
- Struyk, R. (2006). Gangs in our schools. Clearing House, 80 (1), pp. 11-13. Retrieved April 17, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=23328045&site=ehost-live
- Warr, M. (1996). Organization and instigation in delinquent groups. Criminology, 34, pp. 11-37.

Suggested Reading

- Agnew, R. (2005). Juvenile Delinquency: Causes and Control. Los Angeles, CA: Roxbury.
- Braga, A. A., Pierce, G. L., McDevitt, J., Bond, B. J. & Cronin, S. (2008). The strategic prevention of gun violence among gang-involved offenders. JQ: Justice Quarterly, 25 (1), pp. 132-162. Retrieved April 17, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=3 1334371&site=ehost-live
- Cooper L., & Bowden, M. (2006). Working with women associated with Bikie Gangs: Practice dilemmas, Australian Social Work Journal, 59 (3), pp. 309-321.
- Decker, S. H. & Curry, D. (2002). Gangs, gang homicides, and gang loyalty: Organized crimes of disorganized criminals. Journal of Criminal Justice, 30 (4), pp. 343-352.
- Dishion, T. J. (2000). Cross-setting consistency in early adolescent psychopathology: Deviant friendships and problem behavior sequelae. Journal of Personality, 68, pp. 1,109-1,126.

- Dishion, T. J., Andrews, D. W. & Crosby, L. (1995). Antisocial boys and their friends in early Adolescence: Relationship characteristics, quality and interactional process. Child Development. 66, pp. 139-151.
- Dishion. T. J., McCord, J., & Poulin, F. (1999). When interventions harm: Peer groups and problem behavior. American Psychologist. 54, pp. 755-764.
- Dishion, T. J., & Medici Skaggs, N. (2000). An ecological analysis of monthly 'bursts' in early adolescent substance use. Applied Developmental Science. 4, pp. 89-97.
- In too deep with the wrong crowd. (2007). Community Care (1677), p. 22-23. Retrieved April 17, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=25648833&site=ehost-live
- Kingsbury, A. (2008). Dispelling the myths about gangs. U.S. News & World Report, 144 (2), p. 14. Retrieved April 17, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=2840414 4&site=ehost-live
- Marks, A. (2008). Key factor in murder trends: youth, gang violence. Christian Science Monitor, 100 (28), pp. 1-4. Retrieved April 17, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=28130513&site=ehost-live
- Thornberry, T. P., & Krohn, M. D. (1997a.). Peers, drug use, and delinquency. In D. M. Stoff, J. Breiling & J. D. Maser (Eds.), Handbook of Antisocial Behavior (pp. 218-233). New York: Wiley.
- Thornberry, T.P., & Burch, J.H., II. (1997b.). Gang members and delinquent behavior. Washington, DC: US Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.
- Thornberry, T. P, Krohn, M. D., Lizotte, A. J. & Chard-Wierschem, D. (1993). The role of juvenile gangs in facilitating delinquent behavior. Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency, 30, pp. 55–87.
- Thornberry, T.P, Krohn, M.D., Lizotte, A.J., Smith C.A., & Tobin, K. (2002). The toll of gang membership: Gangs and delinquency in a developmental perspective. New York: Cambridge University Press.

The Prison System

Sinclair Nicholas

Overview

Growth of the Prison System

President Richard Nixon began a "War on Drugs" during his presidency with a formal announcement. Ronald Reagan first developed harsh drug policies at the state level as Governor of California, after which he became U.S. President and significantly expanded Nixon's "War on Drugs" as a federal policy. Smith and Hattery point out that the U.S. Government's "War on Drugs" instituted four major policy changes that directly increased the prison population:

- Longer sentences;
- Mandatory minimums;
- Some drug offenses were moved from the misdemeanor category to the felony category; and
- The institution of the "Three Strikes You're Out" policy (Smith & Hattery, 2006, p. 5).

California governors of the 1980s and 1990s strongly encouraged more prison construction, and helped set a national trend, while the California legislature enacted more than 400 pieces of legislation that increased criminal penalties, and thereby ensured that the state would need even

more prisons (Simon, 2007, p494). To date, California has continued its trend for increasing the number of prisons. Saskal (2006) reports that the governor of California, Arnold Schwarzenegger, in 2008 called for the issuance of \$8.7 billion of lease revenue bonds to expand the capacity of California's overfilled prison system. Saskal also reports that the governor expects California lawmakers to comply because there are several lawsuits pending over poor and overcrowded conditions in the system, and federal judges are close to intervening (Saskal, 2006, p. 1). The \$8.7 billion of lease revenue bonds will increase California's prison capacity by creating "16,238 new beds at existing sites, 5,000 to 7,000 beds in new secure re-entry facilities designed to help acclimatize prisoners who are close to release, and a modernized death row" (Saskal, 2006, p. 40).

California is not alone in expanding the prison system. Albanese reports that in 2008, Texas Lieutenant Governor David Dewhurst intends to add 5,000 new beds to its prison system. Dewhurst argues that Texas "has not added any significant number of beds to its prison system since the 1990s when it issued about \$1 billion of bonds for prisons." Since that time, the prison population has boomed, with Texas prisons currently holding 160,000 inmates. Dewhurst says "having the extra prison capacity will benefit the state in the long run" (Albanese, 2007, p. 9), which indicates his expectation for the number of incarcerated to increase.

The end result of our change to a punitive approach to crime — and particularly our severe laws on nonviolent crimes such as drug sales or use — is that the U.S. far outstrips every other country in the world in per capita incarcerations. The U.S. currently incarcerates a much higher proportion of its population than Russia or even China, a country that Smith and Hattery note has incarceration practices that are "frequently the target of investigations and reports by human rights watch groups such as Amnesty International" (Smith & Hattery, 2007, p. 275).

California and Texas demonstrate a national trend that is about to cause America to even further outstrip all other countries for incarcerations. Johnson reports that the most recent analysis of the Pew Charitable Trusts (the Pew report) predicts the number of inmates in U.S. prisons will probably rise an additional 13% during the next five years, and will cost states approximately \$27.5 billion in new operating and

construction expenses (Johnson, 2007, \P 1). Frederickson observes that "the costs of the American penal system are astonishing," and notes that, in the past 20 years, "state prison costs have jumped from about \$12 billion to just under \$50 billion." The author also notes that these costs are estimated to grow to \$75 billion by 2011 (Frederickson, 2008, p. 11). Thus, we can expect much more tax money to go into our burgeoning prison system.

Incarceration & Crime Rates

Since our prison population has been rapidly increasing in the last few decades, it seems logical that the cause would be an increase in the number of violent crimes, but there has not been an increase in violent crimes. In fact, there has been a significant decrease. According to Smith and Hattery, "since 1991 the rate of violent crime in the US has fallen by about 20%, while the number of people in prison or jail has risen by 50%" (Smith & Hattery, 2007, p. 274). Clear gives us yet more specific information about the nonexistent relationship between incarceration figures and crime rates:

...a 500 percent generation-long growth in imprisonment has had little impact on crime. Broadly speaking, crime rates today are about what they were in 1973, though they have fluctuated dramatically over the 33-year time span since then. Beginning in 1973, crime rates went up into the early 1980s, went down for a few years at the end of that decade, went back up again, and then experienced a lengthy downward trend starting in the late 1990s. Prison populations, on the other hand, have risen every year since 1990 (Clear, 2007, p. 613).

As noted above, one of the biggest reasons for the increase is our harsh approach to nonviolent crimes — especially our punitive laws on drug distribution, sales and use. The Pew analysts have determined that the phenomenal growth "is being fueled by mandatory minimum sentences that have stretched prison terms for many criminals, declines in inmates granted parole and other policies that states have passed in recent years to crack down on crime" (Johnson, 2007, ¶ 2). The Pew report specifically cites harsher drug laws as one of the main factors in increasing the nation's prison population (Johnson, 2007, ¶ 14), and the report also confirms that the number of incarcerated women is expected to increase even more than

men. Pew analysts predict that "the number of female inmates will rise at a faster rate (16%) than males (12%)" (Johnson, 2007, \P 10). Also, by 2011, Florida's prison system will join California and Texas by becoming the third state system to surpass 100,000 inmates (Johnson, 2007, \P 11).

The Prison Population

There are currently more than 2.6 million Americans serving prison sentences in State and Federal prisons. According to Smith and Hattery (2006), one million — or 43% of all prisoners (including men and women) — are African American men. If we examine the statistics by gender, then African American men represent about two thirds (62%) of the male prison population. African American men comprise only 13% of the total U.S. male population (Smith & Hattery, 2006, p. 6). This seems a clear indication that something about American culture — a combination of its socioeconomic, legislative and judicial systems — is causing a significant disproportion in our prison population.

Spear observes that the United States incarcerates a disproportionately large number of poor and uneducated Americans; thus, nearly all of the prisoners are from poor and uneducated backgrounds, and many of them are African Americans. Citing statistics from the nonprofit organization The Sentencing Project, Spear notes that "black males born today have a one in three chance of going to prison during their lifetime — as compared to a one in 17 chance for white males." Spear also observes that the "mentally disturbed, lacking support in the community, gravitate toward the prison system, where they will find little help" (Spear, 2006, p. 22). Clear (2007) observes that people who go to prison "come disproportionately from a handful of neighborhoods, impoverished places where schools are bad, the labor market weak, and housing inadequate" (p. 615). He then concludes that the "social effects of incarceration are hyperconcentrated among young, poor, black men and urban black communities" (Clear, 2007).

Smith and Hattery offer another interesting statistic and comparison. They point out that, as of 2006, 450,000 of the more than 2 million inmates are serving sentences in state and federal prisons for non-violent drug offenses. They also point out that this number (450,000) represents more prisoners than the European Union has in prison for all crimes combined — and the EU has a larger population than the U.S., by 100 million people

(Smith & Hattery, 2006, p6). Smith and Hattery note that African American males represented only 9% of the prison population in the 1970s, but after harsher drug law sentencing came into effect, the population climbed to its current 62% representation (Smith & Hattery, 2006, p. 22).

Over the last decade, the U.S. jail and prison population has continued to rise sharply. Spear and other researchers concur that a "get-tough" legal approach to the distribution and use of illicit drugs is the primary cause for the increase. Spear notes that many of the prisoners who are there for drug offenses actually have no record of violent offenses; that there are other expanding groups in the prison population. The rise of "tough-oncrime" laws has allowed far more juveniles to be tried in an adult court at much younger ages than previously, and according to The Sentencing Project, these adult sentences that are imposed on children are "unduly severe." As we shall see, the conditions in juvenile prisons are also unduly severe. Spear notes that the female prison population has also increased significantly, and comments that this situation usually leaves their children with a family member or the children end up as wards of the state. This of course weakens or perhaps destroys the family structure of the imprisoned (Spear, 2006, p. 23). To summarize, the prison population is mostly poor and uneducated, predominantly African American, increasingly consisting of women, children, and the mentally disturbed, and the biggest cause of this increase are the changes in drug laws.

Further Insights

The Prison Industrial Complex

The private business sector benefits in various ways from increased incarcerations, and this should be examined more closely. Smith and Hattery note that many Fortune 500 companies have been taking advantage of the cheap labor resources available through prison populations. The use of prison labor allows corporations to save significantly on labor costs and thereby increase their profits "much like plantations, ship builders, and other industries did during the 200 plus years of slavery in the United States" (Smith & Hattery, 2006, p. 11). Smith and Hattery use a term that seems appropriate, and will probably come into common use when discussing the U.S. prison system. The authors refer to it as the "Prison Industrial Complex (PIC)", and they argue that the capitalist economy and the

prison system that characterizes the PIC create a symbiotic system. Prisons only make money when the prison beds are occupied, and that "the more prisons provide labor for corporations, the more prisons will be built." Their conclusion is alarming. They propose that "the PIC and its attendant industries contribute to the increased rates of incarceration in the US and the continued exploitation of labor, primarily African American labor" (Smith & Hattery, 2006, p. 11). It makes basic economic sense that, when there are empty prison cells, the prison loses money, and "prisons beds" — as industry insiders refer to their economic units — need full capacity for optimal profit. The authors argue that the PIC is a self-perpetuating system:

We must impose harsher and longer sentences and we must continue to funnel inmates into prisons... and this funnel is not being filled with white collar offenders such as Bernie Ebbs (WorldCom), Ken Lay (Enron), or Martha Stewart, but rather by vulnerable, unempowered populations, primarily young, poor, African American men (Smith & Hattery, 2006, p. 13).

A recent change in inmate labor regulations has created a system wherein inmate labor is increasingly subcontracted for a variety of business sectors. Subcontracting companies act as middlemen for many of the largest companies in the United States. The middlemen subcontracting companies that are hired by America's largest companies use prison labor for telemarketing, call service, manufacturing, packaging, and distributing their products, though in some cases there is no middleman and the companies directly outsource to prison labor. Smith and Hattery note that, although Americans are unaware of it, every day they are the beneficiary of the work done by ten to 15 prison laborers (Smith & Hattery, 2006, p. 17), and Americans use about 30 products daily that were produced, packaged, or sold out of a prison. The authors also make an astute observation on the ultimate reach of this economic system by observing "prison industries have truly infiltrated the global market" (Smith & Hattery, 2007, p. 283).

Corporations pay prisoners a sub-minimum wage (often less than \$1 per hour), and are making enormous profits on prison labor (Smith & Hattery, 2006, p. 13). Additional advantages to the use of prison labor, besides the obvious advantage of paying very low wages, are that companies who use

prison labor don't have to provide health insurance or vacation benefits, and they need not be concerned about severance pay or lay-offs (Smith & Hattery, 2006, p. 14). They can conveniently increase the number of prison workers during peak sales periods, and send them back to their cells whenever sales decline (Smith & Hattery, 2006, p. 19).

Although big companies pay prison workers much less than they pay for workers on the outside, they aren't actually reducing the markup to the consumer; of course, they retain the increased profits (Smith & Hattery, 2006, p. 19). The system thus benefits the wealthier citizens who might own stock in these companies, but it does not help the average American worker or consumer. In fact, evidence suggests that, if anything, the system creates negative effects for the average American worker. Smith and Hattery note that the exploitation of inmate labor can cause higher unemployment and lower wages in local communities (Smith & Hattery, 2006, p. 17).

Corporations & Prisons

Another benefit to the private sector is the outsourcing of both, the construction of prisons and the operation and management of those prisons. For example, the Corrections Corporation of America (CCA), which builds and staffs prisons, currently manages "67,000 beds (approximately 62,000 inmates) in 63 facilities — from California to Oklahoma to Montana to the District of Columbia — and have plans to build more" (Smith & Hattery, 2006, p. 12). CCA trades on the New York Stock Exchange and employs approximately 15,000. Private corporations such as CCA not only make high profits on building and operating prisons, they also profit on many outsourcing services, such as food service or other services, and they profit on "leasing" prisoner labor to the multinational corporations in the above-described scenario (Smith & Hattery, 2006, p. 21). In short, the Prison Industrial Complex is booming in spite of the 20% decrease in violent crime over the last few decades.

After the recent loosening of the laws that prohibited the direct competition between prisons and free enterprise, some prisons have also begun directly producing their own goods for the mainstream market. For example, an Oregon prison that started out making denim uniforms for all the inmates in the entire Oregon State Prison system has successfully marketed its own denim clothing line. The Prison Blues Garment Factory operates behind

barbed wire, and Americans are now ordering the prison factory's "Prison Blues"® clothing through the internet (Smith & Hattery, 2006, p16). Supporters of the PIC argue that "this is a positive movement in the evolution of prisons because it provides work, it teaches job skills that are transportable, and it allows inmates to earn some money while they are on the inside" (p. 18). Although these arguments are founded in a rehabilitative mentality, we should ask whether the system is actually based on a rehabilitative philosophy, or whether it is entirely based on convenient exploitation of prisoners to maximize corporate profits (Smith & Hattery, 2006).

Exploitation & Corruption

Corporate exploitation of prisoners can also occur from the customer end. For example, prisoners pay much higher fees for making collect calls to speak with their families. According to the New York Times, prisons all over the country have been "gouging inmates and their families when telephone companies started paying legalized kickbacks — called 'commissions' — to the state prison systems for monopoly on the service" ("A Good Call in New York," 2007, Abstract). The state of New York recently set a national precedent by forcing its corrections department to change its policy of charging inmates and their families "more than six times the going rate for collect calls made from prison." As the article observes, "these schemes place a huge financial burden on inmate families, who tend to be among the poorest in the nation, and who must often choose between paying phone bills and putting food on the table" ("A Good Call in New York," 2007, Abstract).

There are also many cases of corruption and scandal from corporations operating prisons. For example the GEO Group, a company that runs private prison facilities across the country and is publicly traded, is once again facing accusations of human rights abuses against inmates in its facilities (Dahl, 2008, ¶ 1). In 2000 the same company was known as Wackenhut Corrections Corporation, and they were sued for "excessive abuse and neglect" of inmates at the Jena Juvenile Justice Center in Jena, Louisiana (Dahl, 2008, ¶ 5). A scandal involving the same company also occurred in Texas, where 11 juvenile girls successfully sued the Wackenhut prison, and two Wackenhut employees pled guilty to criminal charges of sexual assault. Unfortunately, the girl committed suicide on the day of the legal settlement ("Locked inside a nightmare," 2000, ¶ 10). Apparently, the

company used the strategy of changing its name to escape the bad press, and is now facing new accusations in Oregon. Dahl observes that, despite this, "California Governor Arnold Schwarzenegger recently granted GEO a five-year, multi-million contract extension with the state" (Dahl, 2008, \P 8).

Politics & the Prison System

Simon (2007) notes that our current program of

Mass incarceration threatens to recreate the worst features of post-slavery America while escaping most of the protections provided by the Reconstruction constitutional amendments and the civil rights legacy they produced . . . young men, and increasingly women, are being shunted into a system whose not so unintended effect is to cast them into a permanently diminished citizenship (p. 499).

Additionally, our prison system strips the social capital from minority communities by the removal and degradation of their human capital. Simon writes, "it is not difficult to reach the bleak conclusion that the prison has become an engine of social war against some of America's most vulnerable communities" (Simon, 2007, p. 499).

In other words, the "War On Drugs" is in reality a politically-based "War on the Poor and Uneducated." Smith and Hattery (2006) note that harsh sentencing guidelines have filled America's prisons with a surprisingly large number of young Black and Hispanic men who are guilty of little more than untreated drug addictions (p. 21). It should be added that socioeconomic status highly influences whether harsh sentencing guidelines are applied to a person's drug addiction. This becomes quite clear if we consider that, with money and connections, an affluent cocaine user will end up in an expensive private "rehab" center rather than in the prison system. For example, in 2002 Jeb Bush, former governor of Florida, entered his daughter Noelle Bush into a drug treatment program after she was arrested trying to use a counterfeit drug prescription at a pharmacy. While in the treatment center, she was caught in possession of "a small white rock substance" (crack cocaine), that the police lab-tested as positive for cocaine, but no charges were filed and she remained in the center ("Police investigate Jeb Bush's daughter," 2002, ¶ 2-3). In Florida, there are much harsher laws for possession of crack cocaine than powder cocaine. The poor and uneducated do not receive the same patient and compassionate rehabilitative system when they are caught in possession; rather, they face a quick and very punitive legal and judicial system.

Viewpoints

The Politicization of Crime

A good question to ask is "to what extent has crime been politicized?" Blumstein (2007) writes that, concurrent to the growth period of the prison system, "being 'tough on crime' and especially being able to label one's opponent as 'soft on crime' provided great political advantage in a nation that was becoming increasingly concerned about the crime problem" (Blumstein, 2007, p. 4). The author then reminds us of the classic political TV advertisement of the period, which was "a 30-second 'sound bite' showing the candidate vigorously slamming shut a cell door and then proclaiming his toughness on crime." Blumstein observes that this particular form of advertising became so popular that it bordered on cliché, but he reasons that this kind of political ad campaign was effective since it was simple enough to fit the typical 30-second TV advertising format. The author argues that politicians saw great political advantage in demonstrating their toughness on crime, and because of this the U.S. experienced a wide variety of legislative changes that directly contributed to increasing our prison population (Blumstein, 2007, p. 5). The author also makes an important distinction between the growth of crime, and the growth of punitiveness, which essentially explains how violent crimes could go down even while the number of incarcerated doubled. It is not that violent crimes have increased, but that laws have become much more punitive for nonviolent crimes - and these harsh laws were probably enacted for essentially political reasons.

Jones brings up another angle to the politicization of crime, and that is the role of lobbying from the Prison Industrial Complex. For example, the "correctional officers union in California has become one of the state's top political contributors, and that their lobbying efforts push for tougher laws and longer sentences" (Jones, 2006, \P 6), presumably to ensure steady if not increased employment of corrections officers. Jones also notes that "private

firms quickly get addicted to the government cash. They, too, have poor rehabilitation rates and spend their time lobbying state legislatures for tougher laws and longer sentences" (Jones, 2006, \P 8).

Once the tougher laws get pushed through, state governors further benefit the private sector from tax dollars by increasing the prison system budget. Frederickson (2008) notes that growth in spending for our prison system has pushed aside other priorities. For example, for the past 20 years state spending on higher education has increased by 21 percent, but the spending for our prison system has increased 127 percent (Frederickson, 2008, p. 11). Politics has changed government into a system of governing through politicized crime in society, and Frederickson asks what the end result of governing through crime has done to government:

Whether one values American democracy for its liberty or its equality-enhancing features, governing through crime has been bad. First, the vast reorienting of fiscal and administrative resources toward the criminal justice system at both the federal and state levels has resulted in a shift aptly described as transformation from the 'welfare state' to the 'penal state.' The result has not been less government, but a more authoritarian executive, a more passive legislature, and a more defensive judiciary than even the welfare state itself was accused of producing (Frederickson, 2008, p. 11).

Blumstein (2007) writes that because the politicization of crime has been occurring for some time, and is likely to accelerate, it is all the more urgent to intercept it (p. 14). Jones points out the biggest problem with the Prison Industrial Complex by asking a central question and providing the answer: "Where are the financial incentives for prisons to properly perform their rehabilitative function? If anything, the captains of the incarceration industry have a perverse incentive to rehabilitate as few people as possible and keep business booming" (Jones, 2006, ¶ 4). Gonnerman and Brown point out that the punitive philosophy reigning within the Prison Industrial Complex makes the odds of rehabilitation far less. They observe that America's prisons are filled with illiterate men and women who never graduated from high school (75 percent of state inmates), and who will have a very difficult time finding employment. The punitive measures continue once a prisoner is released from the prison system: "Once freed, they become second-class citizens. Depending on the state, they may be

denied public housing, student loans, a driver's license, welfare benefits, and a wide range of jobs." The authors point out that this may be the reason that, within three years of being released, half of the ex-convicts will be convicted of a new crime (Gonnerman & Brown, 2008, ¶7).

Solution to Prison Growth

The most fundamental solution to the unnecessary growth of our prisons lies within Gonnerman and Brown's final analysis: "We've become a two-tier society in which millions of ostensibly free people are prohibited from enjoying the rights and privileges accorded to everyone else — and we continue to be defined by our desire for punishment and revenge, rather than by our belief in the power of redemption" (Gonnerman & Brown, 2008, \P 8).

The most basic change that needs to occur is a change in our belief as to what function prisons should serve for our society, and also in our perception of what constitutes crime worthy of lengthy incarceration. Spear suggests that a good starting place for reform is to change the mandatory-minimum drug laws that keep low-level drug offenders incarcerated for decades. He also believes citizens should urge lawmakers to change drug law sentencing to treatment rather than to prison. Spear and other researchers of the prison system believe that "the goal of criminal justice should not be simply to punish, but to prepare prisoners for re-entry into the communities to which they will eventually return" (Spear, 2006, p. 23), meaning rehabilitation.

Education

From a rehabilitative perspective, education in prisons is of primary importance. According to Bracey, research on "the impact of education on recidivism finds positive effects, whether the program provides basic secondary education, vocational education, or college education." The author cites research into the efficacy of education in reducing recidivism, and writes that "participation in prison education programs reduced recidivism by about 29% overall, recidivism being defined as re-arrest, re-conviction, or re-incarceration" (Bracey, 2006, p. 253). However, education in prisons has significantly diminished since America has taken its punitive approach. Gonnerman and Brown observe that congress eliminated Pell grants for prisoners, "a move that effectively abolished virtually all of the

350 prison college programs across the country" (Gonnerman & Brown, 2008, ¶6). Thus, the most powerful tool to prevent recidivism has been significantly reduced, and is at this time under siege.

Accountability

Jones suggests we begin holding the prison system accountable for reducing recidivism, and that we look at any other creative alternatives, such as community-based programs, that seem to hold promise. "If a community-based program can do a better job at keeping people out of prison with dimes than incarcerators have been doing with dollars, let's reallocate those funds," suggests Jones, and he gives the example that YouthBuild USA helps unemployed 16- to 24-year-olds prepare for a high school diploma while they learn job skills. The author suggests we increase funding into such programs (Jones, 2006, ¶ 13). The current policy of "zero tolerance" does not work and feeds a perverse prison market system that is counterproductive to American society in many ways. The change will not be easy since the current philosophy and sentencing policies are deeply rooted. As Simon observes, "the carceral state is not likely to disappear any time soon. Behind the surface of political rhetoric about crime is a vast and interwoven circuitry of knowledge and power, one that links politicians and media celebrities to security experts and law enforcement, to parents and employers" (Simon, 2007, p. 503). The first step, however, is to recognize the damage and social injustice that the current system propagates.

Bibliography

- A good call in New York. (2007, Jan. 10). New York Times [Abstract]. Retrieved July 22, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=28167372&site=ehost-live
- Albanese, E. (2007). Texas: Prison bed debate. Bond Buyer; 359(32557): 9. Retrieved July 23, 2008 from EBSCO online database Business Source Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=23859858&site=ehost-live
- Blumstein, A. (2007). The roots of punitiveness in a democracy. Journal of Scandinavian Studies in Criminology & Crime Prevention; 8: 2-16. Retrieved July 22, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=27832182&site=ehost-live
- Bracey, G. (2006). Locked up, locked out. Phi Delta Kappan; 88(3): 253-254. Retrieved July 22, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=23020503&site=ehost-live

- Clear, T. (2007). The impacts of incarceration on public safety. Social Research; 74(2): 613-630. Retrieved July 22, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=26378607 &site=ehost-live
- Dahl, J. (2008, Aug. 5). Private prison co. again accused of human rights abuses. The Blotter from Brian Ross. Retrieved August 5, 2008 from ABCNews.com:http://abcnews.go.com/Blotter/story?id=5466166&page=1
- Frederickson, H. G. (2008). Politics and administration in the penal state. PA Times; 31(6): 11. Retrieved July 15, 2008 from EBSCO online database Business Source Complete:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=327871 71&site=ehost-live
- Gonnerman, J. & Brown, E. (2008). Slammed. Mother Jones; 33(4): 44-46. Retrieved July 22, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=32616829&site=ehost-live
- Johnson, K. (2007). Study predicts rise in inmate populations. USA Today. Retrieved July 23, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier:http://search. ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=J0E337932183707&site=ehost-live
- Jones, V. (2006). Con game. Forbes; 177(9): 34. Retrieved July 22, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=tr ue&db=aph&AN=20507764&site=ehost-live
- Locked inside a nightmare [Electronic version]. (2000, May). 60 Minutes II. Retrieved July 22, 2008 from CBS News website.http://www.cbsnews.com/stories/2000/05/09/60II/main193636.shtml
- Police investigate Jeb Bush's daughter. (2002, Sept. 10). Retrieved August 6, 2008 from CNN.com:http://archives.cnn.com/2002/US/09/10/noelle.bush/index.html
- Saskall, R. (2006). Calif. Gov. unveils plan for prisons. Bond Buyer; 358(32535): 1-40. Retrieved July 23, 2008 from EBSCO online database Business Source Premier:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=23530387&site=ehost-live
- Simon, J. (2007). Rise of the carceral state. Social Research; 74(2): 471-508. Retrieved July 22, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=26378601&site=ehost-live
- Smith, E. & Hattery, A. (2007). If we build it they will come: Human rights violations and the prison industrial complex. Societies Without Borders; 2(2): 273-288. Retrieved July 22, 2008 from EBSCO online database SocINDEX with Full Text: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=26210561&site=ehost-live
- Smith, E. & Hattery, A. (2006). The prison industrial complex. Sociation Today; 4(2): 1-28. Retrieved July 22, 2008 from EBSCO online database SocINDEX with Full Text:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=23335018&site=ehost-live

Spear, L. (2006). Reforming the system. America; 195(3): 22-23. Retrieved July 22, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=21705251&site=ehost-live

Suggested Reading

- Forecasting Prison Populations. (2007). State Legislatures; 33(6): 7. Retrieved July 21, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=25237601&site=ehost-live
- Jacklet, B. (2008). Prison town myth. Oregon Business Magazine; 31(4): 30-35. Retrieved July 22, 2008 from EBSCO online database Business Source Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=bth&AN=31791481&site=ehost-live
- Johnson, K. (2006). Inmate suicides linked to solitary. USA Today; Retrieved July 22, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=J0E350066088106&site=ehost-live
- Loury, G. (2007). The new untouchables. UN Chronicle; 44(3): 53-55. Retrieved July 17, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=28140006&site=ehost-live
- Meyer, E. (2008). Get tough on crime, not on kids. Corrections Today; 70(1): 19. Retrieved July 21, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=31199676&site=ehost-live
- Trouble in Tallahassee. (2006). Economist; 380(8485): 29. Retrieved July 23, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier:http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=21527901&site=ehost-live

Criminal Recidivism

Maureen McMahon

Overview

Recidivism is the act of reoffending or relapsing into criminal behavior for a person who has already been incarcerated. It can mean that an offender commits the same crime for which he was originally incarcerated, or it can mean that he has offended in a different way while in jail, on probation, on parole, or after a period of time once reentering society. For practical use, recidivism here means reoffending in any manner after a period of incarceration. The issues with regard to recidivism are many and cross societal, legal and monetary boundaries.

Many people recidivate because they know no other way of life. In most instances, incarceration is a temporary fix for an immediate problem. Eventually, inmates will return to the societies they have offended. Unfortunately, for more than 60% of the inmates sent home, being outside of prison becomes the temporary situation. Most studies report that up to two-thirds of the inmates released will reoffend within three years of walking away from prison life. They will violate parole or probation or they will commit new crimes, being arrested and prosecuted and then placed back into the hands of the United States Department of Corrections.

For a majority of recidivists, incarceration has done nothing to assist them with the transition from convict to everyday citizen. They went in without

an education; they came out without an education. The same can be said for job skills, social skills, and socioeconomic status. In 2003 the Serious and Violent Offender Reentry Initiative (SVORI) was started by the federal government to fund nation-wide reentry programs focusing on education, employment training, and personal and family counseling. SVORI's \$100 million budget was spread out between state and local agencies and then distributed to various civic organizations. Lattimore (2007) points out that there is an inequity in such a distribution: "\$100 million represents less than \$200 for each of the more than 600,000 individuals released to parole each year. Further, the SVORI funds were spread over three years" (p. 89). Ironically, the SVORI program was not refunded after its three year trial period.

Re-Entry Programs

In a report for the Washington State Institute for Public Policy (WSIPP), Aos, Miller and Drake (2006) analyzed 291 evaluations of offender reentry programs and noted that many weren't successful, despite government funding. While some programs show no difference in reducing recidivism, others were positively correlated with recidivism reduction. For example, adult drug courts have been shown to reduce recidivism by almost 11% for those incarcerated for drug offenses. On the other hand, education and cognitive-behavioral treatment has been shown to cause no reduction in recidivism for domestic violence offenders (p. 3). While an eleven percent reduction in recidivism may seem small, that figure equates to less crime, fewer victims, fewer prosecutions, and fewer tax-payer dollars spent on incarceration (Aos, Miller & Drake, 2006).

In addition to the programs listed above, Aos et al. (2006) identify the following programming strategies as reducing recidivism.

- Within prison settings
- Cognitive-behavioral drug treatment;
- Correctional industry programs;
- Drug treatment;
- Vocational education programs;
- General and specific cognitive-behavioral programs;

• Cognitive-behavioral treatment for sex offenders (in prison or in the community)

Within the community settings:

- · Drug treatment;
- Treatment-oriented, intensive community supervision programs;
- Employment training and job assistance in the community (Aos, Miller & Drake, 2006, p. 3)

Again, it should be noted that even though these programs have been shown to decrease recidivism rates, the reductions may be small. For example, employment training and job assistance within the community has shown a 5% decrease in recidivism. That figure may equate to only a handful of offenders not reoffending, but the impact on society is much greater.

Further Insights

According to Lattimore (2007), offenders as a population face a great deal of challenges that make for a difficult reentry into society. For example, various studies indicate that inmates share the following damaging characteristics.

[L]ittle education, few job skills, little job experience likely to lead to good employment, substance and alcohol dependency, and other health problems, including mental health problems. In addition, their family and friends are often involved in crime and substance abuse, and they disproportionately return to neighborhoods with few economic opportunities and few, if any, positive role models. Finally, each must cope with a criminal record that can stand in the way of opportunities following release (Lattimore, 2007, p. 89).

Furthermore, the systems created to support society, have failed most inmates in some way or another. For example,

. . . many of those who end up incarcerated did poorly in the school systems that provide educational foundations for a suc-

cessful adulthood. Many offenders have histories of abuse and neglect and may have been referred to, or in the custody of, family and social services. Adult inmates often have histories of juvenile confinement and adult probation that failed to provide the services, programming and support to reform and rehabilitate. And finally, many inmates have received alcohol and drug treatment outside the criminal justice system, but may remain addicted to drugs and alcohol (Lattimore, 2007, p. 89).

Race & Recidivism

Reisig, Bales, Hay, and Xia (2007) note that in the U.S. "recidivism is highest among males, African Americans, and those under the age of 18 (Beck & Shipley, 1989; Langan & Levin, 2002, as cited in Reisig et al., 2007, p. 409). In addition, "African Americans make up nearly half of both the prison population and the offenders reentering society from prison" even though they make up less than 15% of the population as a whole (Harrison & Beck 2004, as cited in Reisig et al., 2007, p. 411). Furthermore, of those offenders rearrested within a three year time period of being released from prison, African Americans are 16% more likely to be rearrested than other populations (Langan & Levin, 2002, as cited in Reisig et al., 2007, p. 411).

Reisig et al. (2007) conducted a study to predict the recidivism rates of inmates based on the economic stability of each county in the state of Florida. They based their predictions on the racial inequality (the unequal distribution of economic resources based on race) of various communities where inmates would be released. According to census and economic reports the researchers were able to determine that "reconviction rates for Black males are highest in counties where adverse economic conditions (e.g., income, joblessness, and poverty) disproportionately affect Black families" (Reisig et al, 2007, p. 419).

To be specific, Reisig et al (2008) determined that Saint John's County, Florida has the highest degree of racial inequality in the state. As such, they predicted a 100 % recidivism rate for offenders released into that county. That is, 100% of the African American offenders released into that county will reenter the criminal justice system based on the lack of economic resources within the community (p. 428). With no viable job opportunities, a former offender may view criminal behavior as the only means for sup-

porting himself and/or his family. This pattern was repeated across the state; the counties showing high degrees of racial inequality were predicted to have high rates of recidivism for Black males (p. 419). Conversely, White male recidivism rates were not impacted by racial inequality (Reisig et al., 2007, p. 419).

Women & Recidivism

About one in three women will make a successful return to the community once released from prison (Fortuin, 2007). Reentering society is challenging with few job skills and little education, and as such, recidivism rates for women are high. A program created by the Volunteers of America Northern New England was established to assist women in the transition process from prison to the community. In Maine, the incarceration rate for women doubled from 1994 to 2002, a jump of over 52% (Fortuin, 2007). For those women participating in the Transition, Reunification and Reentry program, however, recidivism rates have decreased, and women are finding the resources necessary to live successful in society. According to Fortuin (2007), the program includes

. . . case-management services that attend to housing, employment, education, family reunification and empowerment, birth control, and continuity of care for mental health, physical health and substance abuse . . . In the early days, transition planning for a female offender began three months prior to her release. It now begins six months prior to release and extends up to six months after release, providing a more comprehensive transition plan and greater support during the critical days immediately following release (Fortuin, 2007, p. 34).

In addition to the services it provides, this program encourages women to believe in their ability to be successful and responsible once in their communities. And, it isolates – from person to person – the services most necessary for each inmate in preparation for her release. For example, where one woman may need mental health services as a priority, another may need basic literacy skills, and another may need family counseling prior to reuniting with her children. Fortuin (2007) notes that this initiative is replicable in most women's correction centers, since much of the assistance is community based and already provided by civic organizations. With the

help of many volunteers, this program simply sees to it that prisoner and services are united and that newly released women are mentored closely immediately following their release.

Another initiative created by the Volunteers of America is Women Building Futures. This program teaches construction skills to women by allowing inmates to assist in the building of modular homes for low-income Maine families. The women participating in the program learn skills offering construction certification and opportunities to continue building homes once they leave the DOC. Representatives of the program boast an 80% success rate in transitioning women from incarceration to society (Koegel, 2008).

Juvenile Recidivism

Recidivism is not only committed by adults. In fact, more juveniles will reoffend than adults will with national recidivism rate percentages running about 80 and 67, respectively (Soering, 2007). About ten percent of the juveniles detained each day are sent to adult prisons and jails (Soering, 2007). "Minors sent to adult facilities are eight times more likely to commit suicide, five times more likely to be sexually assaulted and twice as likely to be beaten by staff as youths confined in juvenile detention centers" (Soering, 2007, p. 30).

As is the case with adult criminals, an inequity of race arrests and convictions exists for juveniles. Soering (2007) points to this nation-wide disparity, noting that 44% of all the juveniles incarcerated are African-American. Further,

While there is some evidence of higher offense rates among minorities in certain crime categories, both state and federal studies have found that for the same offenses, African-American adolescents are more likely to be arrested or detained than white teens. Black children are also sent to detention facilities more frequently than whites--in the case of drug crimes, 48 times as oftenand their sentences are 41 percent longer. Why the difference? A study published in the American Sociological Review in 1998 suggested that probation officers preparing pre-sentence reports on juvenile criminals tended to characterize white teens as reformable and redeemable victims of circumstances, while black

adolescents were often depicted as intrinsically bad (Soering, 2007, p. 28).

Considering this information, it is not a stretch to think that upon release, a black youth represents a better chance of being arrested again in contrast to a white youth. With a previous record, rocket scientists need not be consulted on the chances for leniency, either. Disparity aside, it may be that a newly released black youth is expected to reoffend and is watched more closely by law enforcement than his white counterpart.

An alternative to either juvenile or adult prison sentences for youth can be taken from the following example.

Missouri achieves its remarkable 8 percent recidivism rate by housing juvenile criminals in small, residential-style facilities whose staff all have college educations. Instead of spending their days turning keys, these officers are encouraged to form positive, nurturing, one-on-one relationships with the adolescents in their charge. Groups of nine to 12 wards and two staff members stay together throughout the wards' sentences, forming a kind of alternate family unit. And the annual cost of housing one minor in this type of facility is \$10,000 to \$30,000 less than the cost of punitive incarceration (Soering, 2007, p. 31).

Youth who offend often lack role models who do not offend. As such, there is a disconnect between society's expectations and what the offender has experienced. Programs that work for juvenile offenders are those that focus treatment on building personal relationships between youth and the people who are paid to care for them.

Pedophilia

There is no sexual deviant more despised than the person who preys on children. Most people do not know that while the action of molesting a juvenile is criminal, the basis for the deviancy is psychological in nature (Snyder, 2000; Lanning, 2001; as cited in Hall & Hall, 2007). According to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (4th ed.) (2000),

... a pedophile is an individual who fantasizes about, is sexually aroused by, or experiences sexual urges toward prepubescent children (generally <13 years) for a period of at least 6 months.

Pedophiles are either severely distressed by these sexual urges, experience interpersonal difficulties because of them, or act on them. Pedophiles usually come to medical or legal attention by committing an act against a child because most do not find their sexual fantasies distressing or ego-dystonic enough to voluntarily seek treatment (as cited in Hall & Hall, 2007, p. 457).

When any of these offenders are incarcerated, they do not have access to their victims like rapists or murderers do. As a jail cell cannot lock up an offender's mind, it is fair to say that no pedophile is "rehabilitated" by the incarceration process alone. In light of the serious nature of pedophilic offenses, reentry interventions are an essential part of promoting safety for society.

Treating pedophiles is not easy, and Stone, Winslade & Klugman (2000) note that no treatment is fool-proof: "Individuals can offend again while in active psychotherapy, while receiving pharmacologic treatment, and even after castration" (as cited in Hall & Hall, 2007, p. 465). Again, this is a psychological – rather than a biological – disorder. Even if an offender is castrated or locked up away from children forever, the desire to have sex with children does not go away simply because the physical act of having sex is impossible. Therefore, "much of the focus of pedophilic treatment is on stopping further offenses against children rather than altering the pedophile's sexual orientation toward children" (Hall & Hall, 2007, p. 465).

The current treatments vary depending on the state and the people overseeing treatment. Hormone therapy to decrease levels of testosterone (known as chemical castration), mandatory reporting and monitoring, the use of Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors (SSRI), and surgical castration are all forms of current treatment to reduce recidivism rates for pedophiles (Schober et al, 2005; Rosler & Witztum, 1998; as cited in Hall & Hall, 2007, p. 465). Hall & Hall (2007), report that a multiple-strategy approach is the most effective when pedophile recidivism is the goal. "The combination of pharmacologic and behavioral treatment coupled with close legal supervision appears to help reduce the risk of repeated offense" (p. 469).

Drug Use & Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol or Drugs (DUI)

Drug use convictions and incarcerations (possession, trafficking, sales, etc.,) do little to deter offenders from reoffending (Huebner & Cobbina, 2007).

In fact, Olson and Lurigio (2000) note that people on probation who have a history of drug use are "twice as likely to violate their probation or have it revoked and 60% more likely to be arrested for a new crime while on probation when compared to individuals without a history of drug abuse" (as cited in Huebner & Cobbina, 2007). Similarly, people arrested for driving under the influence of alcohol or other drugs (DUI) are more likely to recidivate if they have been arrested for a non-drug offense in their lifetime when compared to DUI only offenders (LaBrie, Kidman, Albanese, Peller, & Shaffer, 2007, p. 603).

This is notable data as many post-arrest and release programs are focused on treating the individual through drug and/or alcohol rehabilitation services. In many instances, a successful probation or parole is contingent on completion of such a program. In a study conducted by Huebner & Cobbina (2007), over 3,000 responses to a drug questionnaire were analyzed. The questionnaire had been presented to drug users who were on probation to determine effective support programming in the state of Illinois. According to the analysis,

... most offenders with a history of drug use (71%) received drug treatment while on probation, and most (71%) completed the full course of treatment ... [however], 45% of the sample was rearrested for any offense and 18% were rearrested for a drug-related offense ... within four years following discharge from probation (Huebner & Cobbina, 2007, p. 625).

Similar results were found for DUI offenders in a residential facility in Massachusetts. LaBrie et al, (2007) identified DUI recidivists as those who were reconvicted of a second DUI within a ten-year period (p. 606). Looking at over 1000 offenders, LaBrie et al, (2007) note that of the people convicted of a DUI offense at least twice in their lives, those who also had a history of an additional crime were more likely to recidivate (p. 612). Those who had only been convicted of the DUI offenses were the least likely to recidivate (Labrie et al., 2007, p. 609). Again, as most treatment plans enforce attendance at meetings, counseling sessions, or residential facilities that offer specific programming aimed at addiction/abuse rehabilitation, there is an entire "corrective" piece missing with regard to helping these people not reoffend.

Viewpoints

One of the biggest issues behind preventing recidivism is the lack of evidence that programs actually work. The Aos et al. (2006) study analyzed almost three-hundred program evaluations rather than the programs themselves, as a compilation of data was their goal. The actual evaluation is timely and costly. For this reason, Snyder (2007) notes that for over thirty years DOC administrators were divided into two camps. The first was that society, rather than programming was the issue. The belief was that society encouraged criminal behavior, and that "fixing" society would help the overall problem of offenders. The Reisig et al. (2007) study seems to support this notion, as racial inequality is a clear predictor of criminal behavior.

The second camp was based solely upon a reaction to the lack of evidence regarding reentry interventions. This side of the argument held that nothing was going to work and therefore, criminals simply needed to be off the streets. However, since the 1970's when this argument began, prisons have exceeded capacity across the country, juveniles are housed alongside the worst offenders of society, and the cost of criminal justice (law enforcement, prosecution, incarceration, etc.) has increased placing a large burden on taxpayer dollars to keep society safe (Snyder, 2007).

According to Snyder (2007), the problem with reentry intervention programs is that

... a substantial level of effort is needed to prove that a program reduces recidivism. At a minimum, a program must be replicated in more than one site and evaluated using either random assignment or carefully selected control groups. For multiple sites to implement the same program, the program must be well scripted and documented. New programs are not good candidates for replication because they are likely to change and adapt during the first few years of existence. Thus, it takes a lot of time and money to develop, test and eventually give a program the evidence-based seal of approval (Snyder, 2007, p. 6).

Snyder (2007) also suggests that a combination of funding between states would be a solution.

Together they [various states] could select an existing, promising program that might be able to serve one of their unmet needs and then lend their support to an empirically-sound, multiple-site evaluation of it. Funds to support the work could come from state legislatures that are demanding evidence-based treatment programs and from local foundations eager to be part (at relatively low costs) of a large R&D [governmental Research & Development] effort that has the potential to produce a model recidivism-reduction program. If the test proved successful, the field would have a new tool to use; if the program failed to produce the desired effects, the costs to each member of the collaborative would be minimal (Snyder, 2007, p. 28).

In addition to the minimal cost, these states would be taking a proactive stance and at least attempting to provide documentation of a program's success.

Recidivism is not just a strange word, it is a strange concept. After being arrested, experiencing the court system, losing – quite possibly – everything he owns, including his family, and being incarcerated for a period of time, who would resort to criminal behavior once released? On the inside, one knows from where his meals are coming. In addition, an offender also knows who his friends and enemies are. Once back in society, it is difficult to distinguish who is friend or foe. Furthermore, with few job skills, little (if any) education, and no family support, it would also be difficult to find the motivation to avoid criminal behavior.

For those who do not recidivate in the first three years of release (approximately 30%), the likelihood that they will reoffend is low (Greenfeld, 1985, as cited in Reisig et al., 2007). This might point to the fact that those not reoffending have figured out how to stay clean on their own. It may also be that transitional programming during or shortly after incarceration has worked for these individuals. With little evidence pointing toward successful programming, it is difficult to tell. As there is proof that some interventions work, there continues to be progress for America's criminal justice field. On the other hand, it is necessary to point out the bigger problem: As most of us are guilty of breaking the rules at some point in our lives, recidivism prevention should be a priority, but clearly is not.

Bibliography

- Aos, S., Miller, M. & Drake, E. (2006). Evidence-based adult corrections programs: What works and what does not. Washington State Institute for Public Policy: Washington. Retrieved May 4, 2008 from website http://www.wsipp.wa.gov/rptfiles/06-01-1201. pdf
- Fortuin, B. (2007). Maine's female offenders are reentering and succeeding. Corrections Today, 69 (2), 34-37. Retrieved April 29, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=2 4833113&site=ehost-live
- Hall, R. C. W. & Hall, R. C. W. (2007). A profile of pedophilia: Definition, characteristics of offenders, recidivism, treatment outcomes, and forensic issues. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 82 (4), 457-471. Retrieved April 29, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a ph&AN=24851320&site=ehost-live
- Huebner, B. M. & Cobbina, J. (2007). The effect of drug use, drug treatment participation, and treatment completion on probationer recidivism. Journal of Drug Issues, 37 (3), 619-641. Retrieved April 29, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=271869 52&site=ehost-live
- Koegel, J. (2008). Women building futures. Retrieved May 1, 2008 from Volunteers of America Northern New England website, http://72.32.194.107/Default. aspx?tabid=6096
- LaBrie, R. A., Kidman, R. C., Albanese, M., Peller, A. J. & Shaffer, H. J. (2007). Criminality and continued DUI offense: criminal typologies and recidivism among repeat offenders. Behavioral Sciences & the Law, 25 (4), 603-614. Retrieved April 29, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=26181350&site=ehost-live
- Lattimore, P. K. (2007). The challenges of reentry. Corrections Today, 69 (2), 88-91. Retrieved April 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=24833136&site=ehost-live
- National Alert Registry. (2008). Retrieved May 7, 2008 from website: http://registeredoffenderslist.org
- Reisig, M. D., Bales, W. D., Hay, C. & Xia, W. (2007). The effect of racial inequality on black male recidivism. JQ: Justice Quarterly, 24 (3), 408-434. Retrieved April 29, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=25915218&site=ehost-live
- Snyder, H. N. (2007). Nothing works, something works but still few proven programs. Corrections Today, 69 (6), 6. Retrieved April 29, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=28144774&site=ehost-live

Soering, J. (2007). Uncorrected. Christian Century, 124 (19), 28-31. Retrieved April 29, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=26652716&site=ehost-live

Suggested Reading

- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Revised 4th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Beerman, K., Smith, M., & Hall, R. (1988). Predictors of recidivism in DUIs. Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 49 (5), 443–449.
- Beitel, G., Sharp, M., & Glauz, W. (2000). Probability of arrest while driving under the influence of alcohol. Injury Prevention, 6 (2), 158–161.
- Bradizza, C. M., Stasiewicz, P. R., & Paas, N. D. (2006). Relapse to alcohol and drug use among individuals diagnosed with co-occurring mental health and substance use disorders: A review. Clinical Psychology Review, 26(2), 162–178.
- Carter, F. C. (2007). Meeting the needs of returning offenders through employment. Corrections Today, 69 (6), p. 98-99. Retrieved April 29, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=28144803&site=ehost-live
- De Leon, G. (1988). Legal pressure in therapeutic communities. Journal of Drug Issues, 4, 625-640.
- De Li, S., Priu, H., & MacKenzie, D.L. (2000). Drug involvement, lifestyles, and criminal activities among probationers. Journal of Drug Issues, 30, 593-619.
- diZerega, M. & Shapiro, C. (2007). Asking about family can enhance reentry. Corrections Today, 69 (6), 58-61. Retrieved April 29, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=28144792&site=ehost-live
- Eitle, D., D'Alessio, S.J., & Stolzenberg, L. (2002). Racial threat and social control: A test of the political, economic, and threat of black crime hypotheses. Social Forces, 81, 557–576.
- Elliott, D., Wilson, W., Huizinga, D., Sampson, R., Elliott, A., & Rankin, B. (1996). The effects of neighborhood disadvantage on adolescent development. Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency, 33, 389–426.
- Lanning, K. V. (2001). Child Molesters: A Behavioral Analysis. (4th ed). Alexandria, Va: National Center for Missing & Exploited Children.
- Lowenkamp, C. T., Smith, P. & Bechtel, K. (2007). Reducing the harm: Identifying appropriate programming for low-risk offenders. Corrections Today, 69 (6), p. 50-52. Retrieved April 29, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=28144790&site=e host-live
- Lynch, J., & Sabol, W. (2001). Prisoner reentry in perspective. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute.

- Maltz, M. (1984). Recidivism. New York: Academic Press.
- Massey, D., & Denton, N. (1993). American apartheid: Segregation and the making of the underclass. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- McMillion, R. (2007). Getting out—and staying out. American Bar Association Journal, 93 (12), 64. Retrieved April 29, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=2797724 6&site=ehost-live
- McNulty, T., & Bellair, P. (2003). Explaining racial and ethnic differences in serious adolescent violent behavior. Criminology, 41, 709–748.
- Parks, G. A. & Marlatt, G. A. (2000). Relapse Prevention Therapy: A Cognitive-Behavioral Approach. The National Psychologist 9 (5). Retrieved May 1, 2008 from website: http://nationalpsychologist.com/articles/art_v9n5_3.htm
- Parks, G. A. (2007). New approaches to using relapse prevention therapy in the criminal justice system. Corrections Today, 69 (6), 46-49. Retrieved April 29, 2008 from EBSCO online database Academic Search Premier: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?d irect=true&db=aph&AN=28144789&site=ehost-live
- Rosler A, Witztum E. Treatment of men with paraphilia with a longacting analogue of gonadotropin-releasing hormone. New England Journal of Medicine, 338, 416-422.
- Schober, J. M., Kuhn, P. J., Kovacs, P. G., Earle, J. H., Byrne, P. M. & Fries, R. A. (2005) Leuprolide acetate suppresses pedophilic urges and arousability. Archives of Sexual Behavior 34, 691-705.
- Snyder, H. N. (2000). Sexual Assault of Young Children as Reported to Law Enforcement: Victim, Incident, and Offender Characteristics. Washington, DC: US Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics.
- Stone, T. H., Winslade, W. J. & Klugman, C. M. (2000) Sex offenders, sentencing laws and pharmaceutical treatment: a prescription for failure. Behavioral Science Law, 8, 83-110.

Re-Entering Society From Prison

Jennifer Christian & Katherine Walker

Overview

The United States has one of the largest prison populations in the world (Reiman, 2004). In three decades, the number of prisoners has gone from around 300,000 to around two million, which means that the US has the highest imprisonment rate in the developed world. There are many explanations for this high rate: the excessive rate of violent crime in the US, the association of crime with stigmatized groups, increasingly harsh penalties for non-violent crimes, especially drug crimes, and a focus on punishment rather than rehabilitation (Mauer and Coyle, 2004). Despite the attention paid to the increased number of prisoners, little public discussion exists about the inevitable result of this increase: there has also been an enormous increase in the number of former inmates who have re-entered society. Most prisoners will eventually re-enter society, a process that has changed substantially in the last few decades. The increase in the incarceration rate, decrease in funding for many social programs, a harsher societal attitude toward crime, and stricter legal penalties for reoffending have all made the experience of re-entry different and more difficult than in the past (Seiter & Kadela, 2003).

Felons are people who have been convicted of a felony; a crime that has been characterized by the state as serious in nature and warrants a prison term over 1 year. Classification of crimes as misdemeanors or felonies

differs from state to state. Minorities are charged with felonies at a higher rate than whites (Walker, Spohn and DeLone, 2004). Minorities are more likely to be arrested, more likely to be convicted, and more likely to receive stiffer sentences for crimes. This results from both racial profiling and also from legislation that is written in such a way as to disproportionately impact minority groups (Mauer, 2007). Social attitudes toward race create yet another obstacle to reintegration into society after prison. In addition to barriers based on preexisting racial and ethnic cleavages, there are also barriers to obtaining adequate housing and well-paying jobs created by ones' felony status (Liker, 1982; Copenhaver, Edwards-Willey, & Byers, 2007).

Many felons are released back into the communities in which they previously lived. Some ex-offenders are monitored by the Board of Parole, or by half-way houses that offer social services and provide some education, job training, and reintegration programs to help ex-felons learn the social and work skills necessary to stay out of prison. In some cases, half-way houses function as a step towards addiction management, and in other cases they provide low cost living for those who have no other options. Unfortunately, many ex-felons are returned to a life of poverty, which increases the risk of re-offending (Berk, Lenihan, & Rossi, 1980).

Exoneration

According to the Innocence Project, over 200 people have had convictions overturned through the use of DNA testing since 1989. Evidence gathered by the New York Times on ex-prisoners who were exonerated by DNA evidence, while not generalizable, suggests that exonerees face a unique set of problems upon release. There are not organized transition or support programs for those who have been declared innocent. Additionally, many exonerees convicted by states are not awarded compensation by the state for their time wrongly served, although there is now federal legislation that guarantees compensation for anyone exonerated of a federal conviction (Roberts & Stanton, 2007).

Transitional Programs

Programs that aid re-entry to society can begin in prisons themselves and carry over into the outside community, or they can focus only on the post-release transition. Most prisons have some sort of release curriculum, although

these can range from brief interviews or orientations to more tailored programs dealing with employment, drug use, health issues and life skills. Vocational training programs, work release, halfway houses and drug treatment programs reduce recidivism. Educational programs and programs aimed at ex-offenders have more mixed results (Seiter & Kadela, 2003).

Recidivism

The Bureau of Justice Statistics has operationalized recidivism as "rearrest, reconviction, resentence to prison, and return to prison with or without a new sentence" (Langan & Levin, 2002, p. 1). As Maltz (2001) argues, the definition and measurement of recidivism has serious implications. Older measures captured rearrest rates within a year of a prisoner's release, which overestimated the effectiveness of the corrections system's goals of protection and rehabilitation.

In a study of prisoners released in 1994, Langan and Levin (2002) found that within three years, 67.5% had been rearrested, and slightly over half were back in prison for either a new crime or a parole or probation violation. Those who had been in prison for homicide, rape, and driving under the influence had the lowest recidivism rates as did women (compared to men), Hispanics (compared to non-Hispanics), whites (compared to blacks), and younger prisoners. The highest rearrest rates were for prisoners convicted of robbery, burglary, and similar property crimes.

These high rates indicate that the current system fails in terms of rehabilitation. Maltz (2001) points out that recidivism data has contributed to a sense that "nothing works" by not paying enough attention to the type of crime most likely to be repeated and the demographics of offenders likely to reoffend.

Parole

The parole process —the conditional release of a prisoner before his or term is finished, under court supervision, with rigid behavioral requirements for continued freedom—varies from state to state. Generally decisions to grant parole are made by a parole board set up by the state. Parole became more popular through the first half of the 1900's, as corrections philosophy focused more on rehabilitation. When the parole rate hit its highest point in 1977, 72% of prisoners were granted parole. Seiter and

Kadela (2003) argue that parole had many positive functions Parole was part of a larger corrections structure aimed at reintegrating ex-prisoners back into society; as such, it worked as a "gatekeeper" to keep more dangerous prisoners behind bars while allowing others out only under supervision. Parole boards made sure that released prisoners had a residence lined up before release and connected parolees to social services and treatment options. Over the last twenty years, most states have moved away from the parole system and back to a system of set sentences, which means that many former inmates are released without any post-prison supervision or state-sponsored transition.

Parole is not always granted fairly. For example, Huebner and Bynum (2008) found that parole boards are more likely to grant earlier parole dates to white offenders than to black offenders, and Maltz (2001) pointed out that parole rates increased when prisons became overcrowded, suggesting that it is more tied to the needs of the prison system than to individual prisoners' readiness for release.

Further Insights

Labeling

Once an individual is convicted of a felony his or her life changes in many ways. Time away from society can affect ones' social skills, work related abilities, and connections to the community. In some cases being labeled an ex-felon increases the likelihood of recidivism, and in other cases there are consequences for voting rights and job opportunities. Regardless, the label of "ex-felon" negatively impacts ones' life chances (Chiricos, Barrick, & Bales, 2007).

Labeling theory suggests that people often react to labels placed on them by others by adopting the labels as their self-identities. Thus the label of felon might result in an ex-offender identifying as such and committing acts of deviance that conform to this self-image.

Being labeled a felon transforms a subject on both the micro- and macrolevel. On the micro-social level, the label can cause the subject to self-identify as a criminal, and embrace the concept of what it means to be and act like a felon. This can cause offenders to engage in more risky behaviors and commit more crimes; since they have adopted the lifestyle they perceive to be consistent with the label of felon. Second, the label of felon will have a structural impact on an offender's life: bringing about changes ranging from increased surveillance to a loss of citizenship rights such as voting, serving on a jury, or owning a gun (Chiricos, Barrick, & Bales, 2007).

Being labeled as a felon increases the likelihood of recidivism. In a study comparing adults who were convicted of a felony with those who were found guilty yet had adjudication of guilt withheld, Chiricos, Barrick, & Bales (2007) found that being officially labeled a felon led to significantly higher rates of recidivism, especially among whites and women.

Felon Disenfranchisement

Along with the rapid growth in the prison population has also been an increase in the number of felons who have lost their right to vote. In many states, election laws bar anyone convicted of a felony (whether currently serving time or released from prison) from voting. It is estimated that as many as 4.7 million Americans are unable to vote because of their felony convictions (Manza, Brooks, & Uggen, 2004).

Scholars who investigate the impact of felon disenfranchisement on electoral outcomes (Havey, 1994; Manza & Uggen, 2004; Manza, Brooks, & Uggen 2004; Manza & Uggen, 2007) have found empirical evidence that suggests the electoral decisions in many gubernatorial and presidential contests would have been different had there not been the systematic disenfranchisement of felons throughout the United States.

Central to these concerns is the issue of race and felon disenfranchisement in terms of voting rights. Because minorities are far more likely to be charged with and convicted of a felony, disenfranchisement of felons has a disproportionate impact on minority groups. These findings are troublesome when we consider that a felony conviction can remove one from civic participation and potentially lead to the total exclusion of certain racial and ethnic groups from participating in the democratic process of electing local, state, and national representatives.

Given the close presidential elections of 2000 and 2004, this imbalance is of growing concern to many who value the notion of an open democracy (Manza & Uggen, 2004).

Manza and Uggen (2002; 2004; 2007) have demonstrated that the disenfranchisement of Blacks (and some Latinos) in southern states has resulted in electoral outcomes that favor Republican candidates over Democratic and Independent candidates. Their data shows that the disenfranchisement of minority voters has had a significant impact in both senate elections as well as the 2000 Gore vs. Bush presidential election.

Health Risks

Rosen and Wohl (2008) found that the mortality rate for men released from state prisons was higher than the mortality rate for other men residing in the state, although black ex-prisoners had lower than expected rates of lung cancer, heart and respiratory diseases, and diabetes.

Discrimination in the Work Place

Employers who conduct background checks for criminal history are much less likely to hire ex-offenders, especially if the employer is legally required to conduct such a check (Stoll & Bushway, 2008). The effect of a criminal record on employment is further influenced by race. Pager (2007) has demonstrated several noteworthy trends in employment opportunity by race and having a criminal label. First, she looks at how accessing jobs differs for backs and whites with and without a criminal conviction. The data suggests that even when the experience and skills for each job candidate are exactly the same, a white male with a criminal record is more likely to be called in for an interview than a black man without any previous convictions. This demonstrates an overall lack of trust for blacks among many employers, and especially for those blacks who have a criminal conviction.

Scholarship in the area of penology has demonstrated that one way to reduce crime and recidivism is to help ex-felons reintegrate into society through meaningful work and suitable housing. Pager's work may account for some of the disparity in recidivism rates between blacks and whites.

Liker (1982) found that ex-felons re-entering society suffered less emotional distress if they were employed. Employment reduced their sense of stigma and helped reintegrate them into society, while also providing the security of income.

Discrimination in Housing

Pager(2007) studied whether blacks and whites with criminal convictions are treated differently with respect to obtaining credit and access to housing by sending black and white actors to apply for credit and rental housing. She randomly assigned some of them fictitious criminal records. The actors were wearing nearly identical clothing and had exactly the same credit scores and work experience to try and obtain lines of credit and/or rental housing. When blacks showed up, they were told that there were no apartments available or that the advertisement was incorrect. This was exacerbated when blacks reported having a criminal conviction on their rental applications. Whites had no such experience when they attempted to get credit lines or enter a contract for rental housing. Even with a criminal conviction they were met with less hostility and suspicion than their black counterparts.

Previous scholarship has demonstrated that stable housing helps to minimize criminal involvement. When people feel connected to their communities or at the very least feel as though engaging in crime can adversely affect their lives, they are less likely to engage in criminal activity.

Access to Higher Education

Copenhaver, Edwards-Willey and Byers (2007) found that there is a stigma associated with being labeled a felon which negatively affects individuals' experiences in the classroom. Access to financial aid is restricted for those who have been convicted of drug-related crimes (FAFSA 2009). Limiting access to financial aid puts forth yet another barrier for those felons who are trying to turn their lives around by learning new trades or skills in order to enter the workforce. Given what we know about access to meaningful employment and the links between higher education and job opportunities, this type of legislation negatively impacts the opportunities for ex-felons and disproportionately impacts the opportunities for poor minorities who are trying to work their way out of impoverished, crimeridden neighborhoods.

Viewpoints

Social & Political Consequences of Labeling Felons

By labeling and stigmatizing those who are convicted of a felony as felons, we are, as a society, limiting individual access to employment opportunities, basic citizenship rights, and education. Policies that support limiting access to these basic services exacerbate the likelihood of recidivism and continue to perpetuate the cycle of violence and the revolving door that has come to typify our criminal justice system. If real change is to be done to help offenders reintegrate into society and leave a life of crime behind, we need to put in place policies and resources that help ex-felons obtain meaningful work, adequate housing, job training and social development. Through these types of policies we can be assured that community ties develop and reduce crime at the same time.

Surpassed only by the former Soviet Union, the United States has one of the largest prison populations in the world. The majority of offenders, violent and non-violent will be released back into society; most never received any rehabilitative services while in prison. With the increasing number of ex-felons being released back into society the question remains what do to help reintegrate those who are leaving prison? How do we address the issue of discrimination in employment and housing and what role does voter disenfranchisement play into the revolving door that has become stereotypical of or criminal justice system. Until greater attention is given to the loss of citizenship rights and access to opportunities, crime and recidivism will continue to be a problem facing the United States. Much has yet to be learned as to how we, as a society, can intervene and increase the odds of ex-felons making it rather than returning to a life of crime.

Bibliography

Berk, R., Lenihan, K., & Rossi, P. (1980). Crime and poverty: Some experimental evidence from ex-offenders. American Sociological Review, 45 (5), 766-786. Retrieved December 10, 2008 from EBSCO online database, SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=14907976&site=ehost-live

Chiricos, T., Barrick, K. & Bales, W. (2007). The labeling of convicted felons and its consequences for recidivism. Criminology, 45 (3) 547-581. Retrieved December 10, 2008 from EBSCO online database, SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=26596581&site=ehost-live

- Copenhaver, A., Edwards-Willey, T., & Byers, T. (2007). Journeys in social stigma: the lives of formerly incarcerated felons in higher education. The Journal of Correctional Education, 58 (3) 268-283. Retrieved December 10, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Education Research Complete. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ehh&AN=27945842&site=ehost-live
- FAFSA Free application for federal student aid: FAQs: eligibility (2009). Retrieved from http://www.fafsa.ed.gov/faq003.htm
- Harvey, A. (1994). Ex-felon disenfranchisement and its influence on the black vote: The need for a second look. University of Pennsylvania Law Review, 142 (3) 1145-1189.
- Huebner, B., & Bynum, T. (2008). The role of race and ethnicity in parole decisions. Criminology, 46(4), 907-938. Retrieved December 10, 2008 from EBSCO online database, Academic Search Complete. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=35538920&site=ehost-live
- Langan, P. A. & Levin, D.J. (2002). Recidivism of prisoners released in 1994. Bureau of Justice Statistics. http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/bjs/pub/pdf/rpr94.pdf
- Liker, J. (1982). Wage and status effects of employment on affective well-being among ex-felons. American Sociological Review, 47 (2) 264-283. Retrieved December 10, 2008 from EBSCO online database, SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=14779408&site=ehost-live
- Pager, D. (2007). Marked: Race, crime, and finding work in an era of mass incarceration. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Maltz, M.D. (2001). Recidivism. Originally published by Academic Press, Inc., Orlando, Florida. Internet edition available http://www.uic.edu/depts/lib/forr/pdf/crimjust/recidivism.pdf
- Manza, J. & Uggen, C. (2004). Punishment and democracy: Disenfranchisement of nonincarcerated felons in the United States. Perspectives on Politics, 2, (3) 491-505.
- Manza, J., Brooks, C. & Uggen, C. (2004). Public attitudes toward felon disenfranchisement in the United States. Public Opinion Quarterly 68, (2) 275-86. Retrieved December 10, 2008 from EBSCO online database, SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=14073217&site=ehost-live
- Manza, J. & Uggen, C. (2007). Felon disenfranchisement and American democracy. Boston, MA: Oxford University Press.
- Mauer, M. (2007). Racial impact statements as a means of reducing unwarranted sentencing disparities. Ohio State Journal of Criminal Law, 5(1), 19-46.
- Mauer, M., & Coyle, M. (2004). The social cost of America's race to incarcerate. Journal of Religion & Spirituality in Social Work, 23(1/2), 7-25. Retrieved January 16, 2009, from EBSCO online database, SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=13016978&site=ehost-live
- Reiman, J. (2004). The rich get richer and the poor get prison: Ideology, class, and criminal justice. 7th (Ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.

- Roberts, J. & Stanton, E. (2007, November 25). A long road back after exoneration, and justice is slow to make amends. New York Times, http://www.nytimes.com/2007/11/25/us/25dna.html?_r=1.
- Rosen, D., Schoenbach, V., & Wohl, D. (2008). All-cause and cause-specific mortality among men released from state prison, 1980-2005. American Journal of Public Health, 98(12), 2278-2284. Retrieved January 15, 2009, from EBSCO online database, Academic Search Complete. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=355648 05&site=ehost-live
- Seiter, R. P., & Kadela, K. R. (2003). Prisoner reentry: What works, what does not, and what is promising. Crime & Delinquency, 49, 360-388.
- Stoll, M., & Bushway, S. (2008). The effect of criminal background checks on hiring exoffenders. Criminology & Public Policy, 7(3), 371-404. Retrieved January 15, 2009, from EBSCO online database, SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=34228248&site=ehost-live
- Uggen, C. & Manza, J. (2002). Democratic contraction? Political consequences of felon disenfranchisement in the United States. American Sociological Review, 67, (6) 777-803. Retrieved December 10, 2008 from EBSCO online database, SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=9020240&site=ehost-live
- Uggen, C. (2008). Editorial introduction: The effect of criminal background checks on hiring ex-offenders. Criminology & Public Policy, 7, 367-370. Retrieved December 10, 2008 from EBSCO online database, SocINDEX with Full Text. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=34228249&site=ehost-live
- Walker, S., Spohn, C. & DeLone, M. (2004). The color of justice: Race, ethnicity, and crime in America. Belmont, CA: Thompson and Wadsworth.

Suggested Reading

- McCleary, R. (1992). Dangerous men: The sociology of parole. New York, NY: Harrow and Henson.
- Simon, J. (1993). Poor Discipline: Parole and the Social Control of the Underclass, 1890-1990. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Vanstone, M. (2008). The international origins and initial development of probation: An early example of policy transfer. British Journal of Criminology, 48(6), 735-755.
- Westervelt, S., & Cook, K. (2008). Coping with innocence after death row. Contexts: Understanding People in Their Social Worlds, 7(4), 32-37.

Terms & Concepts

Acculturation: A change in the cultural behavior and thinking of a person or group of people through contact with another culture.

Adjudicated: A determination made by a judge.

Adversary System: A system in which the parties (and their lawyers) control the case. The judge acts as an arbiter. This is the type of court system used in the United States

Aggregation: Putting similar people together as a form of isolation and/ or punishment.

Amateur Labelers: Average citizens who initiate the labeling process by reporting to the police an act that they consider deviant

Anglo-American Culture: The dominant culture of the United States; a culture that stresses the attitudes and behaviors typical of those of European descent.

Aantisocial Behavior: A disorder in which a person's behavior is hostile or indifferent to the needs of those around him/her.

At-Risk (youth): A general term meant to identify children who are in danger of failing school, committing criminal acts, or physical violence.

Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder: A condition in which the person has difficulty sitting still or focusing on specific tasks (especially while in school).

Bailiff: Responsible for courtroom security and enforcing etiquette and order. This individual usually has law enforcement experience and police training

Bribery: The act of attempting to induce someone to do something, especially something illegal, by offering him or her money or some other enticement.

Broken Windows Policing Model: A model of policing that stresses the importance of taking an interest in disruptions in a community that may not be illegal but could lead to or indicate criminal activity.

Censorship Region: The public or private social space that police control and keep secret for the purposes of a criminal investigation.

Collective Efficacy: The group's ability to accomplish a goal—more specifically meaning the ability to maintain order in public places.

Community Policing Model: A model of policing that stresses the importance of working with individuals in the community when attempting to solve a criminal case. This is in contrast to the traditional model which views using information from the community as unprofessional and unreliable.

CompStat Policing Model: A model of policing that stresses the importance of maintaining hierarchy and discipline throughout the department.

conduct disorder: Refers to a disorder in which a person behaves (conducts himself) inappropriately.

Consensual Behavior: Behavior that is agreed upon by two willing, capable, and reasonable adults.

Consent: To give assent or approval (Consent, 2009). In terms of sexual activity, consent can be much contested; the legal definition of rape or sexual assault requires that both parties consent to engaging in sexual intercourse-free of coercion, ambiguity or the influence of alcohol.

Contingent Valuation: Survey-based economic technique used to value non-market (no specific actual monetary value) resources such as the preservation of the environment or crime prevention.

Co-offending: Crime committed jointly by two or more individuals.

Corrections Corporation of America (CCA): The largest private prison service provider in the U. S., whose stock more than doubled in the first eight months of 2006. In addition to 63 other facilities, CCA runs a prison in Texas that holds immigrant detainees.

Corruption: Any crime committed by a police officer. The most common forms of police corruption are those relating to financial benefits such as kickbacks, bribes, material favors, or unsanctioned gifts.

Costs/benefit Analysis: Attribution of best estimates of actual cost and gain/loss in comparison to each other.

Court Interpreter: Used in the case that parties involved do not speak English; may be hired on an as needed basis.

Court Reporter: Makes a record of court proceedings by taking extensive notes.

Courtroom Clerk: This individual is a representative of the clerk's office in the courtroom. The courtroom clerk is in charge of cases that are assigned to the judge. He/She also organizes cases for the judge and generally keeps track of courtroom information such as minutes, names of parties, procedures, and each side's exhibits.

Criminalization Theories: Theories that pertain to the process of understanding why some actions are determined to be criminal and others are not.

Cronyism: Preferential treatment given to one's friends or colleagues regardless of their abilities or qualifications.

Cultural Capital: knowledges an individual possesses by virtue of being exposed to life experiences.

Decriminalization: The process of making an action that was at one time illegal legal.

Defendant: The person in the trial who is accused of doing something illegal.

Department of Corrections (DOC): Federal agency under the supervision of the Department of Justice; oversees correction facilities and regulations in the U.S.

Deviance: Behavior that is different from society's standard.

Diagnostic Statistical Manual of Mental Illness (4th ed.) (DSM-IV): A reference book published by the American Psychiatric Association; describes mental illnesses and other psychological disorders.

Disenfranchisement: The removal of one's citizenship rights, especially the right to vote.

Downward Law: A law that involves legal restrictions to defend members of a majority group against members of a minority group.

Driving Under the Influence (DUI): A motor vehicle conviction for driving under the influence of alcohol or drugs.

Due Process: The fair and accepted procedures for enforcement of the law.

Ecology: The study of the interactions between living organisms and their environments.

Egalitarian Attitudes: General beliefs that men and women should enjoy the same rights and privileges. Egalitarian views eschew gender stereotypes.

Embezzle: To take for personal use and without permission the money or property belonging to others with which one has been entrusted.

Environmental Determinism: The idea that all behavior, including human action, is caused by the surroundings of the acting subject.

Ethnicity: The cultural characteristics that set a group of people apart from others.

Eurocentrism: The attitude that the peoples and cultures of European descent are superior to those people of other parts of the world.

Evidence Based Policing Model: A model of policing that stresses the importance of evidence collection and analysis in solving crimes.

Excerpter Witness: Individuals with expert knowledge on a topic pertinent to a case.

Extortion: The use of threats, force, or other illegal methods to gain money or information from someone.

Felony: In the United States, a crime serious enough in nature to warrant more than one year in prison or jail.

Filing Clerk: Stamps, files, collects fees, gives docket numbers, routes filed property, etc.

Formal Social Control: Revolves around laws and/or policies, and which serves as the starting point on which widespread norms, behaviors and attitudes follow.

Fortune 500 Companies: Fortune Magazine ranks the top 500 American public corporations as measured by their

Gang: A group of people (usually youth) who form a network to work together for some criminal or antisocial purpose.

Gender Roles: Social, cultural and psychological aspects that distinguish between the sexes in a given social context.

genocide: An extreme form of hate crime in which a dominant group engages in mass killing and slaughter of a subordinate group.

Grand Jury: This jury is larger than a petit jury and is responsible for deciding if there is enough evidence for a trial prior to the actual trial.

Gross Domestic Product (GDP): The total market value of all goods and services produced within a country during a specific period of time, usually annually gross revenue.

Hate Crime: A specific form of crime in which a person or group is verbally and/or physically attacked because of their gender, sexual orientation, religion, politics, ethnicity, disability or age.

Hot Spots Policing Model: A model of policing that stresses the redistribution of resources toward those areas identified as high risk.

Immigrant Enclaves: Small communities in which immigrants may isolate themselves so that they may maintain the cultures of their home country and speak their own language.

Incarceration: Jail or imprisonment.

Informal Social Control: Subtle forms of control that include non-verbal communication or community involvement.

Ingroup: A social group to which an individual feels like he or she belongs.

Judge: The individual who, in an adversarial judicial system, acts as a neutral arbiter so that the jury may come to a conclusion.

Jury Commissioner: Oversees the compilation of jury lists, monitoring policies, and other functions surrounding jury selection.

Juvenile Delinquents: People under the age of 18 committing acts that violate the law.

Juvenile Offender: A person under the age of 18 who commits a crime.

Labeling Theory: Labeling theory states that people perceive the labels that others place on them and these labels become part of their identities, influencing their future actions

Law Clerk: Performs legal research, prepares legal memoranda and drafts proposed legal decisions; most serve for one year following law school.

Law Librarian: Exactly that, they rarely have legal training.

Laws: Social conventions that have been recorded by a society's elite. The violation of these conventions may result in specified punishments.

Mafia: Term for Sicilian vigilante groups organized during the middle ages to covertly combat Spanish occupation of the land.

Mens Rea: Criminal intent. The requirement that, to be found guilty of a criminal offense, the accused must have intended to commit the offense and known that it was a crime. Literally, "guilty mind."

Minority: Any group of people that is treated differently because of characteristics that the individuals have little or no control over.

Minority-Threat Hypothesis: The theory that mainstream America increases punitive admonition toward minorities in order to prevent them from flourishing.

Oppositional Defiant Disorder: Refers to behaviors that are inappropriate at a specific age; behaviors can range from simple irritability to defiance to outward opposition to authority figures.

Outgroup: A social group to which an individual feels animosity, and, in extreme cases, the desire to fight and destroy.

Parole: Conditional release before the completion of a prison sentence, under the supervision of the court system, with stringent behavioral conditions

Pedophilia: A sexual deviancy with a psychological basis; offenders desire sexual relations (and/or relationships) with children and adolescents.

Pell Grant Program: A post-secondary, educational federal grant program sponsored by the U.S. Department of Education. Named after U.S. Senator Claiborne Pell, it was originally known as the Basic Educational Opportunity Grant. Grants are awarded based on a "financial need" formula.

Petit Jury: The jury we typically think of when we conceptualize a jury. This group of people is responsible for making a decision of guilt or innocence at the conclusion of a trial.

Pew Charitable Trusts: Independent nonprofit nongovernmental organization which serves the public interest by improving public policy, informing the public, and stimulating civic life. One of its many missions is working on issues related to state correction policies.

Plaintiff: The person who supposedly has suffered some legal wrongdoing in a trial police work.

Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD): After experiencing a severe trauma, victims may suffer long term effects from the event that inhibit recovery, productivity and lead to a number of other outcomes such as substance abuse and depression.

Precedent: The law must be based on previously established principles. This shows fairness with how others in the past were treated.

Prison Industrial Complex (PIC): Refers to the complex of organizations that have financial interest in the operation of the prison facilities, includ

ing prison guard unions, construction companies, subcontracting companies, surveillance technology vendors, etc.

Probation: The suspension of all or part of a jail sentence, whereby the offender will remain under the supervision of the court for a specific period of time.

Problem Oriented Policing Model: A model of policing in which the root causes of a community's problems are identified and police devise solutions for eliminating the causes.

Professional Labelers: Those individuals who are paid to identify individuals as deviant. Police are professional labelers.

Prohibition: The Volstead Act of 1920 made the sale of alcoholic beverages illegal in the United States until 1933. This period of time is referred to as the Prohibition era.

Publicity Region: The social space police use to release information to the public and maintain their public persona.

Pulling Levers Policing Model: A model of policing that stresses the use of a variety of resources and solutions to detect criminal activity. Criminal justice intervention, social services, and community resources might all be utilized to resolve a single case.

Race: A group of people defined by similar physical characteristics.

Racial Inequality: An unequal distribution of economic resources that affects certain races and not others.

Racial Profiling: Focusing on individuals of a certain racial group for the purposes of crime detection. This practice is performed under the assumption that members of certain racial groups are more likely to commit crimes than members of other racial groups.

Racketeer Influenced & Corrupt Organization Act (RICO): A federal law passed in 1970 that provided stiffer penalties for those convicted of participating in criminal acts as part of an organized crime syndicate.

Racketeering: Criminal activity by a structured group.

Rape Myths: "Prejudicial, stereotyped, or false beliefs about rape, rape victims and rapists" (Crider, 2008).

Recidivism: Generally described as the act of re-offending once released from jail or prison, it can include rearrest, reconviction, resentencing, and any return to prison.

Re-entry: Returning to one's home and/or community from incarceration.

Research Attorneys: Full time, licensed attorneys who provide research at the request of judges.

Restorative Justice: "Repair" of the personal and economic harm caused by a criminal act through mediated face-to-face meetings between the perpetrator and the victim with the goal of making the victim as "whole" as possible under the circumstances.

Retribution: The perspective that criminals need to suffer for their wrong-doings; words that encompass this position include "payback" and "vengeance."

Retributive Justice: Punishment policies aimed at vengeance or payback.

Secrecy Region: The social space that police use to conduct the secret work of policing. This area is maintained so that delicate elements of investigations may be protected and less savory elements of police work may be hidden from public view.

Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor (SSRI): Antidepressant that blocks serotonin (a chemical that sends messages to the brain about mood) from being absorbed in the body, thus increasing the length of its effect.

Serious and Violent Offender Reentry Initiative (SVORI): A program created to reduce recidivism by offering various transition services to released offenders.

Sexual Violence: Non-consensual sexual contact or sexual intercourse which results in a trauma (physical or psychological) to the victim.

Social Capital: The many informal, interdependent networks that help a community or individual function effectively and achieve its goals.

Social Construction of Race: The process through which racial categories are created by society.

Social Construction: The Durkheimian notion that any phenomenon that is agreed upon by participants in a particular culture or society exists and

therefore becomes embedded into the institutional fabric and structure of society, subject to the rules and regulation therein.

Social Control: The formal or informal processes that regulate individual and group behavior

Spectators: Those who watch hate crimes being committed and do nothing to come to the aid of victims.

Status Offense: A crime that can only be committed by people occupying a particular status.

Stigmatization: Severe social disapproval of personal characteristics that violate cultural norms and shared values.

Subculture: An identifiably separate group within a larger cultural, especially one regarded as existing outside of mainstream society.

Sympathizers: Those who lend tacit, but not active, support to individuals and groups that commit hate crimes. They agree with the motivations behind hate crimes, but often don't perform the hate crimes themselves.

Third Party Policing Model: A model of policing that stresses the expansion of crime prevention to third parties. By using third parties such as civil courts, community organizations, and civil organizations, police recognize that social control requires and can benefit from institutions other than themselves.

Three Strikes You're Out: Also called "three strikes laws" or habitual offender laws. Statutes enacted by state governments requiring the state courts to impose a mandatory and extended period of imprisonment to anyone who has been convicted of a serious criminal offense on three or more separate occasions.

Token Resistance: A rape myth which holds that women offer token resistance to sexual advances from men; when she says no to sex, she really means yes.

Tongs: Chinese-American social groups that developed into organized crime entities in the United States.

Upward Law: A law that aims to protect disenfranchised groups at the expense of the dominant group.

Vice: A practice, behavior, or habit that is considered immoral by society.

Victimless Crime: An infractions of criminal law that occurs without any identifiable individual (victim) who has suffered damage or been caused harm by the infraction.

Wackenhut Corrections Corporation: A United States-based private security and investigation firm. Wackenhut was founded in 1954 by former FBI agents. In the 1960s, Wackenhut began providing food services for prisons and in 1984 started a subsidiary to design and manage jails and detention centers for the growing private prison market. Critics have claimed the company's guards abused inmates in many states.

War On Drugs: A term first used by President Richard Nixon in 1971, it refers to a prohibition campaign undertaken by the U. S. government to "curb supply and diminish demand" for certain psychoactive substances deemed "harmful or undesirable" by the government. This includes a set of laws that are intended to discourage the production, distribution, and consumption of targeted substances.

Working Personality: The set of social skills and behaviors developed by police officers to deal with the stresses of

Contributors

Jeremy Baker holds a Master's degree in Sociology from Ohio State University. While at Ohio State, he focused his research on social movements and workers rights while teaching classes on globalization, social change, and sociological deviance.

Jennifer Christian is currently A.B.D. in the Department of Sociology at Indiana University, Bloomington. She completed her B.A. in Experimental Psychology and Sociology with a minor in Criminal Justice and Criminology at CSU San Marcos. Recently, she earned her Master's degree from Indiana University and completed her qualifying examinations in Political Sociology. Today, her areas of expertise are in political sociology, media, movements, social policy, public opinion and criminology. She is currently completing her dissertation, tentatively titled "Understanding the Intersection of Public Opinion, Media, and Elite Discourse on Policy Change."

Matt Donnelly received his Bachelor of Arts degree in Political Science and a graduate degree in Theology. Currently a graduate student in history at the University of Massachusetts-Boston, he also is the author of Theodore Roosevelt: Larger than Life, which was included in the New York Public Library's Books for the Teen Age and the Voice of Youth Advocates' Nonfiction Honor List. A Massachusetts native and diehard Boston Red Sox fan, he enjoys reading, writing, computers, sports, and spending time with his wife and two children.

Karen M. Harbeck, PhD, JD, holds an interdisciplinary doctorate from Stanford University in education and the social sciences. She is a nationally recognized expert in gay, lesbian, bisexual, and transgender issues in education. She also is the proud mother of a Zen warrior child of age 12, adopted from China.

Alexandra Howson, Ph.D. taught Sociology for over a decade at several universities in the UK. She has published books and peer reviewed articles on the sociology of the body, gender and health and is now an independent researcher, writer and editor based in the Seattle area.

Maureen McMahon received her Bachelor's degree from the State University of New York at Plattsburgh where she studied English. Her Master's degree in Curriculum Development and Instructional Technology was earned from the University of Albany. Ms. McMahon has worked in higher education administration for eight years and taught composition and developmental writing for the past six. She resides in Plattsburgh, New York with her husband and two children.

Sinclair Nicholas, MA, holds degrees in Education and Writing and is a freelance writer with many feature articles, essays, editorials and other short works published in various publications around the world. Sinclair is the author of several books, including The AmeriCzech Dream - Stranger in a Foreign Land and the Comprehensive American-Czech Dictionary; he blogs at his website www.pragueblog.cz, is a lecturer at the University of Northern Virginia - Prague, and has lived in the Czech Republic since 1991.

Carolyn Sprague holds a BA degree from the University of New Hampshire and a Masters Degree in Library Science from Simmons College. Carolyn gained valuable business experience as owner of her own restaurant which she operated for 10 years. Since earning her graduate degree Carolyn has worked in numerous library/information settings within the academic, corporate and consulting worlds. Her operational experience as a manager at a global high tech firm and more recent work as a web content researcher have afforded Carolyn insights into many aspects of today's challenging and fast-changing business climate.

Cynthia Vejar received her Doctorate from Virginia Tech in 2003, and has had extensive experience within the realm of academia. She has taught at both the undergraduate and graduate levels at several universities, and has functioned as a clinical supervisor for counselors-in-training. For five years, Dr. Vejar worked as a school counselor in a specialized behavioral modification program that targeted at-risk adolescents and their families. She has also worked as a grief and career counselor. Moreover, Dr. Vejar firmly believes in contributing to the research community. She has published in professional journals, served on editorial boards, and has written book reviews.

Katherine Walker received a Doctorate in Sociology from the University of Massachusetts, Amherst, and currently teaches in the University College at Virginia Commonwealth University. Her current research concerns race, memory, and controversial commemoration, and she is wrapping up a study of public debates over Confederate memorials. She has also studied the impact of the Internet on identity and relationships.

Index

Accountability, 175 Acculturation, 49 Addiction, 38, 67 Adjudicated, 145 Adversarial System, 5 African Organized Crime, 88 Age, 13 Alcohol Consumption, 31 Anglo-American Culture, 132 Antisocial Behavior, 151 Appeals Court, 6 Asian Organized Crime, 88 Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), 151 B Bailiff, 8 Bribery, 78, 82, 83, 124 Broken Windows Policing Model, 19, 58 C Censorship, 22, 35 Class, 12	Collective Efficacy, 55 Community Monitoring, 34 Community Policing Model, 19 Conduct Disorder, 151 Contingent Valuation, 146, 148 Co-offending, 146 Corporate Crime, 74 Corrections Corporation of America, 169 Corruption, 24, 71, 170 Court Reporter, 8 Courtroom Clerk, 8 Courtroom Staff, 7 Crime Rates, 139, 165 Criminologist, 9, 70, 73 Cronyism, 76 D Decriminalization, 62, 64, 65 Department of Corrections, 178 Deviance, 77 Discrimination, 197, 198 Disenfranchisement, 41, 43, 196, 197, 199 Downward Law, 98
Class Subordination, 130	Driving Under the Influence, 185

Drugs, 63, 67, 163, 171, 185 Due Process, 4

\mathbf{E}

Economic Regulation, 33
Education, 33, 174, 198
Embezzlement, 71
Environmental Regulations, 10
Eurasian Organized Crime, 88
Exoneration, 193
Exploitation, 170
Extortion, 78, 82, 84, 87, 88, 124, 125

F

Family Violence, 123
Federal Court System, 7
Federal Jurisdiction, 5
Felony, 110, 163, 192, 193, 195, 196
Formal Social Control, 27
Fortune 500 Companies, 167

\mathbf{G}

Gambling, 61, 64, 66 Gang Tattoos, 156 Gang Violence, 125, 126 Gender Roles, 110, 182 Grand Jury, 8

H

Hate Crime, 93, 94, 95, 96, 98, 100, 102, 103 Hot Spots Policing Model, 19

I

Immigration, 56, 97 Imprisonment, 32, 39 Incarceration, 32, 38, 165 Informal Social Control, 34 Inquisitorial System, 5 Intent, 75

J

Jury Selection, 12 Juvenile Crime, 138, 151, 183

L

Labeling Theory, 27, 28, 29, 195 Labor Law Violation, 10 Left Realism Criminology, 85 Legislation, 31 Local County Court, 6

M

Mafia, 85, 86, 87 Malpractice, 10 Manslaughter, 118 Marijuana, 30, 37, 61, 65, 66 Minority, 29, 30, 37, 38 Minority-Threat Hypothesis, 29 Murder, 7, 13, 73, 75, 82, 84, 94, 118, 121, 123, 124, 139, 140, 143, 146

N

National White Collar Crime Center, 77 Negligence, 10, 118

0

Organizational Deviance, 77 Organized Crime Control Act, The, 78, 82, 124

P

Parole, 193, 194, 195
Pedophilia, 184
Plea Bargaining, 12
Police Force, 17
Political Crime, 78
Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, 113, 114
Prejudice, 94, 98, 132
Prison Industrial Complex, 167, 169,
172, 173

Prison Population, 166 Probation, 9 Prohibition, 86 Property Damage, 10, 93, 151

R

Race, 12, 13, 95, 129, 131, 133, 181
Racial Profiling, 23, 134
Racketeer Influenced & Corrupt
Organization Act, 78, 84, 125
Rape, 106, 112, 113, 115, 119
Recidivism, 178, 181, 182, 183, 188, 194
Re-entry, 182
Re-Entry, 143, 179
Reform, 79, 84, 142, 144
Restorative Justice, 144
Right Realism Criminology, 85

S

Segregation, 6, 14, 130
Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor, 185
Self-Fulfilling Prophecy, 29
September 11, 2001, 95
Serious and Violent Offender Reentry Initiative, 179
Sexual Assault, 106, 108, 109
Social Change, 13
Social Construction, 133
Social Control, 35

Social Exclusion, 40, 41, 44 Spectators, 101 Sutherland, Edwin H., 72 Sympathizers, 101

T

Tannenbaum, Frank, 27, 38 Tax Evasion, 71 Terrorism, 90, 95, 96, 103 Transitional Programs, 193 Trial Fairness, 12 Trial Procedure, 9

U

Uniform Crime Reporting, 72, 118, 139 United States Supreme Court, 7, 70, 145 Upward Law, 98

\mathbf{V}

Victimization, 45, 62, 139 Victimless Crime, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65

W

Wackenhut Corrections Corporation, 170 War on Drugs, 163, 171 White Collar Crime, 70, 76, 77

Y

Youth Violence, 46